
LINCOLNSHIRE WASTE PARTNERSHIP

A MEETING OF THE LINCOLNSHIRE WASTE PARTNERSHIP 
WILL BE HELD ON THURSDAY, 12 JULY 2018 AT 11.00 AM 

IN COMMITTEE ROOM ONE, COUNTY OFFICES, NEWLAND, LINCOLN LN1 
1YL

AGENDA

LEAD
PARTNERSHIP MANAGEMENT ISSUES  

1 Election of Chairman  

2 Election of Vice Chairman  

3 Apologies for Absence  

4 Declaration of Interests  

5 Minutes of the meeting held on 8 March 2018  (Pages 3 - 
10)

6 Partner Updates  All

7 Proposed Schedule of Meeting Dates  
(To be circulated at the meeting)
  

CORE BUSINESS  

8 Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy - 
Consultation Responses  (Pages 11 - 66)

LCC

9 Waste and Recycling Action Programme (WRAP) Report 
into Greater Consistency in Household Waste Recycling 
for Lincolnshire  (Pages 67 - 164)

WLDC

10 Officer Working Group - Work Programme Project 
Progress Report June 2018  (Pages 165 - 178)

BBC

Public Document Pack



11 Food Waste Trial Update  (Pages 179 - 180) LCC

4 July 2018

Rachel Wilson 
Democratic Services Officer
Lincolnshire County Council
County Offices, Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YL
Tel: 01522 552107
Email: rachel.wilson@lincolnshire.gov.uk



1

LINCOLNSHIRE WASTE 
PARTNERSHIP
8 MARCH 2018

PRESENT: COUNCILLOR E J POLL (LINCOLNSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL) 
(CHAIRMAN)

Sean Kent (Lincolnshire County Council)
Councillor Michael Brookes (Boston Borough Council)
Christian Allen (Boston Borough Council)
Councillor Mrs Sandra Harrison (East Lindsey District Council)
Victoria Burgess (East Lindsey District Council)
Councillor Fay Smith (City of Lincoln Council)
Steve Bird (City of Lincoln Council)
Councillor Richard Wright (North Kesteven District Council)
Councillor Peter Burley (North Kesteven District Council)
David Steels (North Kesteven District Council)
Councillor Roger Gambba-Jones (Vice-
Chairman)

(South Holland District Council)

Emily Spicer (South Holland District Council)
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley (South Kesteven District Council)
Ian Yates (South Kesteven District Council)
Ady Selby (West Lindsey District Council)
Councillor A H Turner MBE JP (Lincolnshire County Council)
Matthew Michell (Lincolnshire County Council)
Neil McBride (Lincolnshire County Council)
Jo Jackson (Environment Agency)
Sam Clayton (Environment Agency)
Rachel Wilson (Lincolnshire County Council)

34    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor D Cotton (West Lindsey District 
Council)

35    DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

There were no declarations of interest at this point in the meeting.

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



2
LINCOLNSHIRE WASTE PARTNERSHIP
8 MARCH 2018

36    MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 23 NOVEMBER 2017

RESOLVED

That the minutes of the meeting held on 23 November 2017 be signed by the 
Chairman as a correct record, subject to it being noted that Councillor P Burley 
(NKDC) was in attendance.

37    CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

The following was raised by the Chairman:

 The Partnership felt that the informal member only meetings were working well.  
However, the importance of members passing feedback of the discussions back to 
the relevant officers in their districts was emphasised to ensure that everyone was 
aware of how issues needed to be progressed going forward.  It was highlighted 
that this was particularly important if some members were unable to attend.  It was 
suggested that it would be useful if some notes were taken to capture any action 
points which could then be circulated to all officers so all were clear of what had 
been agreed.

 There was a need for the Officer Working Group (OWG) to take a more strategic 
development approach due to the future issues which would need to be 
considered as well as continuing an operational one.  It was important that the 
officers attending the strategic meeting were of the required management level to 
action any strategic decisions.

 Logo – it was considered essential that the partnership needed to have some up 
to date branding to represent a collective partnership approach.  Therefore there 
was a need to refresh the existing logo to ensure it was eye-catching and reflected 
the work of the Partnership.  This would be important for the issues that the 
Partnership would be supporting and progressing in the future, such as the Food 
Waste Trial.  It was important to show that an initiative was not just being carried 
out by the collection authority, or the disposal authority, but that it was supported 
by the whole Partnership.

 There was a WRAP report which was modelling three weekly bin collections.  
However there was agreement from the Partnership that this was not something 
that the districts would want to consider at this time.

 It was queried whether prior to the next meeting of the Partnership which was 
scheduled for 12 July 2018 the Partnership would be interested in visiting an MRF, 
as one of the biggest issues facing the Partnership was the continued high levels 
of mixed dry recyclables contamination.  It was agreed that this visit would be 
useful to the Partnership, particularly as there were some new members and 
officers on the Partnership.  A visit to an operational MRF site would be arranged.

 There was a need for the Partnership to discuss its approach to trade waste, as 
this was something that should be approached from a partnership perspective. 
The Chairman apologised for a letter which was sent out in the autumn of 2017 
regarding trade waste which did not make it clear that the current charge was only 
applicable to Boston, South Holland and West Lindsey (as agreements had been 

Page 4



3
LINCOLNSHIRE WASTE PARTNERSHIP

8 MARCH 2018

formed with those authorities) and not the other authorities.  It was hoped that if 
capacity could be increased at the EfW, this could be opened to other authorities.

A general discussion followed and some of the main issues highlighted by the 
Partnership included the following:

 In terms of capacity at the EfW, it was commented that the biggest issue for West 
Lindsey was around housing growth, and the amount of trade waste was minimal 
compared to this.  However, the district had a duty to provide a disposal route for 
businesses and an early decision in relation to trade waste was urged.  It was 
suggested whether this was something which should be dealt with through the 
Strategy, and it was important to have a consistent approach throughout the 
County.

 One of the aims of the Partnership was to create capacity at the EfW.  There was 
a need to reduce throughput, and this would form part of the Strategy.  In the 
interim, the facility was not able to accept any extra tonnage.  It was accepted that 
eventually more capacity would be needed.

 It was estimated that if food could be taken out of the residual waste stream, this 
could free up to 20,000 tonnes of capacity.

 South Kesteven reported that they had recently launched a trade waste service 
which was proving successful.  However, it emerged that discussions would need 
to take place outside of the meeting with LCC regarding where this waste would 
be disposed of.

 It was queried whether an approach had been agreed in relation to implementing 
the government's proposal to reduce plastic bottle waste.

 It was commented that the focus on implementing the food waste trial had 
distracted the Partnership from the concerns around the materials in the waste 
stream which should be in the recycling scheme.  It was suggested that there was 
a need to consider both of these issues alongside each other.

 It was suggested that there was a need to remove as much glass and metal from 
the residual waste stream as possible due to the negative effect it could have on 
the running of the EfW as they required higher temperatures to allow them to burn 
and also left additional residue that was difficult to remove.

 It was suggested that glass, metal and plastics should be a separate co-mingled 
collection.  There would be no requirement to change the vehicles or collection 
routes and these were also 3 materials which could not cross contaminate.

 It was suggested that the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy should be 
the document that influences the service provision that the Partnership provided.

 It was commented that there was still a lot of work to do back at members' 
individual authorities to gauge the appetite to different approaches.

 A discussion was held regarding the advantages and disadvantages of 
'institutional memory' when trying to develop new approaches to waste 
management through 'blank paper' exercises.  It was suggested whether this was 
something which should be considered by the OWG.  

 There was a need to ensure that strategic objectives were maintained.  One of the 
main issues for the Partnership to deal with should be how to reduce the amount 
of waste produced, rather than looking for ways to increase capacity to deal with 
increased amounts of waste.

Page 5



4
LINCOLNSHIRE WASTE PARTNERSHIP
8 MARCH 2018

 Some of the things being discussed could be categorised as short, medium and 
long term objectives.  The long term objectives should inform the thinking of the 
Partnership and outline the long term vision and could be updated and refreshed 
as necessary.  It was suggested that getting metals and glass out of the waste 
stream should be a medium term objective and in the short term there should be a 
focus on enforcement and education.  It was noted that a report had been 
produced by the District Officers on this a few years ago but it had not reached the 
Partnership.  It was suggested that this could be refreshed by the Officer Working 
Group if it was thought that would be helpful.  There was a need for people to put 
the right materials in the right bin and it was noted that taking some action on this 
could be a quick win for the Partnership.  It was requested that the OWG look into 
how straight forward this would be to implement as well as any cost implication.

 In relation to the suggestion for only glass, metal and plastic to be collected for 
recycling, it was confirmed that the intention, if this was implemented, would be for 
all other materials to go into the residual waste stream.  There were concerns that 
in relation to paper, this could leave districts as being non-compliant with TEEP.  
There would be a need to understand all options and implications before any 
changes to the recycling mix collected were implemented.

 There was a need for a simple message of what recyclables would be collected as 
residents were confused.  If there were just three items, it would help people to 
focus.

 It was suggested that a lot of glass, metal and plastic ended up in the residual 
waste as people did not want to wash the items before putting in the recycling. 

 It was noted that 'bring sites' and HWRC's were a very effective way of collecting 
recyclables and it was suggested whether some publicity was needed around 
them.

38    PARTNER UPDATES

Deferred to the next meeting.

39    FOLLOW UP AUDIT REPORT (LWP & JMWMS)

Consideration was given to a report which set out the progress made since an LCC audit 
was completed in 2016 which looked at the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) and 
the Waste Strategy.  The scope of the Review was to provide independent assurance 
that there were strong governance arrangements in place for the LWP as well as 
ensuring that the Waste Strategy was an up to date and relevant document.  In 2016, the 
risks identified were:

 Lack of a fit for purpose strategy
 No approach planned for producing a new Strategy
 Actions and requirements of the Partnership not completed.

Twelve findings were identified during the original audit, and Limited Assurance was 
provided.  However, the follow up work which was carried out in February 2018 recorded 
that work was well underway for the creation of the Waste Strategy and the majority of 

Page 6



5
LINCOLNSHIRE WASTE PARTNERSHIP

8 MARCH 2018

findings identified in 2016 had been actioned.  There were 3 remaining findings which 
required action and the level of assurance had been increased to Substantial.  

The remaining findings were contained within an action plan which outlined the risks 
identified as well as the findings, implications and recommendations for addressing each 
risk.  It was noted that the main item to be actioned was the publishing of the Strategy, 
but it was clear that progress was being made towards this.  Management actions had 
been agreed with Sean Kent and Matthew Michell in relation to the outstanding items.

RESOLVED

1. That the follow up report and good progress made be noted.

2. That the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership supports the completion of the findings 
and recommendations presented.

40    JOINT MUNICIPAL WASTE MANAGEMENT STRATEGY

Consideration was given to a report which accompanied the proposed Engagement Draft 
of the new Waste Strategy.  This version had been prepared following feedback received 
on the previous two drafts which had been circulated to the Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership.  It was proposed that the version presented to the LWP at this meeting 
would be the one presented for public engagement, commencing at the beginning of 
April.

It was reported that officers had attended a Boston Borough meeting the previous 
evening where the engagement draft document had been circulated.  A power point 
presentation on the Strategy had also been delivered in order to give members an 
opportunity to comment on the proposed Strategy.  It was noted that the offer for officers 
to visit other districts to discuss the Strategy was still available.  It was requested whether 
something could be arranged for South Holland District Council.  It was considered 
important that members had the opportunity to submit their comments.

In relation to Objectives 2, 3, 7 and 10 it was suggested that the wording should be 
amended to give a more definitive action.  However, it was highlighted that this was still 
an engagement draft, and these comments could be taken into account through this 
process.  

The Partnership was advised that officers were looking for confirmation that they could 
start the engagement process with the document in April 2018.  It was recognised that 
the version presented would not be the final document.

Members at Boston Borough Council advised that the draft Strategy would go through its 
scrutiny committee during the engagement process.  There had been the opportunity for 
every member of every authority to have been given access to the document through the 
development process, before it went public.   It was also noted that consideration of the 
Strategy had been timetabled for the scrutiny process and executive process at North 
Kesteven District Council.  The decision making process time table for West Lindsey 
District Council had been shared with officers at the County Council.

Page 7



6
LINCOLNSHIRE WASTE PARTNERSHIP
8 MARCH 2018

RESOLVED

1. That the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership approve the Joint Municipal Waste 
Management Strategy Engagement Draft to commence public consultation in April 
2018.

2. That the proposed engagement process be noted, with any specific feedback 
provided by 15 March 2018 so that the necessary documentation to accompany 
the engagement could be finalised.

3. That each authority begins preparations for final sign-off and adoption in the 
autumn of the Waste Strategy through their own political processes.

41    FOOD WASTE TRIAL

The Partnership received a report which set out the proposal for the development of a 
potential countywide food waste collection and disposal service.  It was noted that this 
was one of a wide range of operational issues which were being considered as part of 
the development of the Waste Strategy.

It was reported that a proposal had been developed to undertake a food waste trial on 
behalf of the Partnership in selective locations within South Kesteven to cover urban, 
rural and semi-rural areas.  Members were advised that the trial was scheduled to start 
on 4 June 2018 and would be complimented with a detailed communications plan.  The 
food waste would be collected with the residual and recycling waste streams and 
disposed of at the Grantham Waste Transfer Station, where it would be bulked up and 
hauled to a suitable anaerobic digestion facility by South Kesteven District Council.  It 
was highlighted that the County Council was covering all costs for this trial.

It was queried whether there would be any benefit to running publicity regarding the 
recycling of glass, metal and plastics alongside the food waste trial material.  It was 
suggested whether it may also be useful to monitor the dry recyclate and residual waste 
on the trial round to identify whether there was an impact from the publicity both on the 
recycling quality and movement of recyclate from the residual bin to recycling.

RESOLVED

1. That the proposal for a food waste trial and development of a communications 
strategy in South Kesteven be approved.

2. That the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership receive regular progress updates 
throughout the year trial period.

42    WEST LINDSEY REVISED WASTE POLICIES

The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership received a report which set out the revised waste 
and recycling operational policies in a document which covered all refuse and recycling 
related services provided by West Lindsey District Council (WLDC).  The Partnership was 
advised that the aim of this document was to provide a standardised transparent 

Page 8



7
LINCOLNSHIRE WASTE PARTNERSHIP

8 MARCH 2018

approach, which could be used to manage the wider expectations of the service as well 
providing a basis for which service standards could be monitored.

It was noted that the policies had been in need of a refresh following the introduction of 
the Controlled Waste Regulations in 2012 and the launch of WLDC's Commercial Waste 
Service in 2014 as well as the introduction of charges for garden waste collection in 
December 2017.

It was confirmed that all of the revised policies would be on the website.

RESOLVED

That the revised Waste Policies for West Lindsey District Council be noted.

The meeting closed at 1.50 pm

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



LINCOLNSHIRE WASTE PARTNERSHIP 12 July 2018

SUBJECT :      JOINT MUNICIPAL WASTE MANAGEMENT 
STRATEGY - CONSULTATION RESPONSES

REPORT BY:     MATTHEW MICHELL (LINCOLNSHIRE COUNTY 
COUNCIL)

CONTACT NO: 01522 552371

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) agreed, at its March meeting, that their 
draft Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) was ready to go out for 
wider consultation.  That consultation commenced on 4th April 2018 and concluded on 
2nd July 2018.

This paper accompanies a report on the feedback received during that consultation 
process.  The paper also makes recommendations for revisions to the JMWMS ahead 
of the submission of a new version to the LWP in September.

DISCUSSIONS

It is proposed that the attached consultation report will become an appendix to the 
revised JMWMS when, having been updated in the light of the consultation 
responses, it is presented to the LWP in September.  Whilst the report is written in a 
format suitable for that purpose, it should be noted that none of the JMWMS changes 
referred to in it have yet been made.  At this point those changes are proposals set 
out for consideration by the LWP.

In addition to consultation responses from members of the public the report, when 
included in the JMWMS, will also include feedback from each of the eight LWP 
partner Councils.  Those formally-approved responses which have arrived in time to 
be circulated with these LWP papers are attached herewith, and it is anticipated that 
the remaining submissions will be available for distribution and consideration at the 
12th July meeting itself.

Other than the above point regarding the format (an appendix to the future JMWMS), 
the attached report largely speaks for itself in terms of presenting the feedback 
received and the proposed changes to the JMWMS in the light of them.

Page 11

Agenda Item 8



In addition, the LWP's Officer Working Group had begun work on an initial Action Plan 
to accompany the revised JMWMS.  This will be submitted to the LWP for 
consideration in September alongside the JMWMS.

OPTIONS

1) The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership approves the revision of the draft Joint 
Municipal Waste Management Strategy in line with the attached report.

2) The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership makes changes to the attached report to 
reflect a different view on how the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy 
should be revised.

3) The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership requires further time to consider the basis on 
which the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy is to be revised – This 
could delay the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy adoption process.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1) That the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership notes the Joint Municipal Waste 
Management Strategy consultation feedback included in the attached report 
("Appendix B – Consultation Feedback").

2) That the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership approves that the draft Joint Municipal 
Waste Management Strategy is updated in line with the recommendations in the 
attached report.

3) That the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership identifies any further changes they would 
like to make in the light of any formal partner submissions not included with the 
attached report but distributed at the meeting.

4) That each partner authority provides, though the Officer Working Group, ongoing 
support and feedback to the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy revision 
and Action Plan development.

APPENDICES

Appendix B – Consultation Feedback (including formal responses from the 
Partnership authorities)

Page 12



Appendix B – Consultation Feedback 

THIS IS A DRAFT DOCUMENT TO BE PRESENTED TO THE LWP ON 12TH JULY FOR THEIR 

CONSIDERATION.  THE FINAL DOCUMENT WILL BE AN APPENDIX TO THE ADOPTED JMWMS, HENCE 

THE REFERENCES TO PROPOSED CHANGES AS THOUGH THEY HAVE ALREADY BEEN AGREED. 

A formal consultation process was undertaken from 4th April to 2nd July 2018.  This appendix 

summarises the results of that consultation and its influence on the final version of the JMWMS. 

 

Summary 

The draft strategy was generally well received, and responses to the consultation indicated a high 

level of support for the overall direction of the JMWMS.  Specifically, of the 147 responses to the 

survey: 

 89% agreed or strongly agreed with the vision we have set out 

 75% agreed or strongly agreed that the proposed objectives can achieve that vision 

Many of the comments received tied in with the vision which we have set out, agreeing that the LWP 

should: 

 Ensure value for money; 

 Care for the environment; and 

 Provide customer-friendly services. 

Other comments suggested areas in which the JMWMS could be strengthened or revised.  Examples 

of how these are reflected in the revised version of the JMWMS are shown below. 

Feedback received How revised JMWMS reflects this 

Specific actions need to be identified to show 
how the LWP will work to achieve their 
objectives. 

An initial Action Plan has been produced and is 
attached as Appendix D.  This Action Plan will be 
reviewed on an annual basis to ensure it remains 
up to do and effective. 

Better publicity is needed to ensure that people 
know what to put into which collections. 

The Action Plan includes: 

 A review to try to simplify our collection 
schemes; and 

 A communications campaign. 
Opinion was divided over whether food waste 
collections were a good idea. 

The Action Plan includes undertaking a trial to 
assess the effectiveness of food waste 
collections.  This trial, which actually began in 
June 2018, will enable decisions on possible 
wider collections to be based on real data. 

 

Consultation process 

Page 13



As part of the waste strategy and SEA process there is a statutory requirement to undertake 

consultation.  Furthermore, consultation enables the LWP to take into account the views of the 

public and other stakeholders in the final JMWMS. 

It is recommended that the consultation period lasts for 90 days, but this is not statutory.  The public 

were consulted on the proposed draft strategy and the draft environmental report, which presents 

the outcomes of the Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA). 

There are numerous consultation methods available and each authority is free to choose how their 

consultation is undertaken. 

Consultation methods selected 

The LWP chose to carry out a formal consultation between 4th April and 2nd July 2018 (90 days).  The 

documents made available during the consultation period were:  

 The full draft strategy and appendices 

 Summary of the strategy 

 Draft environmental report and its appendices 

The consultation took the following forms:  

 Publicising the consultation 

 Web-based consultation documents and questionnaire 

 Paper documents and questionnaire (available on request) 

 Libraries and LWP council offices 

 Face to face briefings for Elected Members at LWP councils 

Publicising the consultation 

In order to reach as wide an audience as possible, a variety of means were used to publicise the 

consultation, including: 

 Press releases – These were taken up and published by a number of media outlets 

 Social media advertisements – Facebook and Twitter 

 Direct emails to key groups 

o Statutory SEA consultees (Environment Agency, Natural England & Historic England); 

o Parish Councils in Lincolnshire; 

o A variety of waste-related businesses in Lincolnshire; and 

o Neighbouring councils. 

Questionnaire – Web-based approach 

In the light of the aims set out in the vision – to protect the environment and provide value for 

money – it was decided that the focus of the consultation should be online rather than producing 

large numbers of paper copies. 

Local residents and any other interested parties could access all consultation documents through the 

Recycle for Lincolnshire area of the Lincolnshire County Council website.  A web-based questionnaire 

Page 14



was provided to invite views on key topics, the benefit being that, as well as receiving comments, it 

provided statistics giving an indication of overall opinion.  Also, a dedicated email account 

(wastestrategy@lincolnshire.gov.uk) was provided for other feedback and queries. 

In total 147 completed questionnaires were completed, including five which were received in paper 

form and typed in by council staff.  The results are summarised later in this appendix. 

Questionnaire – Paper copies 

Whilst our preferred engagement method was online, the website made it clear that we were happy 

to send out on request paper copies of any or all of the documents.  A number of items were sent 

out in the post but, unfortunately, only five paper questionnaires were returned. 

Questionnaire – Libraries and LWP council offices 

Aware that not everyone has access to the internet, and in order to reach as wide an audience as 

possible, paper copies of key documents were sent out for display in public locations around the 

county: 

 The main office of each of the eight LWP partner councils; and 

 All 15 of the County Council's core public libraries. 

In addition to a single reference copy of the full JMWMS and a poster advertising the consultation, 

each location received several copies of the following which could be taken away: 

 A brief summary version of the JMWMS document – Essentially Chapter 1, including how to 

access the full documents and how to respond; 

 The consultation response form; and 

 A Freepost return envelope. 

Face to face briefings for Elected Members at LWP councils 

Between them, Councillors are the elected representatives of every member of the public in 

Lincolnshire.  In order to ensure the JMWMS captures the views of the wider Membership of each 

Council, representatives of the LWP visited each of the eight LWP councils to give a face to face 

briefing, and to invite them to submit a formal consultation response.  Each council's response is 

attached at the end of this Appendix B. 

 

Questionnaire results 

The questionnaire consisted of 10 questions which, for clarity, are divided below into four sections.  

Several questions came as a pair with a selection list for the first part (to allow for statistical analysis) 

and a follow-up question asking for further information. 

It was decided not to ask for any personal details so that answers could remain truly anonymous.  

This also avoids possible issues under Data Protection legislation as it would be difficult to justify 

that such information was necessary. 

Page 15

mailto:wastestrategy@lincolnshire.gov.uk


The following responses almost all were submitted online.  The five paper copies received were 

typed into the online form by a member of council staff to allow them to be included in the 

statistical reporting. 

 

Responder details 

1. In what capacity are you responding to this survey? 

We have managed to obtain the views of a significant number of Lincolnshire residents.  

Unfortunately we have not heard much from other groups. 

 Responses Notes 

Lincolnshire Resident 126 Also received five responses via email 

County Councillor 2 The County Council also responded via 
formal Council submission – see later in 
this appendix 

District Councillor 6 All seven District Councils also 
responded via formal Council 
submission – see later in this appendix 

Parish/Town Councillor 5 Also received two Parish Council 
responses via email 

Waste business employee/owner 4 Also received two responses via email 

Neighbouring authority representative 0 Details sent to all neighbouring 
authorities.  None used the survey, but 
two responded directly by email. 

Other 4 All were formal responses from LWP 
partner authorities. 
Also received three "other" responses 
via email 

TOTAL 147  

 

2. In which area do you live or are you/your organisation based? 

Whilst some areas are better represented than others, we have managed to get multiple responses 

from every area within Lincolnshire.  The two "other" responses were people who did not answer 

this question. 

Page 16



 

Contents of draft JMWMS 

3. Do you agree or disagree with the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership's vision for this 

Strategy? 

89% of responders agree or strongly agree with the vision as set out in the draft JMWMS: 

"To seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, customer-friendly waste 

management solutions that give value for money to Lincolnshire" 

 

Why have you answered this way? 

Concern was expressed that the vision was too long, and that balancing the contrasting elements 

could be used as an excuse for poor performance – e.g. 'it was innovative but too expensive' or 'it 

was effective but not customer friendly'.  It was also suggested that the vision should mention waste 

minimisation. 

As with other questions, comments not directly related to this question will be included in the list of 

"comments received" given later in this Appendix. 

 

4. Are there any key issues, other than those we have identified, which should be driving 

our Waste Strategy? 

0

10

20

30

40

50

B
B

C

C
o

LC

EL
D

C

N
K

D
C

SH
D

C

SK
D

C

W
LD

C

O
th

er

Waste Collection Authority 

47% 

42% 

10% 

1% 

Strongly agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Page 17



43% of responders believed other issues should be considered. 

 

If you answered "no", then what else should we include? 

Due to the wide range of suggestions, proposed additions are included in the list of "comments 

received" given later in this Appendix. 

 

5. Do you agree or disagree that the objectives we have set out will enable us to meet the 

challenges we face and therefore achieve our vision? 

75% of responders agree or strongly agree with this. 

 

Why have you answered this way? 

Those who disagreed expressed a variety of concerns and suggestions, including: 

 Funding – Need to lobby central government for more funding 

 Commit more – Should say what we'll do, not "consider" or "seek to" 

 Food waste collections – Not convinced of the environmental or financial benefits 

 Costs – Need to think long-term savings even if it means extra costs now 

 Commercial waste – Need to consider this, not just household waste 

 Education – Need better communications to educate the public 

57% 

43% 

No

Yes

18% 

57% 

21% 

4% 

Strongly agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Page 18



 

6. Do you agree or disagree that our Forward Plan, as described in Chapter 7, contains all 

the actions we need to achieve our objectives? 

72% of responders agree or strongly agree with this. 

 

Why have you answered this way? 

There were multiple responses along similar lines: 

 We need to state a more specific list of actions 

 We need to communicate better with the public 

Other comments have been grouped together and included in the list of "comments received" given 

later in this Appendix. 

 

7. Do you have any specific concerns about the strategy? 

48% of responders have specific concerns. 

 

If you answered "yes", please tell us what concerns you have. 

13% 

59% 

25% 

3% 

Strongly agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

52% 

48% 
No

Yes

Page 19



Due to the wide range of concerns expressed, these are included in the list of "comments received" 

given later in this Appendix. 

 

Equality issues 

The Equality Act 2010 places organisations under a duty to ascertain how people with 'protected 

characteristics' are impacted by an organisation's activity, and how steps may be taken to mitigate 

or eliminate adverse impact(s). 

8. Do you think the draft strategy could have a positive or negative impact on you (or 

someone you care for or support) due to any of the following? 

 Positive 
Impact 

No Impact Negative 
Impact 

Don't Know 

Age 14% 47% 19% 20% 

Sex (male/female) 9% 69% 6% 16% 

Disability 9% 43% 21% 27% 

Sexual orientation 6% 73% 2% 19% 

Pregnancy and maternity 9% 55% 13% 22% 

Marriage and civil partnership 8% 72% 2% 18% 

Race (ethnicity)  5% 72% 4% 19% 

Religion or belief 6% 73% 2% 18% 

Gender reassignment 5% 73% 2% 20% 

 

There was a general feeling that, for most people groups and particularly for future generations, the 

impact would be positive.  However, there were three categories for which more people identified a 

negative impact than a positive one: 

 Age 

 Disability 

 Pregnancy and maternity 

The opportunity was given to identify other specific groups who could be impacted.  The only other 

group suggested was residents of terraced properties, and the impact suggested has been included 

in the table below. 

Also, some respondents expressed concern that, until the Action Plan identifies specific service 

changes, it is not possible to identify possible impacts. 

 

If you have identified a potential impact, how would the proposed strategy impact you (or 

someone you care for or support) and how could any negative impacts be reduced? 

The comments made in this section have been added to the Equality Impact Analysis which is being 

undertaken to accompany the JMWMS.  The below summarises the responses received, including 

Page 20



suggestion mitigation for negative impacts.  These impacts, and appropriate mitigation, will be 

considered in putting the JMWMS into action. 

NB – The impacts listed are those identified in consultation responses and, in some cases, it is not 

clear what the perceived impact actually is. 

Negative Impact Groups affected Mitigation 

Age Disability Pregnancy 
and 

maternity 

Other 

Confused by service 
changes 

Y Y Y Race 
(language) 

Focussed 
communications 
through a variety of 
methods 

Difficulty moving 
heavy/multiple bins 

Y Y Y Sex 
(did not specify 

which) 

Assisted collections 

Repeated emptying of 
kitchen caddy 

Y Y Y  Small kitchen caddy 
with liner 

Possible infection from 
decaying food 

Y Y Y  Lidded kitchen caddy; 
exterior bin; weekly 
collections 

HWRC / bring bank 
access 

Y Y Y Sex 
("parents with 
children and 
single parent 
families being 

more likely to be 
female") 

Proactive assistance 
from site staff 

Access to plastic recycling 
if kerbside service 
removed due to Deposit 
Return Scheme 

 Y   Consideration of 
alternative service if 
this happens 

Nappies & formula milk 
produce extra waste 

  Y  Response suggested: 
"Promote breast-
feeding and reusable 
nappies" 

Lack of space for storing 
multiple bins 

   Residents of 
terraced 

properties 

Consideration of 
alternative service 

 

In addition to the specific negative impacts which were identified, it has also been noted that a 

number of other respondents also expressed, in the text of their answers to other questions, the 

view that age could be an issue, and that the LWP need to ensure that services are accessible to 

everyone. 

 

Strategic Environmental Assessment 

Page 21



The remaining questions related to the Environmental Report which accompanies the JMWMS.  This 

was prepared as part of the Strategic Environmental Assessment, a process which we are required to 

undertake alongside the development of the JMWMS itself. 

9. Does the Environmental Report correctly identify the likely significant effects of the 

draft Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy? 

77% of responders said "yes". 

 

If you answered "no", please tell us what else you think should be included. 

Most of those who answered "no" said that the Environmental Report was too long and too 

complicated to read.  Unfortunately the SEA process is prescribed by legislation, and the contents of 

the Environmental Report reflect that process.  We have endeavoured to take the SEA results into 

account in writing the JMWMS. 

Others said that the SEA is difficult to assess without seeing the Action Plan which will accompany 

the JMWMS.  Potential environmental impacts will indeed be considered in developing the initial 

and future Action Plans.  This will include the location of potential new waste facilities, which was 

another topic raised. 

One responder was concerned that there is not enough focus in the SEA on climate change and 

carbon emissions.  This was raised in other responses with regard to the overall JMWMS, and is 

reflected in our objective "to seek to reduce our carbon footprint". 

Other responses to this question raised concerns about the JMWMS in general, and these are 

included in the list of "comments received" given later in this Appendix. 

 

10. Do you agree or disagree that the draft JMWMS has sufficiently taken account of the 

information provided in the Environmental Report? 

81% of responders agree or strongly agree with this. 

77% 

23% 

Yes

No

Page 22



 

If you disagree, please tell us what else you think should be taken into account. 

Those who "strongly disagree" generally expressed concern over the length and complexity of the 

Environmental Report, as did several of those who "disagree".  As already stated, this is necessary 

due to how the SEA process is prescribed by legislation. 

Other responses to this question mirror concerns raised in response to earlier questions, and these 

are included in the list of "comments received" given later in this Appendix. 

 

Comments received 

Formal responses from LWP partners 

As previously stated, in order to ensure the JMWMS captures the views of the wider Elected 

Membership of each Council, representatives of the LWP visited each of the eight LWP councils to 

give a face to face briefing.  Each council was invited to submit a formal consultation response. 

The following provides a summary of those responses.  Each council's full response is attached at the 

end of this Appendix B. 

Five responses were submitted in the form of the same questionnaire as used by the public.  These 

are included in the statistical results shown above, and are summarised below. 

ELDC ARE ONE OF THE FIVE USING THE QUESTIONNAIRE BUT, SINCE THEIR RESPONSE IS BEING 

FINALISED BY THEIR EXECUTIVE BOARD ON 11TH JULY, IT IS NOT YET INCLUDED IN THE BELOW 

SUMMARY OR ATTACHED. 

3 – Do you agree or disagree with the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership's vision for this Strategy? 

3 x Strongly agree (1 further partner said "strongly agree" in their non-questionnaire response) 
1 x Disagree – Not specific enough 

4 – Are there any key issues, other than those we have identified, which should be driving our 
Waste Strategy? 

2 x No 
2 x Yes – Include: 

 Containing costs/maximising income 

11% 

70% 

15% 

4% 

Strongly agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Page 23



 Education and regular information to the public 

 Wider global picture and circular economy 

5 – Do you agree or disagree that the objectives we have set out will enable us to meet the 
challenges we face and therefore achieve our vision? 

1 x Strongly agree 
2 x Agree 
1 x Disagree – Need specific actions & targets 

6 – Do you agree or disagree that our Forward Plan, as described in Chapter 7, contains all the 
actions we need to achieve our objectives? 

2 x Agree 
2 x Disagree – Need specific action plan 

7 – Do you have any specific concerns about the strategy? 

4 x Yes – We need a specific action plan & targets 

8 – Do you think the draft strategy could have a positive or negative impact on you (or someone 
you care for or support) due to any of the following? 

No specific impacts identified 

9 – Does the Environmental Report correctly identify the likely significant effects of the draft Joint 
Municipal Waste Management Strategy? 

2 x Yes 
2 x No – Need action plan first 

10 – Do you agree or disagree that the draft JMWMS has sufficiently taken account of the 
information provided in the Environmental Report? 

4 x Agree – Although may need reassessing when Action Plan is developed 

 

Comments made by each partner, including those provided in the form of the questionnaire, are 

grouped together by theme below. 

Overall strategy 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Need a specific action plan with timelines 

 Strategy and actions need to be agile to react to changes 

 Be customer-friendly / customer satisfaction 

 Objectives to be more committed – "we will" rather than "consider" 

 Ensure we consider the future, not just the present 

 Programme in a JMWMS review 

 Need "circular economy" thinking 

Other responses  Vision to say "Lincolnshire people" 

 Vision not specific enough 

 Seek innovative ideas by looking for new ideas and technologies 

 Include section on "lessons learned" from previous JMWMS and action plan 

 Need more detailed review of previous (2008) JMWMS and lessons learned 

Recycling collections 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Need harmonising (nationally?) 

 Simpler collection system/mix 

 Kerbside collections of batteries and WEEE 

Other responses  Collect glass separately 

 More enforcement against contamination 

 Consider how to handle textiles 

Lobbying 

Multiple similar  Manufacturers to reduce packaging 

Page 24



responses 

Other responses  Use fewer types of plastic 

 Deposit Return Schemes for plastics are a good thing, so support them 

Food waste 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Food waste collections a good thing 

 Trial data important 

 Food waste collections need to be backed by education campaign 

 Needs proper consideration of funding of separate collections 

Other responses  Encourage food waste minimisation 

Education 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Need better engagement with the public 

 Promote waste hierarchy, including reduction and reuse 

 Need simple and consistent messages 

 Education through schools 

Other responses  How to reach "Houses in Multiple Occupation"? 

 Locally-targeted campaigns 

 Incentivise residents to recycle more 

 Add an objective on education 

Disposal & processing 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Consider using out-of-county facilities 

Other responses  Use anaerobic digestion for food waste and garden waste 

 Use/develop local sites 

 Consider disposal options to handle population/waste growth 

 Maximise energy use from new and existing EfW facilities 

Funding 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Make clearer that Council funding is reducing and services need to contain 
costs 

Other responses  Ensure value for money to the public 

 Decide on the balance between costs and "doing the right thing 
environmentally 

Other 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Better partnership working (including with neighbours?) 

 Review of HWRC provision (including cross-border arrangements?) 

 Review LWP governance model 

 Regular monitoring and reporting of performance 

Other responses  Specific data needs reviewing or updating 

 On-street recycling bins 

 Healthcare waste should be NHS responsibility 

 Need to better understand why recycling rates are falling 

 Need to review equality impacts and SEA when action plan has been 
developed 

 Support commercial waste collections  

 Move away from a specific recycling target 

 

Statutory Consultees 

Page 25



As part of the Strategic Environmental Assessment process, we are required to consult with the 

Environment Agency, Natural England and Historic England.  None of them raised any specific 

concerns regarding either the draft Environmental Report or the draft JMWMS. 

From others 

The following summarises the comments which were submitted to the consultation.  Every 

comment has been read individually but, due to the varied nature and sometimes personal nature of 

the individual responses, they are here summarised into themes. 

Themes mentioned by 10 or more people included: 

Theme Type(s) of response 

Care for the environment  An important thing to include 

 Not enough mention of climate change and carbon reduction 

Value for money  An important thing to include 

 Councils need to think and act more commercially 

 Lobby national government for more funding 

Balancing environment and 
cost 

Opinion was divided between: 

 Take the cheapest option rather than put up Council Tax 

 Do the right thing environmentally regardless of cost 

Include more direct and 
ambitious actions 

 Draft JMWMS doesn't identify enough specific actions 

 Whole JMWMS needs to be more ambitious 

Improve 
communications/education 

 What to put in which collection 

 Especially important if services change 

Waste 
reduction/packaging 

 Not enough mention of waste reduction 

 Lobby national government for new legislation 

 Take action locally 

Food waste collections Opinion was divided between: 

 They are a good thing – e.g. Better environmentally 

 They are a bad thing – e.g. Smell; costly to run; inconvenient 

Customer friendly services  Simpler recycling system 

 Need consistent services across the county 

 Ensure services are accessible to all, especially the elderly and 
disabled 

HWRC improvements  More reuse, especially by "people in need" 

 Improve site layout 

 Open more sites and for longer hours 

 Accept extra materials – e.g. tyres; asbestos 

 Allow/arrange use of sites outside of county 

 

Conclusion 

The JMWMS has been reviewed and, where necessary, updated in line with the comments received 

through the consultation process.  The majority of this list matches the above summary of public 

responses, as these are also broadly in line with responses from LWP partners.  Where partners 

raised additional items, these are added at the foot of this table. 

Page 26



Theme How revised JMWMS reflects this 

Care for the environment  Text added to back up the objective on carbon reduction 

 Action Plan to include assessment of carbon footprint 

Value for money  Already a strong focus of the draft JMWMS so no change 

Balancing environment and 
cost 

 Given the mixed views expressed as to which should take priority, 
the revised JMWMS clarifies the LWP's intention to choose the 
best environmental option that we can afford.  Any service 
changes will thus need to reflect this. 

Include more direct and 
ambitious actions 

 Action Plan produced to accompany JMWMS 

Improve 
communications/education 

 Included in Action Plan 

Waste 
reduction/packaging 

 Text added to make more reference to this 

Food waste collections  Action Plan includes a trial to get better information for an 
informed decision 

Customer friendly services  Collections under review through Action Plan 

 Any proposed service changes will consider accessibility to all 

HWRC improvements  HWRC services to be reviewed 

Additional items raised by LWP partners 

Reporting and review  Chapter 8 has been revised to be more specific on this 

Disposal and processing  More information added on future options to be considered 

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B: CABINET 16TH MAY 2018 
 

Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy for Lincolnshire  
 

Public Consultation Submission on behalf of Boston Borough Council 
 
 
Feedback ordered by Theme: 
 
Demography 
 
Since the census 2011 the population of Boston has been underestimated due to migrant 
workers, advise caution on statistics which might not consider this. (BBC) 
 
Harmonisation of waste streams / Contamination in MDR 
 
Desperate for national guidance on what is recyclable and what is not. Would like 
commonality amongst WCA’s for recycling items. (BBC) 
 
Bottle contamination, can a bin be put inside the wheeled bin for separate collections of 
bottles. Manufacturers should be challenged to reduce packaging. (BBC) 
 
ELDC glass policy to reduce paper contamination but this is not consistent with other 
WCAs. Separate food waste collection to take out the 20% food waste in residual bins. 
(BBC) 
 
List of what can be recycled is often changing and is not consistent. Needs to be a 
comprehensive list of recyclable materials collected from the kerbside and recycled for 
Lincolnshire. (BBC) 
 
Are we confident with Mid UK. How much contamination is food waste and is this 
attributable to demographic or social economic issues. Educate the public not to buy more 
food than they need. Recycle bottles but clean them. (BBC) 
 
Lots of items are technically recyclable yet cannot be recycled due to constraints on MRF 
contract. Significant problem with HMOs, food waste contamination, more leaflets / advice 
to the public with clear pictures, ticks and crosses. HMOs do not understand the 
information we produce. (BBC) 
 
Food contamination is unintentional. Communication messages must be simple e.g. no 
food, no nappies, advise people that ‘someone has to sort this by hand’. (BBC) 
 
Manufactures labels can be misleading, suggesting packaging is recyclable yet not 
permitted in the kerbside bin. Customers want to do the right thing and recycle but get 
contradictory messages from manufacturers/council’s. (BBC) 
 
Recommend a simple way of lowering rejection rates for recycling, make it simple with 
common items e.g. tin cans, bottles, paper, cardboard or no plastic, simplicity is key and 
people will not get it wrong. (BBC) 

Page 29



 
Public Education / Information / Enforcement 
 
Public engagement to be used to inform people on what can go in each bin. Suggest 
placing stickers on bins with clear pictures, simplicity, reducing items which can be 
recycled so that the costs of processing many items can be reduced. Confusion on what 
can be recycled. (BBC) 
 
Public consultation; engage with parish councils. (BBC) 
 
Education to schools and parents. Town centre bins can these include separate residual 
and recyclable sections as it is hypocritical implying our own conduct is not to recycle, 
strong message even though a small impact on recycling data. (BBC) 
 
Education, engage schools Lincolnshire wide to have their own recycling drive. (BBC) 
 
Enforcement activity on contamination, the Boston policy might be introduced across 
Lincolnshire. Alternative to issuing FPN, send them to MID UK recycling to be educated. 
(BBC) 
 
Educate school years 7 and 8 and they will spread to message to parents. Restore 
recycling officers lost due to budget cuts. We cannot afford not to educate. Simple logo for 
recycling. (BBC) 
 
Improve education of the public on what can be recycled. Provide common logo’s, 
stickers, information leaflets etc that are the same across the county and all districts. 
(BBC) 
 
Members keen on local, targeted education campaigns, using stickers and leaflets, to 
promote common messages. This needs to be a sustained effort to be effective, due to 
transient population, and backed by enforcement. (BBC) 
 
Must educate the public, including children/schools. (BBC) 
 
Strategic / Financial / Innovation 
 
Can the vision statement include ‘Lincolnshire People’ to gain ownership? (BBC) 
 
Working together, joint strategy, commonality required, systems simple, AD plants, 
reduce confusion, take seriously, commitment to work together, it is costly to work in the 
wrong way, benefit environment and economic balance in an affordable way. (BBC) 
 
Biggest influence is from WRAP. Different types of plastics should be reduced. WRAP 
should help us. Contaminated food in supermarkets address these points. AD plants, 
composting, carbon footprint concerns taking material to China, look at the whole cycle 
process, plastics values. Garden waste to go in AD plants. Smaller scale, more localised 
plant, smaller vehicles measured against cost. (BBC) 
 
 

Page 30



Food collection pilot data important, urban v rural collections, we need strong data on 
food collections from SKDC in 12 months time. Brown bins could be used for kitchen 
vegetable wastes. (BBC) 
 
Food waste collections would be welcomed provided that it was backed by an education 
campaign. Impact on waste volumes is not thought likely to be significant. (BBC). 
 
Technology and policy are moving fast, plastic bottle deposit scheme, plastic digesting 
enzymes, anaerobic digestion of food waste etc. Strategy needs to be agile, dynamic and 
flexible to exploit changes in waste technology. (BBC) 
 
Lobbying by the LWP came through strongly. Manufactures locally should be lobbied to 
reduce packaging and to use packaging that is simple to recycle. Government should 
incentivise/encourage manufactures to do so. (BBC) 
 
The serviced based objectives of the strategy seem to be relevant and current in terms of 
waste collection. My only contribution would be to ask whether the strategy is set in the 
wider context of Local Government which is one of diminishing resources and therefore 
inherent difficulties in the continuation or expansion of service provision. There is a real 
danger of over promising and under delivering so some caveat is perhaps necessary to 
declare the limitations that the absence of funding may bring to the delivery of the 
strategy. In terms of addressing this it might be helpful to have some form of local stated 
political priority to waste collection set against other services the Councils provide. (BBC) 
 
The strategy seems to have lost focus in terms of promoting reduce and re-use in the 
waste hierarchy, promoting householder responsibilities. Too much focus on what we can 
do to improve the current waste collection/disposal arrangements rather than focussing 
on efficient and sustainable arrangements. 
 
Advent of internet shopping is having a detrimental impact on packaging waste. Need to 
lobby and incentivise delivery companies like Amazon to reduce packaging or use 
recyclable packaging. (BBC) 
 
Innovation – can we promote or partner companies that manufacture domestic waste 
treatment technology such as that Heru – Home Energy Resources Unit. (BBC) 
 
Collection and Disposal Arrangements 
 
If there is no capacity at the EfW, could we build a disposal facility locally? The strategy is 
not clear on what we are doing to address disposal capacity challenges. (BBC) 
 
Arrangements for disposal of sharps and medicines should be responsibility of 
manufactures or NHS, not Councils. (BBC) 
 
County should introduce kerbside collection facilities for batteries and small household 
electrical items (WEEE). (BBC) 
 
Separate collections of hazardous waste, batteries, laptops, medical items, alternative 
way of disposing of healthcare wastes. 4 bin system in Cambridge including batteries in 
bags around handles. (BBC) 

Page 31



  
 
Make it easy for people to dispose of wastes which are difficult to recycle. Other Councils 
provide kerbside collection facilities for batteries and small household electrical items 
(South Oxford DC). (BBC) 
 
What can and can’t be recycled is based on commodities markets and technology. 
Recycling processors should be encouraged/incentivised to find markets and outlets for 
all recycling materials collected at the kerbside. (BBC) 
 
There would be support from this council to host local waste disposal facilities – EfW or 
AD plant on a financial sharing basis either with the WDA or private sector. This would 
improve efficiency and carbon footprint. (BBC) 
 
Food waste trial, with AD facilities in Hemswell Cliff, will substantially increase haulage 
costs and is not sustainable, local disposal arrangements would be much better. Cost of 
infrastructure to introduce food waste collections needs careful consideration as well as 
minimising environmental impacts. (BBC) 
 
 
ENDS. 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



Waste Strategy Public Consultation - Closes 2nd July 2018

The Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) sets out how the 
organisations which form the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) will work 
together to deliver waste management services which protect the environment and 
provide value for money.

The aim of this survey is to invite feedback from anyone with an interest in our waste 
services, and will be considered in finalising the JMWMS before it is adopted by each 
LWP council.

In completing this survey, please note that the JMWMS provides a strategic overview 
rather than making proposals for specific changes to services.  Any comments you 
wish to make regarding specific services, such as bin collections, should be made 
directly to your local council through their normal means of communication.

Please read the strategy before completing the survey or look at the summary 
document, which will help you to answer the questions.  You can find this online at:

www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-lincolnshire/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/

Alternatively, you can request a paper copy:

 Email: wastestrategy@lincolnshire.gov.uk
 Phone: 01522 782070

Some of the questions refer to the Environmental Report which has been prepared to 
accompany the Strategy.  You can access this document in any of the same ways 
as the JMWMS itself.

If you are completing this form by hand rather than online, please feel free to 
use a separate piece of paper if your comments won't fit in the space provided.  
Indicate clearly to which question you are referring.

Page 33

http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-lincolnshire/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/


1. In what capacity are you responding to this survey?

 Lincolnshire Resident
 County Councillor
 District Councillor
 Parish/Town Councillor
 Waste business employee/owner
 Neighbouring authority representative
X Other

If "other", please state:

Portfolio Holder City of Lincoln Council, representing the views of City of Lincoln 
Council, Policy Scrutiny Committee following its meeting June 19th 2018

2. In which area do you live or are you/your organisation based?

 Boston
X City of Lincoln
 East Lindsey
 North Kesteven
 South Holland
 South Kesteven
 West Lindsey
 Don't know/prefer not to say
 Outside Lincolnshire

If "Outside Lincolnshire ", please state where:

Page 34



3. Do you agree or disagree with the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership's vision 
for this Strategy?

“To seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, customer-friendly waste 
management solutions that give value for money to Lincolnshire.”

X Strongly agree  Disagree
 Agree  Strongly disagree

Why have you answered this way?

It is vital that waste and recycling management services work closely together to 
ensure maximising recycling and composting percentages, using modern techniques 
to ensure that the overall environmental impact of each disposal/treatment method is 
fully considered. 

However, whatever methods are employed the public must be able to have 
confidence that the disposal/treatment methods chosen for their ‘waste’ give the best 
possible value for money.

It is noted that there are likely to be conflicts between costs of disposal and amounts 
recycled/reused. Against a background of changing markets for materials it is critical 
that the disposal/treatment methods chosen are flexible so they can respond to 
environmental and market demands. 

4. Are there any key issues, other than those we have identified, which should 
be driving our Waste Strategy?

You can find information about this here:
• Summary – Section 1.3
• Full Document – Chapters 3 and 5

X Yes  No

If you answered "no", then what else should we include?

Given the increasing complexity of the recycling market, the anticipation of increasing 
bureaucracy around target setting, and the prolonged period of austerity being 
encountered, containing costs (or potentially maximising income?) must feature. 
There are references in various places in the full document but it isn’t listed in 1.3 of 
the summary document, suggesting it is not a leading concern.

Page 35



Our vision is "to seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, 
customer-friendly waste management solutions that give value for money to 
Lincolnshire".

5. Do you agree or disagree that the objectives we have set out will enable us to 
meet the challenges we face and therefore achieve our vision?

You can find information about this here:
• Summary – Section 1.4
• Full Document – Chapter 6

 Strongly agree  Disagree
X Agree  Strongly disagree

Why have you answered this way?

It is not possible to Strongly Agree as the objectives are not always agreements to 
actually change anything. Many are action to “consider”, “review” or “explore”.

Although the objectives are a list of the right areas to look at, and are acceptable as 
guidance/steer in a consultation document, subject to the findings of the consultation 
they need to be firmed up into actions within a new Joint Municipal Waste 
Management Strategy that sets out a clear plan of actions that is resourced and has a 
clear timetable to measure success against. It is noted that the intent to develop an 
action plan is referenced on page 6.

It is also noted that key issues for authorities to meet their responsibilities may be 
different from key issues for our service users, which is something that must always 
be kept at the forefront of any system changes. The emphasis on ‘customer friendly is 
therefore welcome. Central to the final outcomes must be simplicity of use, ease of 
understanding, and transparency of operations for the full waste stream, end to end.

6. Do you agree or disagree that our Forward Plan, as described in Chapter 7, 
contains all the actions we need to achieve our objectives?

You can find information about this here:
• Summary – Section 1.5
• Full Document – Chapter 7

 Strongly agree X Disagree
 Agree  Strongly disagree

Page 36



Why have you answered this way?

It is suggested that the omission in this section is any reference to the future. Perhaps 
“seeing the wider picture” be changed to “seeing the wider picture so as to forecast 
the future”. Understanding what others have done, and are doing, is important, but 
only if you are going to use that knowledge to make decisions about our own services 
in the future.   This may be implicit, but it isn’t stated, and strategies should include 
clear statements.

“Balancing the economic and environmental benefits” is given two lines, stating the 
two key issues. It doesn’t however go as far as to say which has priority. It is 
understood that there will be a sliding scale of costs vs benefits usually, and it is felt 
that at any one time in the strategies life all signatories will need to be clear which has 
priority.  The alternative will be to build on this statement to include an express 
clause on affordability. For example the signatories to the strategy will “always make 
decisions that aim to minimise environmental impact, subject to these being 
realistically affordable”.

Finally, this question asks if the draft contains all the actions necessary to achieve the 
objectives. It is not possible to know if all the actions required have been made clear 
until a copy of the action plan has been developed. See below.

7. Do you have any specific concerns about the strategy?

X Yes  No

If you answered "yes", please tell us what concerns you have.

As it stands this is not a finished strategy, but an outline on which to consult so as to 
develop a strategy. 
The City Council supports the premise of consultation before decision making, and so 
understands that it is only possible to develop a meaningful strategy once the 
outcomes of the consultation are known. The City Council could not be a signatory to 
this document as it stands, as it does not constitute a clear strategy that will deliver, 
but it is happy with the issues this document highlights for consideration in a strategy. 
In light of the above it is happy to engage fully with the development of the strategy. 

The City Council hopes to be remain an active and supportive member of the 
Lincolnshire Waste Partnership, subject to a strategy being developed that is 
supported by all partners, that will address the key issues of increasing recycling and 
composting rates while addressing the need for appropriate disposal capacity and 
containing costs. It expects the new strategy to have clear actions that can be fully 
resourced on a reasonable timescale.

8. Do you think the draft strategy could have a positive or negative impact on 

Page 37



you (or someone you care for or support) due to any of the following? Tick all 
that apply

Positive 
impact 

Negative 
impact 

No impact Don’t know 

Age X
Sex (male/female) X
Disability X
Sexual orientation X
Pregnancy  and maternity X
Marriage and civil partnership X
Race (ethnicity) X
Religion or belief X
Gender reassignment X

If you have identified a potential impact, how would the proposed strategy impact you 
(or someone you care for or support) and how could any negative impacts be 
reduced?

As the strategy, as it stands, contains few actions that impact the public in Lincoln 
directly due to any specifically stated system changes it is not possible at this stage to 
be clear as to the impacts. Once the detailed action plan is developed, then 
assessment can be made for each change in respect of each of the categories above.
Clearly any changes to waste/recycling collection services have huge potential to 
impact individuals lives, so the fact that this question seems to recognise this is most 
welcome. 
It should be remembered that impacts can be felt both directly, in operationally 
changes to services, and indirectly, in terms of costs. 

The remaining questions relate to the Environmental Report which accompanies the 
JMWMS.  This has been prepared as part of the Strategic Environmental 
Assessment, a process which we are required to undertake alongside the 
development of the JMWMS itself.

9. Does the Environmental Report correctly identify the likely significant effects 
of the draft Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy?

 Yes X No

If you answered "no", please tell us what else you think should be included.

See previous answers. The SEA cannot fully assess impacts until an action plan has 
been developed. It represents a good start, but it will need to be reviewed alongside 
any revision of the strategy. 

10. Do you agree or disagree that the draft JMWMS has sufficiently taken 

Page 38



account of the information provided in the Environmental Report?

 Strongly agree  Disagree
X Agree  Strongly disagree

If you disagree, please tell us what else you think should be taken into account.

See previous answers. In so far as it is able, the report and draft strategy do correlate. 
However, both need to be developed and updated in parallel once an action plan, and 
stands of a fully resourced action plan, are developed. 

Thank you for completing this survey.

Once the consultation period has ended, on 2nd July 2018, the Lincolnshire 
Waste Partnership will review the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy 
and Environmental Report in light of all responses received.

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



 
District Council Offices, Kesteven Street, Sleaford, Lincolnshire, NG34 7EF 

Telephone: 01529 414155 / 01522 699699   E-mail: customer_services@n-kesteven.gov.uk   www.n-kesteven.gov.uk 

Your Ref :   
 Our Ref : RW/JS 
 Contact : Cllr Richard Wright  
 Email : cllr_richard_wright@n-kesteven.gov.uk  
 
 
Councillor E Poll 
c/o Waste Strategy 
Lincolnshire County Council 
Lancaster House 
36 Orchard Street 
Lincoln 
LN1 1XX 
 
3 July 2018 
 
Dear Eddie 
 
RE: DRAFT JOINT MUNICIPAL WASTE MANAGEMENT STRATEGY FOR 
LINCOLNSHIRE – NORTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL SUBMISSION TO PUBLIC 
CONSULTATION 
 
I refer to the recent invite by the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) for comments on the 
draft Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy for Lincolnshire (“the Strategy”) and ask 
that you accept this letter as the considered response of North Kesteven District Council 
(NKDC). 
 
NKDC would strongly agree that the LWP vision for this Strategy should be “To seek the best 
environmental option to provide innovative, customer-friendly waste management solutions 
that give value for money to Lincolnshire”. The draft objectives within the Strategy will enable 
us to meet the challenges we face and therefore achieve the vision of the partnership. 
 
NKDC will actively support the LWP and appropriately prioritise the development and 
subsequent delivery of a suitably challenging and mutually agreed action plan, and agree that 
the proposed forward plan should link each identified action directly to one or more of the 
strategic objectives. Action plans must be developed to give effect to the objectives it is setting, 
with timelines, resource implications and the benefits identified. 
 
The strategy needs to be focused on what the partnership plans to do taking account of the 
risks faced. It should be challenging yet achievable.  There is some brief coverage of actions 
achieved as part of the 2008 strategy; but not all. A short, succinct review of the 2008 strategy 
may help to better understand what worked well and the learning could then be used / 
replicated as part of the action plans being developed for the latest strategy. 
 
The prominent inclusion of ‘customer friendly’ waste management solutions in the strategy 
and the subsequent action plans is supported. Agreement on a common dry-recyclables waste 
stream and a common approach to communicating these will help achieve this vision.  This 
approach should lead to a commonly understood and meaningful recycling mix. 
 

/Cont. 
  

 

Page 43

mailto:cllr_richard_wright@n-kesteven.gov.uk


 
District Council Offices, Kesteven Street, Sleaford, Lincolnshire, NG34 7EF 

Telephone: 01529 414155 / 01522 699699   E-mail: customer_services@n-kesteven.gov.uk   www.n-kesteven.gov.uk 

2 
 
 
Waste minimisation / prevention is mentioned within the strategy, specifically through the 
Waste Hierarchy and the Circular Economy which should result in appropriate challenging 
actions around ways to minimise the amount of waste collected per household.  As above, we 
would advocate a common approach to communicating this, for instance through local schools 
and via social media.  A local example of this can be seen through the work currently being 
carried out within North Kesteven through the Youth Council at PartnershipNK. 
 
NKDC are committed to draft objective 9 (to regularly review the LWP governance model in 
order to provide the best opportunity to bring closer integration and the implementation of the 
objectives set by the strategy).  The strategy currently contains little on if or how this may 
happen. A new shared governance model for an integrated waste operation to build resilience 
and reduce cost should at least be explored by partners.  We understand and accept that 
partners may not prefer adopting such a model and recognise that this may be difficult to 
achieve.  However, as partners there is a need to look at where there may be opportunities to 
work together and cooperate. 
 
NKDC supports the principle of draft objective 3 which gives a commitment to explore separate 
food waste collection. Once the results of the current food waste collection trial are known, 
they should be widely distributed to, and promoted by, each partner and presented alongside 
a financial model which incentivises WCAs and meets the costs of its introduction and 
operation (within an agreed timeline). Consideration must be given to how such an operation 
could be locally implemented in each of the WCA areas and any and all potential opportunities 
as a result of introducing such a service, should be realised. 
 
Energy from Waste facility capacity assessments are mentioned in the context of a local 
growing population with solutions suggested around the development of infrastructure to 
mitigate this risk.  Consideration could also be given to suitable facilities out of county, based 
on geographical proximity (e.g. Peterborough).  If further local infrastructure is developed, 
there should be robust and equitable discussions between partners on where these should be 
located in order to maximise their potential.  Such a work stream may also wish to consider 
ways to maximise the energy outputs from the current Energy from Waste facility. 
 
NKDC supports the role that Household Waste Recycling Centres contribute to the strategy 
vision and objectives.  To that extent, their provision and operations should be regularly 
reviewed during the period of the strategy to ensure they continue to provide an appropriate 
strategic fit, alongside all other waste-related actions, initiatives and facilities provided in 
pursuit of the strategic vision and objectives. 
 
Chapter 8 of the Strategy includes mention of monitoring.  This should go further and state 
that the partnership will review progress annually by means of a report against vision and 
objectives for formal consideration by each partner, with a strategy review programmed within 
3 years. 
 

/Cont. 
  

Page 44



 
District Council Offices, Kesteven Street, Sleaford, Lincolnshire, NG34 7EF 

Telephone: 01529 414155 / 01522 699699   E-mail: customer_services@n-kesteven.gov.uk   www.n-kesteven.gov.uk 

3 
 
The vast majority of the strategy will be delivered after the UK exit from the EU. Currently it is 
reasonable to assume existing national strategic commitments will remain in place and the 
strategy should give a commitment to address any changes as part of a strategy review if and 
when they occur. A similar approach should also be adopted to either respond / react to, or 
maximise the opportunities offered by any government initiatives or announcements such as 
those that have been published in the period that the draft strategy has been issued for 
consultation, for example a consultation has recently taken place on tackling the plastic 
problem. 
 
It is imperative that the draft strategy not only be agreed and adopted by all partners, but they 
should also be actively committed and engaged in its delivery. This requires careful 
management, with appropriate timelines with milestones for engagement for each of the 
partners’ governance structures using project management techniques.  Delivery of the 
strategy should be owned and co-ordinated by the LWP. 
 
I hope that this response is useful and look forward to it being considered by the LWP in due 
course.  In the meantime, please let me know if you would like clarification on any of the issues 
contained within. 
 
Yours sincerely 

 
Cllr Richard Wright 
Leader of the Council 
 
 

 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Waste Strategy Public Consultation - Closes 2nd July 2018

The Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) sets out how the 
organisations which form the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) will work 
together to deliver waste management services which protect the environment and 
provide value for money.

The aim of this survey is to invite feedback from anyone with an interest in our waste 
services, and will be considered in finalising the JMWMS before it is adopted by each 
LWP council.

In completing this survey, please note that the JMWMS provides a strategic overview 
rather than making proposals for specific changes to services.  Any comments you 
wish to make regarding specific services, such as bin collections, should be made 
directly to your local council through their normal means of communication.

Please read the strategy before completing the survey or look at the summary 
document, which will help you to answer the questions.  You can find this online at:

www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-lincolnshire/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/

Alternatively, you can request a paper copy:

 Email: wastestrategy@lincolnshire.gov.uk
 Phone: 01522 782070

Some of the questions refer to the Environmental Report which has been prepared to 
accompany the Strategy.  You can access this document in any of the same ways 
as the JMWMS itself.

If you are completing this form by hand rather than online, please feel free to 
use a separate piece of paper if your comments won't fit in the space provided.  
Indicate clearly to which question you are referring.

Page 47

http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-lincolnshire/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/


1. In what capacity are you responding to this survey?

 Lincolnshire Resident
 County Councillor
X District Councillor
 Parish/Town Councillor
 Waste business employee/owner
 Neighbouring authority representative
 Other

If "other", please state:

2. In which area do you live or are you/your organisation based?

 Boston
 City of Lincoln
 East Lindsey
 North Kesteven
X South Holland
 South Kesteven
 West Lindsey
 Don't know/prefer not to say
 Outside Lincolnshire

If "Outside Lincolnshire ", please state where:

Page 48



3. Do you agree or disagree with the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership's vision 
for this Strategy?

“To seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, customer-friendly waste 
management solutions that give value for money to Lincolnshire.”

X Strongly agree  Disagree
 Agree  Strongly disagree

Why have you answered this way?
Involved in the production of this vision

4. Are there any key issues, other than those we have identified, which should 
be driving our Waste Strategy?

You can find information about this here:
• Summary – Section 1.3
• Full Document – Chapters 3 and 5

Yes X No

If you answered "no", then what else should we include?

Page 49



Our vision is "to seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, 
customer-friendly waste management solutions that give value for money to 
Lincolnshire".

5. Do you agree or disagree that the objectives we have set out will enable us to 
meet the challenges we face and therefore achieve our vision?

You can find information about this here:
• Summary – Section 1.4
• Full Document – Chapter 6

X Strongly agree  Disagree
 Agree  Strongly disagree

Why have you answered this way?

Seeks to strike a balance between managing the ongoing challenges that local 
government is experiencing in budget terms, with the expectations of its taxpayers.

6. Do you agree or disagree that our Forward Plan, as described in Chapter 7, 
contains all the actions we need to achieve our objectives?

You can find information about this here:
• Summary – Section 1.5
• Full Document – Chapter 7

 Strongly agree  Disagree
X Agree  Strongly disagree

Why have you answered this way?

It’s a roadmap, that allows residents to see the higher level options and ambitions.  
However, the real challenges will emerge once an action plan is produced and some 
contentious proposals and targets are being advanced.

7. Do you have any specific concerns about the strategy?

X Yes  No

If you answered "yes", please tell us what concerns you have.

As per my previous answer. That it is accepted as being a high level document, that 
will need to be underpinned by a detailed action plan for each of the proposals, 
adapted to take full account of the political position within each collection authority.

Page 50



8. Do you think the draft strategy could have a positive or negative impact on 
you (or someone you care for or support) due to any of the following? Tick all 
that apply

Positive 
impact 

Negative 
impact 

No impact Don’t know 

Age X
Sex (male/female) X
Disability X
Sexual orientation X
Pregnancy  and maternity X
Marriage and civil partnership X
Race (ethnicity) X
Religion or belief X
Gender reassignment X

If you have identified a potential impact, how would the proposed strategy impact you 
(or someone you care for or support) and how could any negative impacts be 
reduced?

A universal benefit of seeking to reduce the impact on council tax levels, by making 
our waste collection services as efficient and cost effective as possible, covers all of 
the above.  Is respect of the elderly, simplification of processes and waste 
management within the home must be another positive, but would also be beneficial 
to all residents.

Page 51



The remaining questions relate to the Environmental Report which accompanies the 
JMWMS.  This has been prepared as part of the Strategic Environmental 
Assessment, a process which we are required to undertake alongside the 
development of the JMWMS itself.

9. Does the Environmental Report correctly identify the likely significant effects 
of the draft Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy?

X Yes  No

If you answered "no", please tell us what else you think should be included.

10. Do you agree or disagree that the draft JMWMS has sufficiently taken 
account of the information provided in the Environmental Report?

 Strongly agree  Disagree
X Agree  Strongly disagree

If you disagree, please tell us what else you think should be taken into account.

Thank you for completing this survey.

Once the consultation period has ended, on 2nd July 2018, the Lincolnshire 
Waste Partnership will review the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy 
and Environmental Report in light of all responses received.

Page 52



Waste Strategy Public Consultation - Closes 2nd July 2018

The Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) sets out how the 
organisations which form the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) will work 
together to deliver waste management services which protect the environment and 
provide value for money.

The aim of this survey is to invite feedback from anyone with an interest in our waste 
services, and will be considered in finalising the JMWMS before it is adopted by each 
LWP council.

In completing this survey, please note that the JMWMS provides a strategic overview 
rather than making proposals for specific changes to services.  Any comments you 
wish to make regarding specific services, such as bin collections, should be made 
directly to your local council through their normal means of communication.

Please read the strategy before completing the survey or look at the summary 
document, which will help you to answer the questions.  You can find this online at:

www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-lincolnshire/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/

Alternatively, you can request a paper copy:

 Email: wastestrategy@lincolnshire.gov.uk
 Phone: 01522 782070

Some of the questions refer to the Environmental Report which has been prepared to 
accompany the Strategy.  You can access this document in any of the same ways 
as the JMWMS itself.

If you are completing this form by hand rather than online, please feel free to 
use a separate piece of paper if your comments won't fit in the space provided.  
Indicate clearly to which question you are referring.

Page 53

http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-lincolnshire/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/


1. In what capacity are you responding to this survey?

 Lincolnshire Resident
 County Councillor
 District Councillor
 Parish/Town Councillor
 Waste business employee/owner
 Neighbouring authority representative
X Other

If "other", please state:

This is the response from the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee at 
South Kesteven District Council.

2. In which area do you live or are you/your organisation based?

 Boston
City of Lincoln

 East Lindsey
 North Kesteven
 South Holland
x South Kesteven
 West Lindsey
 Don't know/prefer not to say
 Outside Lincolnshire

If "Outside Lincolnshire ", please state where:

Page 54



3. Do you agree or disagree with the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership's vision 
for this Strategy?

“To seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, customer-friendly waste 
management solutions that give value for money to Lincolnshire.”

X Strongly agree  Disagree
 Agree  Strongly disagree

Why have you answered this way?

We support the vision specifically around ensuring we seek innovative ideas by 
looking for new ideas and technologies. 

The move away from a specific recycling target is also welcomed as it needs to be the 
“whole picture” that needs to be evaluated rather than simply being target driven.

Whilst we have little influence over waste minimisation we would suggest that the 
strategy still allows for supporting associated initiatives such as education, as waste 
minimisation is the best environmental option.

4. Are there any key issues, other than those we have identified, which should 
be driving our Waste Strategy?

You can find information about this here:
• Summary – Section 1.3
• Full Document – Chapters 3 and 5

X Yes  No

If you answered "no", then what else should we include?

Many of the waste issues are driven by customer behaviours and expectations. This 
does need to be influenced through education and improved more regular 
information.

There should be reference to the wider global picture and concepts such as the 
circular economy.

Page 55



Our vision is "to seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, 
customer-friendly waste management solutions that give value for money to 
Lincolnshire".

5. Do you agree or disagree that the objectives we have set out will enable us to 
meet the challenges we face and therefore achieve our vision?

You can find information about this here:
• Summary – Section 1.4
• Full Document – Chapter 6

 Strongly agree  Disagree
X Agree  Strongly disagree

Why have you answered this way?

We would suggest the addition of an objective which is specific to delivering 
comprehensive waste education to our residents at every age level. 

6. Do you agree or disagree that our Forward Plan, as described in Chapter 7, 
contains all the actions we need to achieve our objectives?

You can find information about this here:
• Summary – Section 1.5
• Full Document – Chapter 7

 Strongly agree X Disagree
 Agree  Strongly disagree

Why have you answered this way?

The actions are not detailed enough at this stage.

Page 56



7. Do you have any specific concerns about the strategy?

X Yes  No

If you answered "yes", please tell us what concerns you have.

The areas of concern are:-

1. In this version there is not enough detail in the strategy.
2. It is more of a high level steer but low on commitment in its current form.
3. There are no or little references to costs both for the current position and for what 
the forecast growth means in real terms.
4. The strategy needs to clearly identify the consequences of what will occur if   
nothing is done ie the no change position as this would better inform decision making 
and improve support for the required actions. This needs to be demonstrated in terms 
of targets and in terms of the financial consequences.

8. Do you think the draft strategy could have a positive or negative impact on 
you (or someone you care for or support) due to any of the following? Tick all 
that apply

Positive 
impact 

Negative 
impact 

No impact Don’t know 

Age X
Sex (male/female) X
Disability X
Sexual orientation X
Pregnancy  and maternity X
Marriage and civil partnership X
Race (ethnicity) X
Religion or belief X
Gender reassignment X

If you have identified a potential impact, how would the proposed strategy impact you 
(or someone you care for or support) and how could any negative impacts be 
reduced?

This version of the strategy contains few actions that impact on the public. However 
any changes to waste/recycling collection services could have potential to impact 
individuals. 

Page 57



The remaining questions relate to the Environmental Report which accompanies the 
JMWMS.  This has been prepared as part of the Strategic Environmental 
Assessment, a process which we are required to undertake alongside the 
development of the JMWMS itself.

9. Does the Environmental Report correctly identify the likely significant effects 
of the draft Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy?

 Yes ? No

If you answered "no", please tell us what else you think should be included.

With little real detail in the strategy and associated actions it is difficult to assess.

10. Do you agree or disagree that the draft JMWMS has sufficiently taken 
account of the information provided in the Environmental Report?

 Strongly agree  Disagree
X Agree  Strongly disagree

If you disagree, please tell us what else you think should be taken into account.

See previous answers. There are obvious links but once more detail is available then 
this would need to reassessed. 

Thank you for completing this survey.

Once the consultation period has ended, on 2nd July 2018, the Lincolnshire 
Waste Partnership will review the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy 
and Environmental Report in light of all responses received.

Page 58



Waste Strategy Public Consultation - Closes 2nd July 2018

The Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) sets out how the 
organisations which form the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) will work 
together to deliver waste management services which protect the environment and 
provide value for money.

The aim of this survey is to invite feedback from anyone with an interest in our waste 
services, and will be considered in finalising the JMWMS before it is adopted by each 
LWP council.

In completing this survey, please note that the JMWMS provides a strategic overview 
rather than making proposals for specific changes to services.  Any comments you 
wish to make regarding specific services, such as bin collections, should be made 
directly to your local council through their normal means of communication.

Please read the strategy before completing the survey or look at the summary 
document, which will help you to answer the questions.  You can find this online at:

www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-lincolnshire/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/

Alternatively, you can request a paper copy:

 Email: wastestrategy@lincolnshire.gov.uk
 Phone: 01522 782070

Some of the questions refer to the Environmental Report which has been prepared to 
accompany the Strategy.  You can access this document in any of the same ways 
as the JMWMS itself.

If you are completing this form by hand rather than online, please feel free to 
use a separate piece of paper if your comments won't fit in the space provided.  
Indicate clearly to which question you are referring.

Page 59

http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-lincolnshire/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/


1. In what capacity are you responding to this survey?

 Lincolnshire Resident
 County Councillor
 District Councillor
 Parish/Town Councillor
 Waste business employee/owner
 Neighbouring authority representative
x Other

If "other", please state:

Prosperous Communities Committee, West Lindsey District Council

2. In which area do you live or are you/your organisation based?

 Boston
 City of Lincoln
 East Lindsey
 North Kesteven
 South Holland
 South Kesteven
x West Lindsey
 Don't know/prefer not to say
 Outside Lincolnshire

If "Outside Lincolnshire ", please state where:

Page 60



3. Do you agree or disagree with the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership's vision 
for this Strategy?

“To seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, customer-friendly waste 
management solutions that give value for money to Lincolnshire.”

 Strongly agree x Disagree
 Agree  Strongly disagree

Why have you answered this way?

The Vision is too generic and fails to demonstrate how objectives can be achieved 
given the unique challenges ahead for waste management in Lincolnshire.

4. Are there any key issues, other than those we have identified, which should 
be driving our Waste Strategy?

You can find information about this here:
• Summary – Section 1.3
• Full Document – Chapters 3 and 5

 Yes x No

If you answered "no", then what else should we include?

The Strategy at present is very generic and lacks specific and measurable 
targets. It is suggested that the final version contains high level targets and is 
as specific as possible around what it seeks to achieve.

Detailed Comments:

 The waste collection service in West Lindsey is very popular with residents 
and has won benchmarking awards on the national stage. Any future 
proposals should consider this level of satisfaction and should strive to reduce 
any negative impacts of service change which might result through the 
implementation of this strategy.

 Given the level of growth predicted in West Lindsey, the strategy should fully 
consider additional disposal options either in a standalone capacity or working 
with other partners. This should include disposal routes for residual, recyclate 
and organic waste.

 The strategy should consider how to encourage and incentivise residents to do 
the right thing with their waste in accordance to the Waste Hierarchy. The 
markets for recycled materials are notoriously dynamic-reducing 
contamination and improving capture rates would ensure the maximum value 
for these materials is gained.

Page 61



 Food waste should be considered following an appraisal of all available 
evidence including the results from the current pilot scheme.

 West Lindsey has a popular and successful commercial waste service, we 
should continue to support our businesses by providing a value for money and 
environmentally efficient service, the strategy should not damage the 
continuation of this service.

 The strategy should consider how to influence manufacturers to reduce 
packaging and ensure more materials they use are recyclable.

 The strategy should consider how to help residents dispose of other streams 
which are not currently collected at the kerbside e.g. batteries, small electrical 
goods and textiles.

 Technology and policy are moving fast, plastic bottle deposit scheme, plastic 
digesting enzymes, anaerobic digestion of food waste etc. Strategy needs to 
be agile, dynamic and flexible to exploit changes in waste technology

 The strategy should consider how to engage with residents in general and 
especially our future customers including schools and colleges.

 The Strategy should support the Circular Economy so that precious resources 
are not lost but get reused.

 The strategy should consider reciprocal arrangements with neighbouring 
Councils regarding use of Household Waste Recycling Centres 

 The strategy should further consider partnership working with neighbouring 
authorities

Our vision is "to seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, 
customer-friendly waste management solutions that give value for money to 
Lincolnshire".

5. Do you agree or disagree that the objectives we have set out will enable us to 
meet the challenges we face and therefore achieve our vision?

You can find information about this here:
• Summary – Section 1.4
• Full Document – Chapter 6

 Strongly agree x Disagree
 Agree  Strongly disagree

Why have you answered this way?

Members feel the Objectives are too vague and lack targets. They question how 
success will be measured when most proposals have ‘consider’, ‘explore’ or ‘seek to’ 
rather than ‘have a common set of recycling materials by a specific date’ or ‘improve 
the quality of recyclate by how much and by when’. Members wish to have sight of the 
proposed Action Plan which will support achieving these Objectives.

Page 62



6. Do you agree or disagree that our Forward Plan, as described in Chapter 7, 
contains all the actions we need to achieve our objectives?

You can find information about this here:
• Summary – Section 1.5
• Full Document – Chapter 7

 Strongly agree  Disagree
x Agree  Strongly disagree

Why have you answered this way?

Whilst the Forward Plan covers most themes, it appears very aspirational with a lack 
of identified actions. The proposed Action Plan needs to be considered in order to 
appraise the effectiveness of the Forward Plan.

7. Do you have any specific concerns about the strategy?

x Yes  No

If you answered "yes", please tell us what concerns you have.

As described in earlier responses, Members feel the Vision and Objectives are too 
generic, will fail to drive ambitious solutions and make it impossible to measure 
success.

Page 63



Your responses will be kept completely confidential and in accordance with the Data 
Protection Act 1998. Our aim is to not be intrusive and we will not ask irrelevant or 
unnecessary questions.

The Equality Act 2010 places organisations under a duty to ascertain how people with 
'protected characteristics' are impacted by an organisations activity and how steps 
may be taken to mitigate or eliminate adverse impact(s).

8. Do you think the draft strategy could have a positive or negative impact on 
you (or someone you care for or support) due to any of the following? Tick all 
that apply

Positive 
impact 

Negative 
impact 

No impact Don’t know 

Age x
Sex (male/female) x
Disability x
Sexual orientation x
Pregnancy  and maternity x
Marriage and civil partnership x
Race (ethnicity) x
Religion or belief x
Gender reassignment x

If you have identified a potential impact, how would the proposed strategy impact you 
(or someone you care for or support) and how could any negative impacts be 
reduced?

Changing collection methods could have an impact on older people, those with 
disabilities or those who are pregnant. Without understanding the possible changes, it 
is not possible to determine whether these changes would be positive, negative or 
neutral.

The remaining questions relate to the Environmental Report which accompanies the 
JMWMS.  This has been prepared as part of the Strategic Environmental 
Assessment, a process which we are required to undertake alongside the 
development of the JMWMS itself.

9. Does the Environmental Report correctly identify the likely significant effects 
of the draft Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy?

x Yes  No

If you answered "no", please tell us what else you think should be included.

Page 64



10. Do you agree or disagree that the draft JMWMS has sufficiently taken 
account of the information provided in the Environmental Report?

 Strongly agree  Disagree
x Agree  Strongly disagree

If you disagree, please tell us what else you think should be taken into account.

Thank you for completing this survey.

Once the consultation period has ended, on 2nd July 2018, the Lincolnshire 
Waste Partnership will review the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy 
and Environmental Report in light of all responses received.

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



LINCOLNSHIRE WASTE PARTNERSHIP 12 July 2018

SUBJECT:      
WASTE AND RECYCLING ACTION 
PROGRAMME (WRAP) REPORT INTO GREATER 
CONSISTENCY IN HOUSEHOLD WASTE 
RECYCLING FOR LINCOLNSHIRE

REPORT BY:     ADRIAN SELBY (WEST LINDSEY DISTRICT 
COUNCIL)

CONTACT NO: 01427 675154

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

In late 2016, WRAP announced some funding which Local Authorities could bid for in 
order to further understand the benefits of achieving Greater Consistency in 
Household Waste Recycling. Following agreement at Lincolnshire Waste Partnership, 
the Waste Collection Authorities (WCA's) and Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) jointly 
bid for funding to enable analysis of the current situation in Lincolnshire to be carried 
out. The bid was successful and renowned environmental consultants Ricardo were 
appointed to undertake the work. The aim of the work was as follows:

To explore options for the member authorities of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership 
(LWP) with the overall aim of identifying preferred options that would: 

o increase household waste recycling and composting percentages 
o reduce contamination in recycling 
o reduce residual household waste; 
o maximise efficiencies

All partners’ submitted data and Ricardo produced an interim report showing the 
current reality of Lincolnshire authorities’ performance when benchmarked against 
others and proposed a number of future scenarios to model, including the baseline, 
plus:

  as now, but with food waste in separate and POD vehicles,
  two stream recyclate collections including food waste either separate or on 

POD vehicles or
  multi-stream collections using bespoke collection vehicles.
  as now but with a reduction in contamination of recyclate, with separate food 

waste collections
  In addition, authorities asked for a scenario to be modelled where food waste 

would only be collected from urban areas.

Page 67

Agenda Item 9



Following this work, the options were weighted to take into account individual 
authority opinions on the following criteria

1. Impact on recycling rate. 
2. Value for Money
3. Environmental Impact
4. Ease of use and public satisfaction
5. Material Quality
6. Ease of implementation
7. Practicality of operating and sustaining service
8. Communication
9. Health & Safety

The results were then collated and can be seen in table 2 below.

Having fully evaluated the initial report, Officers felt it would be useful if further 
modelling could take place on a limited number of options, these were:

 The Baseline
 Previous Option 1a-Dedicated food waste to take into account revised pass 

rates and vehicles
 Previous Option 1a but with driver plus one collector for food waste rather than 

driver plus two
 As Option 1a but with three weekly residual collections (fortnightly in South 

Holland)

Each authority also received a bespoke report showing the impact on their own waste 
collection services.

DISCUSSIONS

Outcome is a comprehensive and well-evidenced report (see Appendix 1) which 
shows impact of harmonising collection methods across Lincs. It fits in with further 
strategic work being carried out by the Officer Working Group and direct comparison 
which actual costs can be achieved following evaluation of the South Kesteven food 
waste trial.

All options included collecting food waste, either on pods or using separate vehicles, 
have been considered.

Table 1 below shows the financial projections of the scenarios modelled in stage 1. 
For reference;

 Option 1a As now, but food waste with dedicated vehicles
 Option 1b As now, but food waste on POD vehicles
 Option 2a Two stream recycling, food waste with dedicated vehicles
 Option 2b Two stream recycling with food waste on PODs
 Option 3 Multi stream with food waste
 Option 1c reduction in contamination of 15% + food waste on PODs

Page 68



 Option 3 As now, separate food waste with dedicated vehicles

Table 2 shows the weighted option appraisal analysis undertaken as part of the Stage 
1 report

Boston City of 
Lincoln

East 
Lindsey

North 
Kesteven

South 
Holland

South 
Kesteven

West 
Lindsey

Baseline Current service 1 2 1 2 1 3 1

Option 1a
All as current with separate food waste 
collection in a dedicated vehcile

3 1 1 1 3 1 3

Option 1b
Food waste collected weekly co-collected 
with residual and dry recycling in RCV food 
waste pods to all hh

2 3 3 3 2 2 2

Option 2a
Fortnightly two stream (card and paper 
separate) with weekly separately collected 
food waste in dedicated vehciles

4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Option 2b
Fortnightly two stream (card and paper 
separate) with separate weekly food co-
collected in podded vehicles

5 5 5 6 6 5 6

Option 3
Weekly multi stream collections utilising 
Resource recovery vehicles

6 6 6 5 5 6 5

Option

In stage 2 further modelling was undertaken to consider sensitivities to the proposed 
food waste collections and the impact of three weekly residual collections. Table 3 
below shows the financial projections for this modelling. For ease Option B is Driver+2 
collectors collecting food waste, Option C is Driver plus 1 and Option D is three 
weekly collections.

Page 69



Table 3

A - Baseline B - FW D+2 C - FW D+1
D - Ext 

Res&FW D+1

Boston £3,090 £3,610 £3,580 £3,320
City of Lincoln £4,340 £5,240 £5,310 £4,790
East Lindsey £6,030 £7,050 £7,140 £6,740
North Kesteven £5,410 £6,060 £6,190 £5,830
South Holland £5,950 £6,820 £6,780 £5,370
South Kesteven £5,710 £6,490 £6,590 £6,100
West Lindsey £4,550 £5,350 £5,330 £4,970
New Transfer Station cost £0 £150 £150 £150
Total £35,080 £40,770 £41,070 £37,270

£5,690 £5,990 £2,190

Authority

Option

Difference to Baseline

The final report is summarised below;

 Varying the dry recycling service to two-stream or multi-stream would assist in 
addressing the current level of contamination in the recycling collection, but has not 
been a favoured approach, as identified in the Weighted Options Appraisal due to the 
extent of impact on costs and simplicity of services.

 Collecting food waste using dedicated vehicles was identified as a preferred Option 
should food waste collections be introduced, as it does not impact on existing services 
and allows for greater potential Partnership working. 

 Introducing a food waste collection significantly increases overall costs, as higher 
collection costs are not offset by reduced disposal costs. 

 Even in the scenario of three weekly residual collections, net combined collection 
and disposal costs do not fall sufficiently to represent a saving against current whole 
system costs. 

 Options which introduce food waste collections and increase dry recycling levels 
provide benefits in the longer term. Environmental performance improves, with 
increased recycling performance for all LAs, with rates for some authorities exceeding 
the current 50% target. 

 Diversion of residual tonnage to recycling and food waste collections creates 
additional capacity at the Energy from Waste (EfW) facility. This could be in the region 
of 20,000 tonnes with a further increase to 35,000 tonnes for the three-weekly 
residual collection scenario. 

 Creating some headroom at the facility potentially allows any spare capacity to be 
used as an income stream in the short term and in the medium to long term provides 
treatment capacity to deal with the expected waste growth in the region for a longer 
time-scale than currently anticipated. 

Page 70



 Freeing up processing capacity at the EfW would help delay the requirement for 
additional treatment capacity. This would represent a cost saving over the medium to 
long term through delaying a procurement exercise and also by procuring a contract 
with a capacity that is more tailored to exact needs longer term. Providing an 
extended timescale for developing a solution may enable the exploration of better 
value emerging solutions. 

OPTIONS

The WRAP report is a comprehensive and evidenced position statement for 
Lincolnshire authorities as they consider their future strategic options. It is however, 
an assessment of the current position and the baseline alternative does not consider 
future pressures on the services of the partners. All authorities report high levels of 
projected growth, the obvious impact of this is that disposal routes will need to be 
found for waste produced by these properties. Considering this, diversion of waste 
from Energy from Waste will ease the financial burden of disposal and make the 
options identified in the report appear more attractive. 

The Partnership should consider commissioning a further piece of work to understand 
the impact of future growth on:
 

 the potential benefits of a separate food waste collection over an extended 
period of time, taking into account future housing growth,  and noting that it is 
not currently identified as financially viable in the short/medium term  (if just 
based on current operational and disposal costs in isolation).

 the impact of two stream collections

 identifying the ‘extended timescale’ associated with increased diversion that 
potentially would be available to develop a more sustainable long-term solution 
for the treatment of the county’s household waste (i.e. how much additional 
time would the separate collection of food waste ‘buy’ before additional 
residual disposal / treatment is required?).

Additionally, there remains the immediate issue of high contamination in Mixed Dry 
Recyclables (MDR), this is especially prominent as the WDA considers tactics for re-
letting the disposal contract for this stream. Therefore Officers recommend 
commissioning the following piece of work;

 To provide the LWP with support to develop an effective strategy / action plan 
which could be implemented quickly to address the issues of contamination in 
the dry recycling stream and understand both the impact of this on residual 
waste disposal, and costs. 

Page 71



APPENDICES 

Appendix 1 - Full WRAP Report

Appendix 2 - Further work schedule

RECOMMENDATIONS

1. That Lincolnshire Waste Partnership acknowledges receipt of the WRAP 
Report on Greater Consistency in Household Waste Recycling in Lincolnshire

2. That the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership considers approving the further work 
(as at Appendix 2) around growth and its impact on resources, the impact of 
two stream collections and to develop a short term strategy to deal with 
contamination in MDR

Page 72



 

 

Waste & Recycling Services Support 

to Lincolnshire Waste Partnership  

 

  

   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Project code: RCY128-007  
Research date: June 2017 – March 2018 Date: 07/05/2018 
 

Page 73



2 

 

WRAP’s vision is a world in which 
resources are used sustainably. 
 
Our mission is to accelerate the move to a 
sustainable resource-efficient economy 
through re-inventing how we design, 
produce and sell products; re-thinking 
how we use and consume products; and 
re-defining what is possible through 
recycling and re-use. 
 

Find out more at www.wrap.org.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Written by: Chris Hoy, Jamie Warmington, Ramy Salemdeeb, John Woodruff 
 

 

Page 74

http://www.wrap.org.uk/


3 

 

 

While we have tried to make sure this report is accurate, we cannot accept responsibility or be held legally responsible for any loss or damage arising out of or in 

connection with this information being inaccurate, incomplete or misleading. This material is copyrighted. You can copy it free of charge as long as the material is 

accurate and not used in a misleading context. You must identify the source of the material and acknowledge our copyright. You must not use material to endorse or 

suggest we have endorsed a commercial product or service.  For more details please see our terms and conditions on our website at www.wrap.org.uk 

 

Page 75



 

Waste & Recycling Services Support to Lincolnshire Waste Partnership   4 

 

Executive summary 

The research for this report, commissioned by WRAP and carried out by Ricardo Energy & 
Environment, has been undertaken to help identify opportunities to increase kerbside 
recycling levels across the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP). The Partnership includes 
Boston Borough Council, East Lindsey District Council, City of Lincoln Council, North Kesteven 
District Council, South Holland District Council, South Kesteven District Council, West Lindsey 
District Council and Lincolnshire County Council. 

The report explores options around the Councils’ existing refuse, dry recycling and organics 
collection systems, capacity restrictions for residual waste, options for rolling out a separate 
weekly food waste collection service and the impact of implementing a chargeable garden 
waste service. It considers these issues from the perspective of: 

 Capacity for residual waste at the North Hykeham Energy from Waste (EfW) plant 
which is approaching capacity  

 The predicted future housing growth within the county, which will increase waste 
arisings and put further pressure on capacity at the EfW plant  

 The lack of available landfill in Lincolnshire 

 The issues with high contamination rates in the dry recycling stream. 

 The potential for achieving cost savings. 

 The potential for increasing the current recycling rate across the LWP 

The report provides the results of the modelling of various service scenarios, as Options for 
the Councils to consider going forward. The modelling was undertaken using KAT (WRAP’s 
Microsoft Excel based Kerbside Analysis Tool). The report provides full details of the current 
service profiles, and benchmarks each Council’s performance against other local authorities 
with similar demographics. The performance outputs, resource implications and both net and 
gross costs of each of the service scenarios (including the cost of disposing of and/or 
processing materials and the potential income from dry recycling), have been calculated for 
each Council, and the results are presented in the main body of the report. This also includes 
a ‘whole system cost’ analysis of each Option, enabling the financial impacts to be explored 
in terms of the total collection and disposal costs across the LWP as a whole, enabling the 
overall costs and/or savings to be assessed.   

As background, and in order to fully explain how the outputs have been achieved, 
information on the baseline calculations and assumptions for the service scenario options 
have been provided.  

Options modelling  

To select the Options for modelling, discussions were held between Ricardo Energy & 
Environment, LWP and WRAP at the project inception meeting. The Options are fully 
described in Table ES1 below. The following terms are used within the report to describe 
how materials are presented at the kerbside and collected within the vehicle: 

 Separate – a dedicated vehicle will be used to collect this material. 

 Pod – a fitted ‘pod’ compartment on a collection vehicle will be used to collect this 
material. 

 Two-stream – Collection of dry recyclates in two streams with either glass or paper 
collected and separated both within residents’ containers and in separate 
compartments on a collection vehicle. 

 Co-mingled – Collection of all dry recyclates (paper, card, plastics, cans, glass) within 
one container and in one vehicle compartment. 

 Multi-stream - Collection of all dry recyclates (paper, card, plastics, cans, glass) within 
two boxes, which are sorted at the kerbside and placed in multiple vehicle 

Page 76



5 

 

compartments. Food waste is also collected on the vehicle from an additional 
container provided to the householder. 

Table ES 1: Description of Options modelled  

Option Residual waste Dry recycling 
Garden 

waste 
Food waste 

1a As current As current As current 

Separate weekly via 

dedicated 7.5 tonne vehicles 

to all hh 

1b 

As current except 

using 26 tonne RCVs 

with food waste 

pods 

As current except using 26 

tonne RCVs with food waste 

pods 

As current 

Separate weekly co-collected 

with residual and dry 

recyclables in RCV food 

waste pods to all hh 

2a As current 

Fortnightly two-stream 

(separate paper and card) 

via 240 litre wheeled bins 

and sack; 26 tonne split 

body RCVs 

As current 

Separate weekly via 

dedicated 7.5 tonne vehicles 

to all hh 

2b 

As current except 

using 26 tonne RCVs 

with food waste 

pods 

Fortnightly two-stream 

(separate paper and card) 

via 240 litre wheeled bins 

and sack; 26 tonne split 

body RCVs with food pods 

As current 

Separate weekly co-collected 

with residual and dry 

recyclables in RCV food 

waste pods to all hh 

3 As current 

Weekly via multi-stream 

collection utilising Resource 

Recovery Vehicles 

As current 

Separate weekly co-collected 

with multi-stream dry 

recyclables utilising Resource 

Recovery Vehicle to all hh 

1c As current 

As current but reduction in 

contamination of dry 

recycling to 15%. 

As current 

Separate weekly co-collected 

with residual and dry 

recyclables in RCV food 

waste pods to all hh 

1d As current As current As current 

Separate weekly via 

dedicated 7.5 tonne vehicles 

to reduced number of 

households. 

Note: For South Holland, all the Options assume weekly collections are maintained. 

For each Council, the Baseline model, representing the current service, is utilised as the basis 
for modelling each of the Options. It should be noted that throughout this section, the 
differences between the resource requirements and costs of the Options should be used to 
assess the relative and proportionate differences in costs of future collection options compared 
to the current Baseline, rather than be used for budgetary purposes. 

In order to undertake the KAT modelling, a series of assumptions were agreed with WRAP 
and the Council, and applied as inputs into each of the models. The assumptions included 
the set-out and participation rates (how frequently residents place their materials out for 
collection each week measured over three consecutive collection periods), the tonnage of 
food waste assumed to be captured in relevant Options, likely yields of dry recycling, 
contamination rates and infrastructure requirements. These were verified and signed-off by 
WRAP and LWP. In each of the Options, the potential income from the dry recycling 
collections was modelled with different market values for separately collected and mixed 
recycling factored in.  

Key Observations  

 It can be seen from Figure ES 1 below that all modelled Options represent a higher 
cost than the current baseline service.  

Page 77



6 

 

 The highest performing Options increased recycling rates by an average of 7%. 

 The introduction of food waste recycling would divert ~20,000 tonnes of waste per 
year from the residual stream. 

 A new transfer station facility would be required in the vicinity of the EfW plant  

 
Figure ES 1: Total costs (WCA & WDA costs) £’000s 

 

 
 
Options Appraisal 

Following the initial assessment of the Options, an appraisal of each Option was carried out 
by LWP, using a weighted criteria approach. This ranked the Options as shown in Figure ES 
2. As can be seen, the cost implications led to the current service being the favoured 
approach for some authorities, whilst the addition of a food waste collection using a 
dedicated vehicle (Options 1a) was favoured by other authorities.  

 
Figure ES 2: Weighted Options Appraisal ranking   

 

Boston
City of 

Lincoln

East 

Lindsey

North 

Kesteven

South 

Holland

South 

Kesteven

West 

Lindsey

Baseline Current service 1 2 1 2 1 3 1

Option 1a
All as current with separate food waste 

collection in a dedicated vehcile
3 1 1 1 3 1 3

Option 1b

Food waste collected weekly co-collected 

with residual and dry recycling in RCV food 

waste pods to all hh

2 3 3 3 2 2 2

Option 2a

Fortnightly two stream (card and paper 

separate) with weekly separately collected 

food waste in dedicated vehciles

4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Option 2b

Fortnightly two stream (card and paper 

separate) with separate weekly food co-

collected in podded vehicles

5 5 5 6 6 5 6

Option 3
Weekly multi stream collections utilising 

Resource recovery vehicles
6 6 6 5 5 6 5

Option

Page 78



7 

 

 
Sensitivities 
Following an extensive review of the first phase of analysis, meetings were held with the 
Partnership and WRAP, and further sensitivity testing was agreed and subsequently 
modelled. Full details can be found in the main report but these further scenarios proved to 
provide little improvement except for Option D. 
 
Option D, the scenario of moving to a 3-weekly collection service for residual waste (AWC for 
South Holland) is modelled as:   

 Achieving a degree of waste prevention, representing a 4% reduction in overall 
kerbside waste collected (refuse, recycling and organic). 

 Improving dry recycling tonnages by 5% across all materials.  

 Improving food waste tonnages by an average of 35%.  

As can be seen in Figure ES 3, Option D represents the least expensive methodology for the 
introduction of food waste collections across the LWP area, but still represents an increase 
on current cost levels. 
 
Figure ES 3: Sensitivity Scenarios: Total costs (WCA & WDA costs) £’000s 

 
 

Summary 
 

 Varying the dry recycling service to two-stream or multi-stream would assist in 
addressing the current level of contamination in the recycling collection, but has not 
been a favoured approach, as identified in the Weighted Options Appraisal.  
 

 Collecting food waste using dedicated vehicles was identified as a preferred Option 
should food waste collections be introduced, as it does not impact on existing 
services and allows for greater potential Partnership working.  
 

 Introducing a food waste collection increases overall costs, as higher collection costs 
are not completely offset by reduced disposal costs.  
 

 Even in the scenario of three weekly residual collections, net combined collection and 
disposal costs do not fall sufficiently to represent a saving against current whole 
system costs.  

A - Baseline B - FW D+2 C - FW D+1
D - Ext 

Res&FW D+1

Boston £3,090 £3,610 £3,580 £3,320

City of Lincoln £4,340 £5,240 £5,310 £4,790

East Lindsey £6,030 £7,050 £7,140 £6,740

North Kesteven £5,410 £6,060 £6,190 £5,830

South Holland £5,950 £6,820 £6,780 £5,370

South Kesteven £5,710 £6,490 £6,590 £6,100

West Lindsey £4,550 £5,350 £5,330 £4,970

New Transfer Station cost £0 £150 £150 £150

Total £35,080 £40,770 £41,070 £37,270

£5,690 £5,990 £2,190

Authority

Option

Difference to Baseline

Page 79



8 

 

 

 Options which introduce food waste collections and increase dry recycling levels 
provide benefits in the longer term. Environmental performance improves, with 
increased recycling performance for all LAs, with rates for some authorities exceeding 
the current 50% target. 

 

 Diversion of residual tonnage to recycling and food waste collections creates 
additional capacity at the EfW facility. This could be in the region of 20,000 tonnes 
with a further increase to 35,000 tonnes for the three-weekly residual collection 
scenario. 

 

 Creating some headroom at the facility allows any spare capacity to be used as an 
income stream in the short term and in the medium to long term provides treatment 
capacity to deal with the expected waste growth in the region for a longer time-scale 
than currently anticipated.  
 

 Freeing up processing capacity at the EfW would help delay the requirement for 
additional treatment capacity. This would represent a cost saving over the medium to 
long term through delaying a procurement exercise and also by procuring a contract 
with a capacity that is more tailored to exact needs longer term. Providing an 
extended timescale for developing a solution may enable the exploration of better 
value emerging solutions. 
 

Page 80



 

Waste & Recycling Services Support to Lincolnshire Waste Partnership   9 

 

Contents 

1 Introduction ............................................................................................... 12 
2 Methodology ............................................................................................... 13 

2.1 Options analysis ....................................................................................... 13 
2.2 Costings .................................................................................................. 15 
2.3 Options appraisal approach ....................................................................... 15 
2.4 Whole systems cost .................................................................................. 16 
2.5 Assumptions ............................................................................................ 18 

2.5.1 System performance ...................................................................... 18 
2.6 WDA cost assumptions ............................................................................. 20 

3 Combined Partnership Results of the Phase One modelling ....................... 25 
3.1 Total Gross Collection Costs ...................................................................... 25 
3.2 Additional Option (Boston only) – Option 2c ............................................... 27 
3.3 Total Gross Disposal Costs ........................................................................ 29 
3.4 Whole system costs .................................................................................. 31 
3.5 Recycling rates ........................................................................................ 33 

4 Options Appraisal ....................................................................................... 35 
4.1.1 Options Rankings ........................................................................... 36 

4.2 Preferred Option for next phase of modelling? ............................................ 39 
5 Phase 2 Sensitivity analysis ........................................................................ 40 

5.1 Sensitivity Analysis Part one: Scenarios A - D ............................................. 40 
5.2 Sensitivity Analysis Part one: Results ......................................................... 42 

5.2.1 Impact on residual ......................................................................... 42 
5.2.2 Impact on kerbside recycling rate .................................................... 43 
5.2.3 Gross collection costs ..................................................................... 44 
5.2.4 Trends analysis (gross collection costs) ............................................ 44 
5.2.5 Gross WDA costs ........................................................................... 45 
5.2.6 Overall whole system cost .............................................................. 46 

5.3 Sensitivity Analysis Part two: Food on pod based vehicles with residual 
collected on a three-weekly cycle (Scenario E) ...................................................... 47 

5.3.1 Sensitivity Analysis Part two: results ................................................ 47 
5.4 Sensitivity Analysis Part three: Additional sensitivity - Varying food waste 
collected ............................................................................................................ 48 
5.5 Part four: Scenario 5 (varying the MRF gate fee) ........................................ 49 
5.6 Introducing charging for garden waste (West Lindsey Only) ........................ 50 
5.7 Summary of sensitivity analysis conducted ................................................. 51 

6 Future proofing ........................................................................................... 52 
6.1 Residual Capacity ..................................................................................... 52 
6.2 Contamination of dry recycling .................................................................. 54 
6.3 Cost savings ............................................................................................ 55 

7 Conclusion .................................................................................................. 56 
Appendix 1: Modelling limitations ........................................................................ 59 
Appendix 2: Drivers for Change ........................................................................... 61 
Appendix 3: Detailed Options appraisal ............................................................... 67 
Appendix 4 Sensitivity Assumptions .................................................................... 76 
Appendices 5-11: Individual WCA reports ............................................................ 84 
Appendices 12: Benchmarking report .................................................................. 84 
 
Figures 
Figure 3-1 Trends in collection costs for Partnership. ....................................................... 26 
Figure 3-2 Option 2c collection costs (as modelled for Boston only) .................................. 28 

Page 81



10 

 

Figure 3-3 Trends of WCA apportioned disposal costs ...................................................... 30 
Figure 3-4 Summary of Whole system costs (£’000s) ....................................................... 32 
Figure 3-5 Recycling Rates per Option ............................................................................ 34 
Figure 4-1 Options appraisal ranking – unweighted ......................................................... 36 
Figure 4-2 Options appraisal ranking – weighted ............................................................. 38 
Figure 4-3 Weighted ranking with Option 1c and 1d removed .......................................... 39 
Figure 5-1 Kerbside recycling rates of sensitivity scenarios considered in part one of the 
analysis. ...................................................................................................................... 43 
Figure 5-2 Trend analysis of gross collection costs of sensitivity scenarios considered in part 
one. ............................................................................................................................ 45 
Figure 5-3 Total collection and disposal costs for the Partnership, shown per LA. ............... 46 
Figure 5-4 Gross collection costs of sensitivity scenarios investigated in part one and the 
South Kesteven bespoke option (Scenario E). ................................................................. 48 
Figure 5-5 MRF fees over time (source: Wrap Gate Fees reports). .................................... 49 
Figure 6-1 Residual waste from collection authorities for the different Sensitivity Scenarios 53 
 
Tables 
Table 2-1 Future options to be modelled ........................................................................ 14 
Table 2.2 - Scenario Assumptions – Food Waste yields .................................................... 19 
Table 2-3 Contamination assumptions ............................................................................ 19 
Table 2-4 Estimated Material Values............................................................................... 22 
Table 2-5 Haulage costs for food waste .......................................................................... 23 
Table 2-6 Haulage cost estimates apportioned to each WCA based on food tonnage delivered 
to WTSs (no direct delivery to food facility) .................................................................... 24 
Table 2-7 Haulage cost estimates apportioned to each WCA based on food tonnage delivered 
to WTSs (West Lindsey direct delivers to food facility) ..................................................... 24 
Table 3-1 Waste collection costs (£,000) ........................................................................ 25 
Table 3-2 Summary of WCA apportioned disposal costs (£’000s) ...................................... 29 
Table 3-3 Summary of Whole system costs ..................................................................... 31 
Table 4-1 Agreed Criteria .............................................................................................. 35 
Table 5-1 Sensitivity analysis scenarios included in the project. ........................................ 40 
Table 5-2 Collection frequency of investigated waste collection rounds in scenario D. ......... 41 
Table 5-3 Food waste collected (kh/hh/week) for all LAs. ................................................ 41 
Table 5-4 Collection frequency of investigated waste collection rounds for South Holland 
Lindsey scenario D ....................................................................................................... 42 
Table 5-5 Estimated residual waste yields (kg/hh/yr) collected across all local authorities. .. 43 
Table 5-6 Projected gross collection costs of sensitivity scenarios per LA. (Colour of cells 
scaled on value: Green = Lowest cost; Red =Highest cost) (£’000) .................................. 44 
Table 5-7 Projected gross WDA costs for each collection Authority. (£000’s) ...................... 45 
Table 5-8 collection and apportioned WDA (whole system) costs for each authority. (£000’s)
 .................................................................................................................................. 46 
Table 5-9 Collection frequency plan for different rounds. ................................................. 47 
Table 5-10 WDA costs of scenarios A, B and C using different food waste yields. ............... 49 
Table 5-11 Potential savings due to securing lower MRF gate fee across scenarios A to D. .. 50 
 

Page 82



 

Waste & Recycling Services Support to Lincolnshire Waste Partnership   11 

 

Glossary 

Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership 

The Partnership includes Boston Borough Council, East Lindsey 
District Council, City of Lincoln Council, North Kesteven District 
Council, South Holland District Council, South Kesteven District 
Council, West Lindsey District Council and Lincolnshire County 
Council. 

  
Co-mingled 
  

Collection of all dry recyclates (paper, card, glass, plastics, cans) 
within one container and within one vehicle compartment 
 

Two Stream Collection of dry recyclates in two streams with either glass or paper 
collected and separated both within containers and collection vehicle 
compartments. 
 

Multi stream Collection of dry recyclates in three streams with both glass and 
paper collected and separated both within containers and collection 
vehicle compartments. 
 

Separate A dedicated vehicle will be used to collect this material 
 

Pod 
 
 
Whole system 
costs 

A fitted ‘pod’ compartment on a collection vehicle will be used to 
collect this material 
 
Combined waste collection and disposal costs  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

 
 
 
 

Acknowledgements 

Ricardo Energy & Environment would like to thank the officers of Boston Borough Council, 
East Lindsey District Council, City of Lincoln Council, North Kesteven District Council, South 
Holland District Council, South Kesteven District Council, West Lindsey District Council and 
Lincolnshire County Council and both Mike Gardner and Sam Kirk of WRAP for their support. 

Page 83



 

Waste & Recycling Services Support to Lincolnshire Waste Partnership   12 

 

1 Introduction 
 
This report considers the options for the future delivery of the household waste collection 
services in Lincolnshire. It describes the outcomes of the analysis Ricardo Energy & 
Environment have carried out on behalf of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) as part 
of a WRAP commission.  
 
The project is part of an overall programme of work WRAP is conducting with local 
authorities to examine the business case for greater consistency in household recycling in 
England. 
 
The framework for greater consistency, developed by a sector-wide steering group chaired 
by WRAP, intends to increase recycling, improve the quality of recycled materials, save 
money and offer a good service to residents. In particular, the framework explores the 
impact of the introduction of the collection of a consistent suite of materials from all 
households as outlined within the Framework, namely: paper, card, glass, plastics, metals 
and food.  
 
The objectives of this aspect of the project were to: 
 

▪ assess the business case for the introduction of countywide separate weekly food 
waste collections alongside both existing and reduced residual waste collections; 

▪ assess the opportunities for the member authorities of the LWP to access a county 
wide food waste treatment contract; 

▪ assess the implications for household waste disposal options and ‘whole system 
costs’; and 

▪ enable the Business Case for greater consistency in waste and recycling service 
provision in England to be tested at the local level. 
 

 
The project also addresses a number of specific challenges Lincolnshire is currently facing 
regarding the collection and disposal of its household waste: 
 

▪ The North Hykeham Energy from Waste (EfW) plant which opened in 2014 is already 
approaching capacity 

▪ Available landfill in Lincolnshire, which is all privately owned and controlled and thus 
beyond the control of the local authorities, is scheduled for closure (N.B. this situation 
is subject to ongoing negotiations) 

▪ Record future housing growth within the county is predicted, which will increase 
waste arisings and put further pressure on capacity at the EfW plant  

▪ There are significant issues with contamination in the dry recycling stream. 
▪ A number of authorities are looking for cost savings. 
 

These challenges, and others being faced by the Partnership, are linked, and changes in one 
area of the Partnership or services can have an influence on others. The project thus 
explores additional options which could generate benefits from greater consistency across 
the Partnership.  This project thus incorporates information and clarity to help the 
Partnership consider the following key areas: 
 

• Contamination and non-target materials in the dry recyclable stream; 

• Increasing yields of kerbside residual waste; 

• The addition of separately collected food waste; 

• Treatment of household food waste separately collected in Lincolnshire; 

Page 84



 

13 

 

• Contractual and operational constraints in relation to any service change; and 

• The likely impact of a service change on the other waste streams, such as those 

controlled by the Waste Disposal Authority (WDA). 

This report thus presents the findings from modelling work exploring the relative merits of a 
number of different waste and recycling collection systems conducted for the seven 
individual authorities within the Partnership, namely: 

• Boston Borough Council (Boston) 
• East Lindsey District Council (East Lindsey) 
• City of Lincoln Council (Lincoln)  
• North Kesteven District Council (North Kesteven) 
• South Holland District Council (South Holland) 
• South Kesteven District Council (South Kesteven)  
• West Lindsey District Council (West Lindsey)  

 
The project is comprised of five distinct phases, moving from data gathering through 
benchmarking, modelling of agreed collection methodology options, analysis of the cost 
implications of each option for each authority, and exploring the overall impact of each 
option across the LWP from the perspectives of performance, environmental benefit and 
financial impact. 
 
The collated data, benchmarking, Baseline KAT model and assumptions for the options are 
provided in Appendix 3, which is a copy of the interim report provided previously. 
 
This report presents the cost implications of each Option for each authority and the overall 
impact of each Option across the LWP from the perspectives of performance, environmental 
benefit and financial impact. The individual WCA results are provided within Appendices 5-
11, with the Partnership results and main assumptions discussed in the following sections. 
 
 
2 Methodology  
 

2.1 Options analysis 
 
Analysing the costs and resources associated with different waste and recycling collection 
Options allows each Council and the LWP to make informed decisions regarding alternative 
methodologies for the delivery of the collection services.  
 
In order to determine the Options to be modelled, detailed discussions were held between 
Ricardo Energy & Environment, WRAP and LWP officers at the Project Inception Meeting.  
  

Page 85



 

14 

 

 
The Options shown below in Table 2-1 were selected to test a range of potential service 
changes. 
 
Table 2-1 Future options to be modelled 

Option Residual waste Dry recycling 
Garden 

waste 
Food waste 

1a As current As current As current 

Separate weekly via 

dedicated 7.5 tonne vehicles 

to all hh 

1b 

As current except 

using 26 tonne RCVs 

with food waste 

pods 

As current except using 26 

tonne RCVs with food waste 

pods 

As current 

Separate weekly co-collected 

with residual and dry 

recyclables in RCV food 

waste pods to all hh 

2a As current 

Fortnightly two-stream 

(separate paper and card) 

via 240 litre wheeled bins 

and sack; 26 tonne split 

body RCVs 

As current 

Separate weekly via 

dedicated 7.5 tonne vehicles 

to all hh 

2b 

As current except 

using 26 tonne RCVs 

with food waste 

pods 

Fortnightly two-stream 

(separate paper and card) 

via 240 litre wheeled bins 

and sack; 26 tonne split 

body RCVs with food pods 

As current 

Separate weekly co-collected 

with residual and dry 

recyclables in RCV food 

waste pods to all hh 

3 As current 

Weekly via multi-stream 

collection utilising Resource 

Recovery Vehicles 

As current 

Separate weekly co-collected 

with multi-stream dry 

recyclables utilising Resource 

Recovery Vehicle to all hh 

1c As current 

As current but reduction in 

contamination of dry 

recycling to 15%. 

As current 

Separate weekly co-collected 

with residual and dry 

recyclables in RCV food 

waste pods to all hh 

1d As current As current As current 

Separate weekly via 

dedicated 7.5 tonne vehicles 

to reduced number of 

households. 

Note: For South Holland, all the Options assume weekly collections are maintained. 

For each Council, the Baseline model is utilised as the basis for modelling each of the 
Options. 
 
A number of assumptions were used in the Options modelling, many of which utilise 
information from WRAP in order to benchmark and compare the performance of different 
collection methodologies and to ensure the use of appropriate data in the models. The key 
assumptions are: 
 

• Projected food waste yields  

• Projected multi-stream and two-stream dry recycling yields  

• Projected contamination rates 

• Food waste treatment assumptions  

 
For each Option, the associated resources are modelled, including the required number and 
type of vehicles, the number of front-line operatives and the number and type of containers 
required (including both new containers where necessary and replacement containers at an 
assumed percentage replacement rate).  

Page 86



 

15 

 

 
The results of the initial Options modelling are provided within the individual authority 
appendices. In each case, this includes the projected recycling rate for each of the Options 
and the associated resource requirements. 
 
It should be noted that for the purposes of this exercise, the overall tonnage of total waste 
arisings remains constant, as no waste minimisation effect has been modelled. 
 
 

2.2 Costings 
 
The collection modelling has been undertaken using the KAT collection model. KAT is a 
Microsoft © Excel TM workbook that enables projections of infrastructure requirements and 
associated costs for the implementation of different kerbside household waste collections 
within a local authority to be calculated. KAT thus shows the relative and comparative costs 
and performance of the different service options modelled.  
 
The annual gross collection cost of each Option, as modelled through KAT, includes the cost 
of front-line operatives, supervision, overheads, annualised container costs (including the 
purchase of new containers, where necessary, and replacement containers at an assumed 
percentage replacement rate), vehicle costs (depreciated over an agreed period) and vehicle 
standing and running costs and fuel.  
 
The gross collection costs exclude recycling credits, MRF gates fees and any material income 
from recycled materials and any disposal costs. 
 
It should be noted that the results from the modelling (the differences between the current 
resource requirements and the costs of the Options) should be used to assess the relative 
and proportionate differences in costs of future collection Options against the current 
baseline, rather than be used for budgetary purposes. The Baseline collection costs are an 
estimate based on latest market data (vehicles, container, etc) and local data, such as staff 
salaries, etc. Therefore, the Baseline costs will not match the actual costs incurred by an 
authority.   
 
The results of the costings projection for each Option are provided within the individual 
authority sections. This enables a comparison of the projected recycling rate for each of the 
Options, the resource requirements involved and the associated capital and revenue cost 
implications over time. 
 
 

2.3 Options appraisal approach 
 
Based on the Options being assessed, our understanding of LWP’s priorities based on 
discussion at the inception meeting, feedback from the recent Joint Municipal Waste 
Management Strategy workshops and the original project specification, an initial set of 
criteria were developed using our experience from other similar options appraisals. These 
were discussed further at the project meeting on 7th September 2017 and a final set of 
criteria agreed.  
 
The criteria utilised were: 
 

• Impact on recycling rate.  
• Value for Money 
• Environmental Impact 

Page 87



 

16 

 

• Ease to use and public satisfaction 
• Material Quality 
• Ease of implementation 
• Practicality of operating and sustaining service 
• Communication 

 
 
It was proposed that criteria weightings were used as part of this evaluation process.  Each 
authority’s perception of the importance of each criterion differs, therefore it was agreed that 
each authority develop their own bespoke weightings. 
 
Because of the need to include non-quantifiable impacts within the Options appraisal 
process, quantitative scores for non-numeric criteria needed to be developed. As a result, a 
simple Red, Amber Green approach was utilised to score all criteria relative to the baseline 
collection system. This enabled a simple scoring matrix to be applied, illustrating the relative 
risk profile of the criteria, providing a further layer of analysis to enable comprehensive 
consideration of the Options. 
 
Following this analysis, a preferred Option was agreed with each WCA to allow further 
sensitivity analysis to be conducted in Phase 2 of the project. In particular: 

• changes to the frequency of residual collections; 
• the introduction of different residual containers; 
• the introduction of charges for the collection of garden waste; and, 
• collection of higher quantities of food waste  

 
The results of the sensitivity analyses are presented in section 6 of this report. 
 

2.4 Whole systems cost 
 
The Options appraisal and modelling requires the generation of estimated treatment and 
disposal cost components to generate a total (or ‘whole systems’) cost (collection and 
disposal) for each district council.  
 
This exercise utilises the projected tonnages for each district council, and using costs 
provided by the County Council, calculates the disposal costs related to the material 
collected. The disposal costs will be a composite of landfill and EfW gate fees, gate fees at 
recyclate reprocessors, and will allow for any income received for recyclate. The 
infrastructure and transport costs incurred by the County’s disposal function will also be 
incorporated. 
 
This enables an assessment to be made of the disposal costs for the Baseline service, which 
can then be compared with the equivalent disposal cost for each of the Options. When 
combined with the gross collection costs for each Option, this provides an illustration of the 
combined financial impact of service change for each of the Options, on a ‘per district 
council’ basis. 
 
The collection and disposal models for each district council are then combined, to develop an 
illustration of the total Lincolnshire-wide costs – collection and disposal – of each Option. 
 
The aim is to demonstrate cost and performance across the whole of the two-tier authority, 
encompassing revised collection costs for each district council, initial infrastructure 
investment for the Waste Collection Authorities and the Waste Disposal Authority, and the 
resulting impact on disposal and treatment costs, both across the two-tier area and on a ‘per 
district council’ basis. 

Page 88



 

17 

 

 
Ricardo has developed a process to model all the elements of cost, performance and risk 
across a two-tier area. By focussing on this holistic ‘whole service’ approach, this process 
identifies and avoids the problem of ‘cost-shunting’ across the two tiers of local government. 
It enables quantification of capital investment and ongoing revenue costs affecting each 
collection authority whilst also incorporating additional requirements for the disposal 
authority, such as adaptations to transfer stations, additional transportation costs to new 
reprocessors and any revision to residual waste disposal arrangements in light of lower 
tonnages, revised composition or calorific value.   
 
To build this model, the complexities of Lincolnshire’s current disposal arrangements have 
required assumptions to be made which will require further exploratory work to be carried 
out to confirm. 
 

• The value of separated paper is based on the average price of mixed paper over the 
last five years. The costs for bulking and transferring recyclables has been estimated 
and included. 

 
• It has been assumed that food waste will be delivered to a specific processing site 

(the Hemswell Biogas facility in Gainsborough), to enable assessment of transport 
practicalities and costs; a contractual arrangement would need to be entered into 
should this be required. The cost of bulking and haulage has been estimated and 
included in the analysis. 

 
• Each Option represents a change in the relative quantities of materials (residual, 

garden, dry recyclate) delivered to the Waste Transfer Stations. It has been assumed 
that the changes will be absorbed into the constant overhead costs of the Waste 
Transfer Stations, but this will need to be explored in greater detail if any Option is 
taken forward to a detailed business case.  
 

• The overall tonnage remains constant, as no waste minimisation effect has been 
modelled. 

 
• The Waste Transfer Stations will require infrastructure changes to address the 

operational practicalities of food waste delivery and storage. The report thus assumes 
the utilisation of dedicated containers for food waste (capital costs included, 
amortised over 4 years) and regular emptying of these containers (to avoid issues 
with odour, leachate and infestation management). The on-site management of the 
containers will need to be explored in greater detail if any Option is taken forward to 
a detailed business case. 
 

• It has been assumed that a new WTS in the vicinity of the current EfW facility will be 
developed to enable food waste to be handled locally and thus reduce vehicle travel 
times. The site would accept and handle a range of waste streams delivered by a 
number of WCAs. An estimated cost of £150k per annum has been assumed for the 
use of this facility, covering lease and operating costs.  

  
By developing a ‘Whole System Cost’ approach to the modelling of the Baseline service and 
each of the options, LWP can identify the potential savings represented by each of the 
Options based on a holistic £ per tonne basis, incorporating the impact of the collection 
methodology, the diversion of waste from disposal to recycling/composting and transport to 
final destination (i.e. ‘whole system cost’). This enables decisions to be made on a basis 
which represents the best overall value to the Council Tax payer, whilst also identifying 
relative environmental performance.  

Page 89



 

18 

 

 
 
 

2.5 Assumptions 
 
All data and assumptions used are based on the best available information at the time of the 
modelling.  
 
A number of input assumptions are based on the performance of similar collection systems in 
other authorities of a similar nature. A separate benchmarking and assumptions report was 
completed as part of the project and is available as Appendix 12. Whilst every attempt has 
been made to use robust comparative inputs, future trends in waste management are varied, 
and cannot be predicted by the KAT model. 
 
No planning is made in regard to future legislation changes and changes in household 
perception of waste and recycling management; that is to say that, we cannot model the 
unknown. However, Appendix 2 sets out the range of external influences which may impact 
on the methodologies required for waste collection and disposal in the future. 
 
Set-out and participation rates have a big influence on the results of KAT modelling. The set-
out and participation rates used are based on information provided by the district councils. 
 
There are also likely to be differences between what KAT has reported as the Baseline costs, 
and the actual cost. This can be due to varying amounts of overhead costs, contract costs 
and budgetary assignments. It is, therefore, again suggested that comparisons between the 
costs of different Options be taken on their relative value, rather than as absolute totals. 
 
Where households are subject to a change in service, e.g. alternative collection days, a 
reduction in residual waste containment volume, or introduction of new containers, 
communications materials will need to be produced and sent to relevant households. The 
costs for these are not included in the modelling. 
 
Finally, although indications are given to the potential kerbside recycling rates associated 
with each Option, again these should be regarded on their relative values, as modelled, 
rather than an absolute value. 
 
2.5.1 System performance  
The approximate tonnage modelled as collected at kerbside for the different Options is 
shown in the individual authority reports in Appendices 5-11. These tonnages are determined 
by the agreed dry recycling variation for different collection methods, food waste collection 
yields and variation in the contamination rates. Details of these variations can be found in 
the assumptions report provided as Appendix 12. 
 
To calculate the expected food waste yields for a separate weekly food waste collection for 
each of the Councils, we have used the WRAP food waste ‘ready reckoner’ tool, which uses 
local characteristics to predict food waste yields. The lower end of the predicted range has 
been used for the households receiving a kerbside collection as shown in Table 2.2. 
  

Page 90



 

19 

 

Table 2.2 - Scenario Assumptions – Food Waste yields 

 
The level of contamination and non-target materials within the recycling stream is a major 
issue within the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership authorities. For the different Options, we are 
using the contamination assumptions shown in Table 2-3, as agreed with each district 
council and WRAP. 
 
Table 2-3 Contamination assumptions 

Option 
Recycling scheme 

type 
 Total Target 

Recyclables 

Total Non-
Target 

Recyclables 

Contamination 
Rate 

Baseline, 1a, 
1b & 1d 

Co-mingled 

Boston Borough 
Council 

65.5% 6.9% 27.6% 

City of Lincoln 
Council 

65.2% 5.7% 29.1% 

East Lindsey 
District Council 

69.2% 6.2% 24.6% 

North Kesteven 
District Council 

70.5% 5.7% 23.8% 

South Holland 
District Council 

69.7% 6.9% 23.4% 

South Kesteven 
District Council 

69.6% 6.0% 24.4% 

West Lindsey 
District Council 

68.5% 5.4% 26.1% 

Option 2a & 
2b 

Twin-stream 

Co-mingled 
materials 

  As above 

Fibre    10% 

Option 3 Multi-stream 
Average across 
all materials 

  6% 

Option 1c Co-mingled 
Low 
contamination 
option 

  15% 

 
Note: East Lindsey does not collect glass within its dry recycling kerbside collection and so its 
contamination rates are not directly comparable with other authorities.  
 

Page 91



 

20 

 

The payment mechanism for the materials delivered to the MRF is dependent on the market 
value of each material stream; it is thus extremely sensitive to both the composition of the 
mixed recyclate delivered and variations in market prices for each material stream. As a 
result, minor changes to composition or value have a disproportionately large impact. 

 
• The modelling utilises the current composition data and average material prices over 

the last 5 years to calculate an average value for the MRF processing costs. 
 

• This assumption is then utilised to explore the impact of 
o Reduced levels of non-target materials and contamination  
o Revised composition for each Option i.e. removal of paper for two stream 

collections.  
 
This approach enables the MRF fee for each Option to be calculated, based on combining the 
average MRF processing cost, the average value of the materials collected, the impact of 
non-target materials and the cost of disposing of contamination. 
 
For Options 1a, 1b and 1d, current rates for contamination and non-target materials (as 
identified in the Baseline) are utilised, as the current co-mingled collection of dry recycling is 
maintained. Residual waste tonnage falls due to the introduction of food waste collections in 
these Options. 
 
For Options 2a and 2b, the separation of paper from the other dry recyclables, along with 
the introduction of food waste collections, is expected to assist with reducing the level of 
contamination and non-target material in the fibre stream. These materials effectively move 
from the recycling collection to the residual collection, increasing the residual tonnage. This 
does not increase recycling rates but improves the quality of the recycling stream. 
 
The same effect is modelled for Option 3, with the segregation of all recycling streams 
projected as having a greater impact across the whole recycling stream. Again, the 
contamination and non-target materials move from the recycling stream to residual waste. 
 
Option 1c models the impact of maintaining co-mingled collections, but projects the impact 
of lower contamination levels. Again, the contamination and non-target materials are 
transferred to the residual bin, with a resultant cleaning up of the recycling stream.  
 
There is no change to garden waste collection.  
 
 

2.6 WDA cost assumptions  
Discussions have been held with the WDA to identify a range of assumptions required to 
inform the analysis. It is understood that existing contracts and associated charge 
mechanisms are complicated, and to enable a comparative analysis to be completed, some 
cost elements have been utilised in a simplified manner to enable a coherent illustration to 
be developed. It is acknowledged that if any Options are taken forward for greater 
investigation, a detailed business case will be required and a deeper degree of analysis 
performed. Additionally, the practicalities of a preferred Option will also need to be explored, 
in particular the use of the Waste Transfer Stations (WTSs). There are concerns about the 
use of WTSs for food waste as they were not designed to deal with this element of the waste 
stream as a separate element, and so there maybe capacity, space and operational issues 
and constraints which would need to be addressed. 
 
The following section outlines the key WDA cost assumptions. 
 

Page 92



 

21 

 

Residual treatment: 
• EfW facility over–capacity; at present, the EfW facility is operating at close to full 

capacity, with approximately 12,000 tonnes of residual waste pa being sent to landfill 
pa due to downtime at the facility. It was thus assumed that any change in tonnage 
would impact on the tonnage of material sent to landfill. Changes in residual tonnage 
were thus costed at £110 per tonne, the agreed cost of disposal to landfill. 

• However, following discussions with the County, confirmation has been provided that 
the capacity at the EfW facility is sufficient to deal with the current volume of residual 
waste, with tonnages only being diverted to landfill during periods where the EfW 
facility is experiencing downtime (ie routine maintenance or breakdown). It has thus 
been agreed that any reduction in residual tonnage should be treated as being 
diverted from EfW, and will thus be costed at £92.35, the current EfW gate fee. 

• In the longer term, the predicted substantial rate of housing growth will further 
compromise this capacity. The ongoing uncertainty regarding landfill availability 
increases the priority of diverting waste from the residual stream.  
 

Recycling: 
• Co-mingled materials. The current gate fee rate of £44.52 per tonne charged for 

material delivered to the MRF has been used for the Baseline. This represents the 
average value of the materials delivered, and includes an allowance for the cost of 
finding alternative markets for non-target materials and disposing of the 
contamination (at a current cost of £78 per tonne). We have modelled a MRF 
operational cost of £35.19 per tonne for the recyclate delivered, contamination at £78 
per tonne and non-target recyclate at £0 per tonne.   

• The payment mechanism for the materials delivered to the MRF is dependent on the 
market value of each material stream; it is thus extremely sensitive to both the 
composition of the mixed recyclate delivered and variations in market prices for each 
material stream. As a result, minor changes to composition or value have a 
disproportionately large impact. 

• The modelling utilises the current composition data and average material prices over 
the last 5 years to calculate an average value for the MRF processing costs. 

• This assumption is then utilised to explore the impact of 
o Reduced levels of contamination and non-target materials 
o Revised composition for each Option i.e. removal of paper for two stream 

collections.  
This approach enables the MRF fee for each Option to be calculated, based on combining 
the average MRF processing cost, the average value of the materials collected and the 
cost of disposing of contamination. 
 
A handling and haulage fee (covering the costs of transferring the recyclate to 
appropriate end-reprocessors) has been utilised throughout: 
• Two stream Options: an income for the separated paper of £45.26 per tonne has 

been assumed. This incorporates the £10 per tonne cost of hauling the material to a 
reprocessor, and is based on average material prices over the last five years. A MRF 
charge of £41.07 per tonne has been used for the remaining mixed material (ie all 
dry recycling excluding paper). The increased cost is due to the lack of income to the 
MRF from the paper. 

• Multi-stream Options – the modelled income per tonne is shown in Table 2-4 below; 
the net income incorporating a £30 per tonne handling and haulage fee is also 
shown. This handling and haulage charge covers the increased costs associated with 
using a simple metal separator at a WTS, appropriate storage and loading of separate 
materials and onward haulage. No MRF cost is included for these Options. 

  

  

Page 93



 

22 

 

 
Table 2-4 Estimated Material Values 

 

Material Stream 
5 Year Average (£/t)  

 (July 2013- July 2017) 

Adjusted for £30/t 
handling. 

Mixed Paper £55.26 £25.26 

Mixed Glass £5.92 -£24.08 

Steel Cans £88.37 £58.37 

Aluminium Cans £753.72 £723.72 

Mixed Plastic Bottles £74.08 £44.08 

 
Waste Transfer Stations and bulking: 

• Existing sites – there will be a change in waste quantities (residual, garden, dry 
recycling) across the Options, but this is not predicted to significantly impact on 
costs, as there are constant overheads which are met by the WDA regardless of the 
level of usage of the sites. Therefore, this aspect has been excluded from the 
analysis. 

 
• Food waste – this will be an additional requirement, and additional haulage costs for 

this material have thus been included. These costs are based on the transportation of 
a calculated number of containers per day from each WTS at £6 per mile. All food 
waste containers must be compliant with the Animal By-Products Regulations (ABPR) 
introduced following the foot and mouth outbreak in 2001, and this includes ensuring 
that food waste is stored in covered, leak-proof, containers. 

 
• New WTS near the EfW facility – the modelling assumes the utilisation of a new WTS 

in the vicinity of the current EfW facility to enable food waste to be handled locally 
and thus reduce vehicle travel times. The site would accept and handle a range of 
waste streams delivered by a number of WCAs.  

o An annual cost of £150k in lease and operating costs to facilitate this option is 
included in the WDA costs within the whole partnership analysis in Section 3.  

 
Haulage costs for transferring the food waste from the WTSs to the Hemswell Biogas facility 
in Gainsborough are shown below in Table 2-5. These have been estimated based on the 
tonnage of food waste delivered to each transfer station and the requirement to empty 
containers when full. Some sites require containers (30 cu yd) to be emptied more than once 
a day but for all sites no food waste is left longer than 2 days before the container is hauled. 
This has helped optimise the haulage costs. 
  

Page 94



 

23 

 

 
Table 2-5 Haulage costs for food waste  

 
Distance to 
food waste 
processing 

(miles) 

Hauls 
per 
year 

Haulage 
cost per 

year 
@£6/mile 

Annual 
food skip 
haulage 

costs 

Total cost for 
food waste 

haulage 

Gainsborough Waste 
transfer station 

9 156 £8,424 £2,750 £11,174 

Louth Waste transfer 
station 

29 416 £72,384 £2,750 £75,134 

Grantham waste transfer 
station 

47 364 £102,648 £2,750 £105,398 

Sleaford waste transfer 
station 

33 208 £41,184 £2,750 £43,934 

Boston waste transfer 
station 

52 364 £113,568 £2,750 £116,318 

New TS in vicinity of 
EFW 

19 364 £41,496 £2,750 £44,246 

Total 
  

£379,704 £16,500 £396,204 

 
 
The haulage cost for sending food waste from the WTSs to the food waste processing facility 
is shown in Table 2-6 and Table 2-7. The estimated costs are apportioned to each WCA 
based on the projected food waste tonnage to be delivered to each WTS. The second of the 
tables takes into consideration the option of West Lindsey vehicles delivering food waste 
directly to the processing facility, and is thus used for Options 1a, 2a and 1d (where food 
waste is collected by dedicated vehicles). In all cases where food waste is co-collected with 
other materials (ie Options 1b, 2b, 3 and 1c), it has been assumed that all other materials 
will be delivered to the same WTS as the food waste. This is thus based on the assumption 
that existing tipping points will be provided with a food waste tipping facility.  
 

Page 95



 

Waste & Recycling Services Support to Lincolnshire Waste 

Partnership   24 

 

Table 2-6 Haulage cost estimates apportioned to each WCA based on food tonnage delivered to WTSs (no direct delivery to food facility) 

 

 WTS 
Haulage cost from 

transfer station to food 
processing 

Boston 
City of 
Lincoln 

East 
Lindsey 

North 
Kesteven 

South 
Holland 

South 
Kesteven 

West 
Lindsey 

Gainsborough WTS £11,174 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 

Louth WTS £75,134 0% 0% 80% 0% 0% 0% 20% 

Grantham WTS £105,398 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 0% 

Sleaford WTS £43,934 0% 0% 0% 100% 0% 0% 0% 

Boston WTS £116,318 35% 0% 0% 0% 65% 0% 0% 

New TS in vicinity of 
EFW 

£44,246 0% 55% 0% 38% 0% 0% 7% 

Total £396,204 £40,550 £24,430 £59,785 £60,559 £75,768 £105,398 £29,714 

 
 
Table 2-7 Haulage cost estimates apportioned to each WCA based on food tonnage delivered to WTSs (West Lindsey direct delivers to food 

facility) 

 WTS 
Haulage cost from 
transfer station to 

food processing 
Boston 

City of 
Lincoln 

East 
Lindsey 

North 
Kesteven 

South 
Holland 

South 
Kesteven 

West 
Lindsey 

Gainsborough WTS £0 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Louth WTS £75,134 0% 0% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Grantham WTS £105,398 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 0% 

Sleaford WTS £43,934 0% 0% 0% 100% 0% 0% 0% 

Boston WTS £116,318 35% 0% 0% 0% 65% 0% 0% 

New TS in vicinity of EFW £44,246 0% 60% 0% 40% 0% 0% 0% 

Total £385,030 £40,550 £26,329 £75,134 £61,851 £75,768 £105,398 £0 

 
 
  

P
age 96



 

25 

 

3 Combined Partnership Results of the Phase One modelling 
Individual authority analyses are provided in Appendices 5-11 and the following sections present a discussion of the results on a combined 
partnership basis. 
 

3.1 Total Gross Collection Costs 
 
Table 3-1 and Figure 3-1 show the gross annual collection costs for each Option for each of the Waste Collection Authorities. In all cases, the cost of 
all Options is higher than the (current) baseline cost, due to the requirements for additional vehicles, staff and containers needed to introduce food 
waste collections. 
 
Table 3-1 Waste collection costs (£,000) 

  Baseline 
Option 

1a 
Option 

1b 
Option 

2a 
Option 

2b 
Option 3 

Option 
1c 

Option 
1d 

Boston £1,410 £1,980 £1,870 £2,240 £1,980 £2,210 £1,960 £1,670 

City of Lincoln £2,220 £3,260 £2,910 £3,550 £3,450 £3,380 £3,260 £0 

East Lindsey £3,090 £4,280 £4,240 £4,640 £4,760 £4,500 £4,220 £3,310 

North Kesteven £2,790 £3,590 £3,720 £3,920 £4,340 £3,800 £3,560 £3,390 

South Holland £3,630 £4,580 £4,490 £5,150 £4,950 £4,100 £4,580 £4,030 

South Kesteven £2,770 £3,710 £3,480 £4,190 £4,100 £3,930 £3,660 £2,880 

West Lindsey £2,540 £3,510 £3,190 £3,810 £3,650 £3,400 £3,300 £3,120 

Total £18,450 £24,910 £23,900 £27,500 £27,230 £25,320 £24,540 £18,400 

Difference to Baseline 
 

£6,460 £5,450 £9,050 £8,780 £6,870 £6,090 £2,170* 

* Adjusted for no City of Lincoln option 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 97



 

26 

 

Figure 3-1 Trends in collection costs for Partnership. 

 
 

P
age 98



 

27 

 

In all cases, Option 1d, which maintains the current dry recycling methodology and rolls out food waste recycling to only a proportion of the least 
rural elements of each district (except City of Lincoln, where this Option is not considered) is the least expensive Option (baseline excepted). 
 
For Options which provide universal provision of food waste collections, three predominant Options provide the most economically favourable 
scenario:  
 

• For Boston, City of Lincoln, South Kesteven and West Lindsey, Option 1b is the least expensive option 
 

• For East Lindsey and North Kesteven Option 1c is the least expensive option. However, for East Lindsey this is closely followed by Option 1b 
and 1a, whilst for North Kesteven Option 1c is closely followed by Option 1a. 

 
• For South Holland, Option 3 is the least expensive Option; However, again, this is followed by Option 1b. The variation for South Holland is 

likely due to existing weekly dry recycling collections which are retained for all the Options considered. This means a move to a weekly multi-
stream (Option 3) is not a significant change compared to the other authorities that currently have fortnightly recycling collections. 

 
As a result, when the costs across the Partnership area are considered, Option 1b is the least expensive Option where food waste is provided to all 
households and results in total cost increase of £5,450,000 above the total current baseline.   
 
 

3.2 Additional Option (Boston only) – Option 2c 
An additional Option was put forward and modelled based on the following: 

• Two stream dry recycling using twin pack vehicle – Week 1: paper and food / Week 2: co-mingled recyclate and food 
• Residual – no change 
• Garden – no change 

 
The benefit of this Option is that it has a weekly recycling and food waste collection. The Option was modelled for one authority (Boston) but did not 
result in a significant cost saving compared to the other Options (as shown by the following chart at Figure 3-2). The main reason was the 
requirement for additional twin pack dry recycling collection vehicles to carry out weekly collections across all households. Given that no significant 
variation to the other Options was found, it was agreed not to model this Option for all authorities as a similar trend is expected for all authorities. 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 99



 

28 

 

 
Figure 3-2 Option 2c collection costs (as modelled for Boston only) 

 
 
 

  

P
age 100



 

29 

 

 
 

3.3 Total Gross Disposal Costs 
 
Table 3-2 and Figure 3-3 show the apportioned WDA costs associated with managing the waste from each of the WCAs and Options. 
 
Table 3-2 Summary of WCA apportioned disposal costs (£’000s) 

  Baseline 
Option 

1a 
Option 

1b 
Option 

2a 
Option 

2b 
Option 3 

Option 
1c 

Option 
1d 

Boston £1,720 £1,680 £1,680 £1,580 £1,580 £1,500 £1,730 £1,730 

City of Lincoln £1,640 £1,560 £1,560 £1,460 £1,460 £1,370 £1,600 £0 

East Lindsey £2,940 £2,770 £2,770 £2,530 £2,530 £2,480 £2,820 £2,980 

North Kesteven £2,620 £2,470 £2,470 £2,290 £2,290 £2,240 £2,520 £2,520 

South Holland £2,320 £2,240 £2,240 £2,020 £2,020 £1,960 £2,290 £2,350 

South Kesteven £2,940 £2,780 £2,780 £2,540 £2,540 £2,480 £2,850 £3,020 

West Lindsey £2,010 £1,840 £1,840 £1,720 £1,720 £1,690 £1,880 £1,900 

Total £16,190 £15,340 £15,340 £14,140 £14,140 £13,720 £15,690 £14,500 

Difference to 
Baseline 

 -£850 -£850 -£2,050 -£2,050 -£2,470 -£500 -£50* 

* Adjusted for no City of Lincoln option 
 
For the majority of Options for each District, WDA cost is lower than the (current) baseline cost; this is due to the reduction in cost through diverting 
food waste away from landfill and the additional income from managing the separately collected recyclate streams. Costs are marginally higher in 
some cases, e.g. Option 1c (Boston), reflecting the current high contamination rate and the additional cost of reduced contamination; and Option 1d 
(Boston, East Lindsey, South Holland and South Kesteven), reflecting the lower tonnage of food waste modelled in this option.  
 
Again, for Options which provide universal provision of food waste collections, three predominant Options (Options 2a, 2b and 3) provide the most 
economically favourable disposal scenarios, with Option 3 the favoured across all WCA’s. This is due to the additional income from selling the 
separately collected recyclate. 
 
 

P
age 101



 

30 

 

Figure 3-3 Trends of WCA apportioned disposal costs 

 

 
 

P
age 102



 

31 

 

3.4 Whole system costs 
 
When whole system costs are evaluated, as is illustrated in Table 3-3 and Figure 3-4, all Options are above the Baseline. Option 3 (Multi-stream) has 
the lowest overall cost of the Options where food collections are provided to all households. The Option has the lowest disposal costs (reduced 
residual and income from dry recyclate) and sufficiently low collection costs to outweigh the other Options. The Option is slightly skewed by the 
effect of South Holland’s current (and retained) weekly residual collections. This is closely followed by Option 1b (pod vehicles). The results show 
that for the modelled options the reduction in disposal costs is not enough to off-set the increase in collection costs resulting from the separate 
collection of food waste. 
 
Table 3-3 Summary of Whole system costs 

  Baseline 
Option 

1a 
Option 

1b 
Option 

2a 
Option 

2b 
Option 3 

Option 
1c 

Option 
1d 

Boston £3,130 £3,660 £3,550 £3,820 £3,560 £3,710 £3,690 £3,400 

City of Lincoln £3,860 £4,820 £4,470 £5,010 £4,910 £4,750 £4,860 £0 

East Lindsey £6,030 £7,050 £7,000 £7,170 £7,280 £6,980 £7,040 £6,290 

North Kesteven £5,410 £6,060 £6,190 £6,210 £6,630 £6,040 £6,080 £5,910 

South Holland £5,950 £6,820 £6,730 £7,170 £6,970 £6,060 £6,870 £6,380 

South Kesteven £5,710 £6,490 £6,260 £6,730 £6,640 £6,410 £6,510 £5,900 

West Lindsey £4,550 £5,350 £5,060 £5,530 £5,400 £5,090 £5,180 £5,020 

New Transfer 
Station cost 

 £150 £150 £150 £150 £150 £150 £150 

Total £34,640 £40,400 £39,410 £41,790 £41,540 £39,190 £40,380 £33,050 

Difference to 
Baseline 

 £5,760 £4,770 £7,150 £6,900 £4,550 £5,740 £2,270* 

* Adjusted for no City of Lincoln option (removed City of Lincoln data from comparative Baseline cost) 
 
  

P
age 103



 

32 

 

 
Figure 3-4 Summary of Whole system costs (£’000s) 

 
 

P
age 104



 

33 

 

Options 2a, 2b, 3 and 1c all involve a reduction in the current contamination rates. This would be expected to be a positive impact; with the 
increasing focus on quality, the recyclate would be more marketable, and should impact positively on material prices and MRF gate fees. However, 
the anticipated saving from these changes are not realised because of the difference in current gate fees for the MRF and residual treatment, 
outlined as follows:  
 
Where Options 2a, 2b, 3 and 1c lead to a reduction in contamination, it is assumed that this material reverts to the residual waste bin; it is thus 
collected as part of the residual waste collection, and is sent for disposal in the manner arranged by the County. This additional material will be 
disposed of through the current alternative residual waste management option of EfW, at a cost of £92.35 per tonne.  
 
At present, the current MRF arrangement involves a gate fee of £44.52 for the acceptance of fully co-mingled material. The MRF sorts and extracts 
the contaminated materials incorporated in the recyclate delivered; this is subsequently sent to disposal/treatment, and the cost incorporated into 
the MRF gate fees.  We understand the disposal rate through the MRF is based on a rate of £78 per tonne. This means that when this material is 
diverted away from the MRF to the residual bin, this effectively increases the cost of disposing of this material by £14.35 per tonne and there is thus 
a substantial cost to reducing contamination levels.  
 
This issue means that there is a financial disincentive to reducing current recyclate contamination levels. In addition, this compromises collection 
Options which focus on improving quality levels. The additional communication and education costs for reducing the contamination level in Option 1c 
have not been included. If included it would further worsen the scenario’s financial position.   
 
This issue has been clarified with the WDA and whilst gate fees have been amended to develop a more accurate scenario to avoid compromising 
Options which may prove more beneficial under normal market conditions, the issue of additional residual costs through reducing contamination 
remains a challenge for the LWP. 
 

3.5 Recycling rates 
 
As can be seen in Figure 3-5, for all the WCAs, Options 1a, 1b and 1c demonstrate the greatest increase in recycling rates. Options 1a and 1b 
achieve this through the addition of food waste collections, whilst leaving the collection of the remaining dry recyclate unchanged from the residents’ 
perspective. 
 
Option 1c assumes a 50% fall in contamination rates in the dry recycling scheme. Whilst this will improve the marketability and value of the 
recyclate, as has been described, the current pricing mechanism at the MRF compromises this Option financially, especially if additional 
communication expenditure were to be included.    
 

  

P
age 105



 

34 

 

 

Figure 3-5 Recycling Rates per Option 

 
 

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

55%

Boston Borough
council

City of Lincoln
council

East Lindsey District
council

North Kesteven
District council

South Holland
District council

South Keveston
District Council

West Lindsey District
council

Recycling rates

Baseline Option 1a Option 1b Option 2a Option 2b Option 3 Option 1c Option 1d

P
age 106



 

Waste & Recycling Services Support to Lincolnshire Waste Partnership   35 

 

 
 
4 Options Appraisal 
 
A two-phased approach has been designed to evaluate the performance of each Option, 
based on both a non-weighted and weighted scoring approach. The eight criteria, developed 
and agreed with the LWP officers, are shown in Table 4-1. These are assessed utilising a 
scoring system of red – scored 0, amber scored 2 and green scored 3. These scores and the 
overall performance of the Options are then presented, firstly with all criteria having equal 
status (unweighted), and then using a weighted approach where criteria are given varying 
importance. To generate the weighted approach, each authority has placed a weighting on 
the different criteria taking in to account their own council’s priorities and targets for future 
service provision.  
 
Table 4-1 Agreed Criteria 

Criteria 
number 

Criteria Scoring approach 

1 
Impact on 
recycling rate.  

Options that are estimated to deliver higher levels of recycling/composting 
are scored higher than those that may only maintain the current recycling 
rate or potentially reduce it. 

2 Value for Money 

Detailed modelling used to score Options based on the ‘whole system 
cost’, incorporating costs for collection, haulage, bulking, recycling (gate 
fees/income), composting and residual disposal.  
Options with lower overall cost will score higher and vice versa. 

3 
Environmental 
Impact 

This criterion looks at the relative environmental impact of the Options. A 
high-level carbon analysis will be conducted. Options that show the lowest 
carbon impact will score higher and vice versa. 

4 
Ease to use and 
public 
satisfaction 

Schemes that are easy to use by the householder. Single containers, co-
mingled recycling and simpler collection frequencies will score best. 

5 Material Quality 
This criterion looks at the difference in the impact on material quality 
between the Options and the associated value of the materials. Options 
that will likely achieve higher quality will score best. 

6 
Ease of 
implementation 

Options that are likely to cause added complication to the Partnership in 
rolling out are scored lower, for example a significant switch in approach 
to collecting materials such as change in container, frequencies, materials 
collected etc. 

7 

Practicality of 
operating and 
sustaining 
service 

Options that are likely to cause added complication to the ongoing 
operation of the service will be scored lower, for example using non-
standard vehicles, vehicle maintenance requirements, extended travel 
time to tipping points, depot infrastructure costs, specialist containers etc. 

8 Communication 

This criterion looks at the likely difference in public communications 
required between the Options and the extent to which detailed or 
sustained campaigns will be required. Options that require more 
communication will be scored lower. 

Page 107



 

Waste & Recycling Services Support to Lincolnshire Waste 

Partnership   36 

 

4.1.1 Options Rankings 
Detailed scoring of each criteria is presented in Appendix 2 and individual authority analysis within Appendices 4-10. The following section presents 
the ranking of the Options and identifies how they change once weightings are applied. 
 
Figure 4-1 Options appraisal ranking – unweighted  

 

 

 

Boston
City of 

Lincoln

East 

Lindsey

North 

Kesteven

South 

Holland

South 

Kesteven

West 

Lindsey

Baseline Current service 5 4 4 5 5 4 5

Option 1a
All as current with separate food waste collection 

in a dedicated vehcile
2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Option 1b

Food waste collected weekly co-collected with 

residual and dry recycling in RCV food waste pods 

to all hh

2 3 3 4 2 2 2

Option 2a

Fortnightly two stream (card and paper separate) 

with weekly separately collected food waste in 

dedicated vehciles

6 5 4 5 5 4 5

Option 2b

Fortnightly two stream (card and paper separate) 

with separate weekly food co-collected in podded 

vehicles

7 6 7 7 7 7 7

Option 3
Weekly multi stream collections utilising Resource 

recovery vehicles
8 7 8 8 8 8 8

Option 1c Option 1c with varied contamination 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Option 1d
Baseline service with food waste rolled out to 

limited households
2 6 3 4 6 4

Option

P
age 108



 

37 

 

Key observations: 

 Across all the authorities there are very similar trends in the rankings. 

 Under equal weighting for each criterion the main Options that are favourable are Options that introduce food waste without any change to 
dry recycling. This is due to increased recycling rates, improved environmental performance, the schemes being relatively easy to implement, 
requiring simple communication and easy for the public to use. However, the Options do increase costs and have minimal impact on material 
quality. 

 Introducing food waste and reducing contamination (Option 1c) is the highest scoring option as it has the benefit of improvement in material 
quality compared to other similar Options. 

 Moving to a multi-stream dry recycling service is generally ranked last due to the Option requiring more active input from householders and 
the Option being more difficult to implement, operate and maintain. It will also require the greatest level of communications to householders. 
The Option does, however, help improve environmental performance and material quality.  

Figure 4-2 presents the rankings once the weightings are applied. The result is a change in the rankings caused by authorities allocating greater 
importance to different criteria. 

Key observations: 

 Generally, the multi-stream and twin stream Options remain the lowest ranked.  

 The favourable Options are generally ones that introduce food waste without any change to dry recycling collections. 

 The Baseline Option is the greatest mover, with it becoming a more favoured Option. This is due to greater weighting being placed on value 
for money. 

 Collecting food waste using dedicated vehicles is ranked higher than the use of pod vehicles due to being easier to implement by a collection 
authority and also easier to operate longer term.  

 
  

P
age 109



 

38 

 

Figure 4-2 Options appraisal ranking – weighted 

 
 

Boston
City of 

Lincoln

East 

Lindsey

North 

Kesteven

South 

Holland

South 

Kesteven

West 

Lindsey

Baseline Current service 1 3 2 3 1 4 1

Option 1a
All as current with separate food waste collection 

in a dedicated vehcile
4 2 2 1 5 2 5

Option 1b

Food waste collected weekly co-collected with 

residual and dry recycling in RCV food waste pods 

to all hh

3 4 4 5 4 3 4

Option 2a

Fortnightly two stream (card and paper separate) 

with weekly separately collected food waste in 

dedicated vehciles

6 5 6 6 6 5 6

Option 2b

Fortnightly two stream (card and paper separate) 

with separate weekly food co-collected in podded 

vehicles

7 6 7 8 8 7 8

Option 3
Weekly multi stream collections utilising Resource 

recovery vehicles
8 7 8 7 7 8 7

Option 1c Option 1c with varied contamination 4 1 1 1 3 1 2

Option 1d
Baseline service with food waste rolled out to 

limited households
2 4 4 2 6 3

Option

P
age 110



 

Waste & Recycling Services Support to Lincolnshire Waste Partnership   39 

 

 
4.2 Preferred Option for next phase of modelling? 

In identifying a potential preferred scenario to take to the next phase of analysis it was 
agreed that Options 1c and 1d were discounted. Reducing contamination should be 
something that should be encouraged, particularly if it can be done in a way that improves 
recycling and reduces residual waste. Whilst collecting food waste from a proportion of 
households is a viable Option where there are areas of high density, it raises the issue of 
equity as a result of providing a service to some households and not to others. 
 
Figure 4-3 provides the weighted ranking with Options 1c and 1d removed. The result is a 
clearer favouritism towards Option 1a (dedicated food waste vehicles) and the Baseline. 
Although ranked consistently 2nd or 3rd, the use of pod vehicles can result in more 
complicated operation of the collection service, with key issues being differing compartment 
fill rates and the potential issue of separate tipping locations/requirements. 
 
Collecting food waste using dedicated vehicles also allows for greater Partnership working, 
especially with the potential of blurring boundaries to aid more efficient collections and the 
sharing of spare vehicles.  
 
Figure 4-3 Weighted ranking with Option 1c and 1d removed 

 

Boston
City of 

Lincoln

East 

Lindsey

North 

Kesteven

South 

Holland

South 

Kesteven

West 

Lindsey

Baseline Current service 1 2 1 2 1 3 1

Option 1a
All as current with separate food waste 

collection in a dedicated vehcile
3 1 1 1 3 1 3

Option 1b

Food waste collected weekly co-collected 

with residual and dry recycling in RCV food 

waste pods to all hh

2 3 3 3 2 2 2

Option 2a

Fortnightly two stream (card and paper 

separate) with weekly separately collected 

food waste in dedicated vehciles

4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Option 2b

Fortnightly two stream (card and paper 

separate) with separate weekly food co-

collected in podded vehicles

5 5 5 6 6 5 6

Option 3
Weekly multi stream collections utilising 

Resource recovery vehicles
6 6 6 5 5 6 5

Option

Page 111



 

Waste & Recycling Services Support to Lincolnshire Waste Partnership   40 

 

5 Phase 2 Sensitivity analysis 
 
Following an extensive review of the first phase of analysis, meetings were held with the 
Partnership and WRAP, and further sensitivity testing was agreed and subsequently 
modelled.  The sensitivity analysis scenarios agreed and carried out as part of this project 
are listed in the table below. 
 
Table 5-1 Sensitivity analysis scenarios included in the project. 

Sensitivity 
analysis section 

Description LA included 

5.1 & 5.2 

Baseline (Scenario A) 

Revised Option 1a with D+2 (Scenario B) 

Option 1a with a single loader (Scenario 
C) 

All LAs 

Dedicated food waste vehicles with 
residual collected on a three-weekly cycle 
(Scenario D) 

All LAs (N.B. fortnightly 
for South Holland) 

5.3 
Food on pod based vehicles with residual 
collected on a three-weekly cycle 
(Scenario E) 

South Kesteven 

5.4 
Additional sensitivity: Influence of 
increased food waste on analysis 

All LAs 

5.5 
Additional sensitivity: Influence that 
varying the MRF gate fee has on the 
analysis 

All LAs 

5.6 
Additional sensitivity: Introducing charging 
for garden waste 

West Lindsey Only 

 
The following sections present the results on a Partnership basis. More detailed analysis is 
contained within each authority’s individual Appendix. 
 

5.1 Sensitivity Analysis Part one: Scenarios A - D 
 
This section summarises scenarios and associated assumptions considered in the first stage 
of the sensitivity analysis. Scenarios included in Part one are: 
 

Scenario A: Baseline: Current service 
 
Scenario B: Option 1a (FW D+2): Current recycling, residual and garden waste 
service plus a food waste collection using dedicated vehicles with a driver plus two 
loaders. This scenario was Option 1a in previous Stage one modelling; however, 
feedback from the Partnership indicated that pass rates were deemed too high and thus 
the number of vehicles required too low. This Scenario is provided as a reference to 
Scenario C below. 
 
Scenario C: Option 1a (FW D+1): As per Scenario B above but with the dedicated 
food vehicles having a single loader (this lowers pass rates and increases the number of 
food waste vehicles required). 

 
Scenario D: Option 1a (Extended Res & FW D+1): As per scenario C above but 
with residual collections extended to a three-weekly cycle. N.B. South Holland move to 

Page 112



 

41 

 

an AWC system with recycling and residual collected fortnightly. Table 5-2 shows key 
parameters and assumptions used to model Scenario D. 

 
 
Table 5-2 Collection frequency of investigated waste collection rounds in scenario D. 

Week Vehicle 1 2 3 

Residual (3 weekly) Standard RCV Once over 3 week period 

Dry co-mingled 
(fortnightly) 

Standard RCV Y 
 

Y 

Food Waste (Weekly) Dedicated Food Vehicle y Y y 

Garden Waste 
(Fortnightly) 

Standard RCV Y 
 

Y 

 
This scenario involves reducing the residual collection frequency to once every 3 weeks, with 
no change to frequency for dry recycling or garden waste. Food waste is collected weekly by 
dedicated vehicles. Issues to consider are: 
 

• The frequency of residual collection differs from the frequency of the other collection 
services, making communications potentially more difficult. 

• Potential option of alternating recycling and garden waste collections on standard 
RCV could lead to contamination issues. 

• Maintaining co-mingled collections doesn’t address recyclate contamination issues. 
 
As part of extending the residual collection frequency we have assumed the following: 
 

• A degree of waste prevention is achieved and a 4% reduction in overall kerbside 
waste collected (refuse, recycling and organic) has been modelled. 

• Dry recycling improves with an increase in yields of 5% across all materials.  
• The food waste collected (kg/hh/week) rises to the average level as shown in the 

table below. 
 
Table 5-3 Food waste collected (kh/hh/week) for all LAs. 

Local authority Lower limit Average 

Boston 0.88 1.28 

East Lindsey 1.05 1.45 

Lincoln 1.02 1.42 

North Kesteven 1.30 1.70 

South Holland 1.20 1.45 

South Kesteven 1.23 1.63 

West Lindsey 1.23 1.63 

 
 

Page 113



 

42 

 

Other assumptions  
 
South Holland only – moving to Alternate Weekly Collections (AWC) 

• Residual waste drops by 5% 
• Dry recycling yields increase by 7% 
• The food waste collected (kg/hh/week) rises to the average level as shown in Table 

5-3 above. 
 
Reasoning for the assumptions can be found in Appendix 4; as an example, WRAP research 
calculated that authorities with higher effective weekly residual containment capacity were 
associated with lower recycling rates. By comparing services with 240 litres effective weekly 
residual containment capacity against services with an effective weekly capacity of 120 litres 
a week (i.e. a 240 litre bin emptied fortnightly), they predicted a difference in recycling rate 
of 6.3±2.9 percentage points, with a high level of certainty. This research has been tailored 
to South Holland to generate a set of assumptions. 
 
Table 5-4 Collection frequency of investigated waste collection rounds for South Holland 
Lindsey scenario D 

Week Vehicle 1 2 3 4 

Residual (2 weekly) Standard RCV  Y  Y 

Dry co-mingled 
(fortnightly) 

Standard RCV Y 
 

Y  

Food Waste (Weekly) 
Dedicated Food 
Vehicle 

y Y y Y 

Garden Waste 
(Fortnightly) 

Standard RCV Y 
 

Y  

 
 

5.2 Sensitivity Analysis Part one: Results 
 
5.2.1 Impact on residual 
Table 5-5 below shows the residual waste yields for all WCAs for the Scenarios A - D. The 
reductions are due to the previously described assumptions and are primarily caused by 
increased diversion of food waste, a small increase in dry recycling and for Scenario D (1a 
with 3-weekly residual frequency), an overall reduction in waste quantities. 
  

Page 114



 

43 

 

 
 
Table 5-5 Estimated residual waste yields (kg/hh/yr) collected across all local authorities. 

Authority 

Residual  (kg/hh/yr) 

Current 
Baseline (A) 

Scenario B 
& C (1a) 

Scenario D 1a 
(three weekly 
residual) 

Boston Borough Council 528  482  431  

City of Lincoln Council (current AWC 
only) 

486  432  386  

East Lindsey District Council 410  355  314  

North Kesteven District Council 521  453  406  

South Holland District Council 537  474  397  

South Kesteven District Council 415  351  307  

West Lindsey District Council 447  383  338  

 
5.2.2 Impact on kerbside recycling rate 
Our results show that the kerbside recycling rate is expected to increase by up to 12% 
across all LAs under Scenario D. Overall kerbside recycling rates of all local authorities are 
depicted in Figure 5-1 below (note these exclude bring sites). The addition of food waste 
collections adds ~ 5% to 8% to the baseline recycling rate. Moving to a three-weekly 
residual collection is expected to increase recycling and food waste diversion and reduce 
overall waste. This results in a further 3% to 5% increase in recycling rates, with some 
authorities moving beyond the current 50% target. 
 
Figure 5-1 Kerbside recycling rates of sensitivity scenarios considered in part one of the 
analysis. 

 

 
 
  

Page 115



 

44 

 

 
5.2.3 Gross collection costs 
 
Table 5.6 below shows projected gross collection costs (vehicles, staff, containers, etc) for 
each Authority, demonstrating the financial effect of each of the sensitivity scenarios 
modelled in part one (Colour of cells scaled on value: Green = Lowest cost; Red =Highest 
cost).  
 
The Baseline remains the lowest cost Option for all authorities except South Holland, where 
moving to an AWC system with separate food waste collection (Scenario D) reduces the 
costs by ~£340k. Moving to one loader only (Scenario C) and having an increased number of 
dedicated food waste vehicles generally (but not across all LAs) increases the collection costs 
compared to the 2 loader option (Scenario B) initially modelled. 
 
Table 5-6 Projected gross collection costs of sensitivity scenarios per LA. (Colour of cells 
scaled on value: Green = Lowest cost; Red =Highest cost) (£’000) 

 
 
5.2.4 Trends analysis (gross collection costs) 
Figure 5-2 below shows the trend analysis of gross collection costs of the sensitivity 
scenarios considered in Part one. Moving to a three weekly (or two weekly for South 
Holland) residual frequency reduces the cost of collecting residual waste. This is due to a 
reduction in the number of vehicles, and hence staff, required to operate this service 
(Typically 1-2 vehicles can be saved through reduced vehicle and staffing costs). 
Nevertheless, the reduced residual frequency and associated lower costs are not sufficient to 
offset the costs of the introduction of the food waste collection service, and thus the cost of 
scenario D is still above the Baseline (except for South Holland). For South Holland, reducing 
the frequency of recycling and residual to fortnightly is sufficient to offset the additional food 
waste collection costs. 
  

A - Baseline B - FW D+2 C - FW D+1
D - Ext Res&FW 

D+1
Boston £1,370 £1,930 £1,900 £1,750

City of Lincoln £2,250 £3,270 £3,340 £2,980

East Lindsey £3,090 £4,280 £4,380 £4,170

North Kesteven £2,790 £3,590 £3,720 £3,530

South Holland £3,630 £4,580 £4,540 £3,290

South Kesteven £2,770 £3,710 £3,810 £3,520

West Lindsey £2,540 £3,510 £3,490 £3,270

Total £18,440 £24,870 £25,180 £22,510

Difference to 

Baseline £6,430 £6,740 £4,070

Option

Authority

Page 116



 

45 

 

 
Figure 5-2 Trend analysis of gross collection costs of sensitivity scenarios considered in 

part one. 

 
5.2.5 Gross WDA costs 
Table 5.7 below shows the projected gross WDA costs for each collection Authority, including 
residual disposal, recycling management, food waste treatment, haulage and transfer. 
Disposal costs used in the model are: residual gate fee £92/t, MRF gate fee for clean 
material £35/t, food waste treatment gate fee £26/t.  
 
As greater levels of waste are diverted from residual treatment there are reduced WDA 
costs. Scenario D has the lowest WDA costs as there is increased recycling and food waste 
diversion and reduced overall waste, thus lower overall residual waste arisings. 
 
Table 5-7 Projected gross WDA costs for each collection Authority. (£000’s) 

 
 

A - Baseline B - FW D+2 C - FW D+1
D - Ext 

Res&FW D+1

Boston £1,720 £1,680 £1,680 £1,570

City of Lincoln £2,090 £1,970 £1,970 £1,810

East Lindsey £2,940 £2,770 £2,770 £2,570

North Kesteven £2,620 £2,470 £2,470 £2,300

South Holland £2,320 £2,240 £2,240 £2,080

South Kesteven £2,940 £2,780 £2,780 £2,580

West Lindsey £2,010 £1,840 £1,840 £1,700

Total £16,640 £15,750 £15,750 £14,610

-£890 -£890 -£2,030

Authority

Option

Difference to Baseline

Page 117



 

46 

 

5.2.6 Overall whole system cost 
Table 5.8 below shows the combined collection and apportioned WDA costs for each 
authority. The Baseline costs are still the lowest (except for South Holland) but the lower 
WDA cost from residual diversion helps Options B, C, and D move closer to the Baseline cost. 
For all authorities (except South Holland), moving to a three-weekly residual collection does 
reduce costs, but not sufficiently to balance the additional food waste collection costs.  

Scenario D for South Holland, once collection and WDA costs are combined, creates further 
savings compared to the Baseline, due to fortnightly collections reducing collection costs and 
the diversion of material from the residual waste stream reducing treatment costs. 

Table 5-8 collection and apportioned WDA (whole system) costs for each authority. 

(£000’s) 

 
 
Figure 5.3 below shows the combined collection and apportioned WDA costs for each 
authority and for the Partnership as a whole. Scenario D results in approximately £2.2 million 
in additional costs to the Partnership compared to the Baseline. 
 
Figure 5-3 Total collection and disposal costs for the Partnership, shown per LA. 

A - Baseline B - FW D+2 C - FW D+1
D - Ext 

Res&FW D+1

Boston £3,090 £3,610 £3,580 £3,320

City of Lincoln £4,340 £5,240 £5,310 £4,790

East Lindsey £6,030 £7,050 £7,140 £6,740

North Kesteven £5,410 £6,060 £6,190 £5,830

South Holland £5,950 £6,820 £6,780 £5,370

South Kesteven £5,710 £6,490 £6,590 £6,100

West Lindsey £4,550 £5,350 £5,330 £4,970

New Transfer Station cost £0 £150 £150 £150

Total £35,080 £40,770 £41,070 £37,270

£5,690 £5,990 £2,190

Authority

Option

Difference to Baseline

Page 118



 

Waste & Recycling Services Support to Lincolnshire Waste Partnership   47 

 

5.3 Sensitivity Analysis Part two: Food on pod based vehicles with 
residual collected on a three-weekly cycle (Scenario E)  

 
In addition to the sensitivity scenarios discussed in Part one, we have modelled a bespoke 
‘hybrid’ scenario (Scenario E) for South Kesteven (SK) only, which would see residual waste 
collected every 3 weeks. Food waste would be co-collected with residual and recycling using 
an RCV with pod.  

However, to make this work (and recognising the requirement to retain the current 
chargeable garden waste service) dry recycling would need to be collected on those weeks 
with no residual collection. The frequency of residual, recycling and garden waste collections 
differs, making communications potentially more difficult, as shown in the table below. It is 
also worth mentioning that maintaining co-mingled collections doesn’t address recyclate 
contamination issues. 

 
Table 5-9 Collection frequency plan for different rounds. 

Service Vehicle 
Week 

1 
Week  

2 
Week  

3 
Week 

4 
Week  

5 
Week  

6 

Residual (3 
weekly) 

RCV with 
food pod 

Y 
  

Y 
  

Dry co-
mingled (2 
out of three 
weeks) 

RCV with 
food pod 

 
Y Y 

 
Y Y 

Garden 
(fortnightly) 

RCV 
 

Y 
 

Y 
 

Y 

Food 
(weekly) 

In pod on 
recycling 
and 
residual 

On 
Residual 

On Dry 
recycling 

On Dry 
recycling 

On 
Residual 

On Dry 
recycling 

On Dry 
recycling 

 
5.3.1 Sensitivity Analysis Part two: results 
 
Modelling of this Option has identified that the number of vehicles required is the same as 
the Stage 1 pod based scenario (Option 1b).  

• Option 1b used pod based vehicle for collecting: 
o Week 1 residual and food - 16 vehicles 
o Week 2 recycling and food - 16 vehicles  

• The new SK bespoke Scenario is very similar: 
o Week 1 residual and food 16 vehicles 
o Week 2 recycling and food 16 vehicles 
o Week 3 recycling and food 16 vehicles  

 
Consequently, this pattern of three weekly collection does not result in any further cost 
savings compared to Option 1b. A comparison of the SK bespoke Scenario costs against the 
other Phase 2 Scenarios is shown in Figure 5-4 below. 
 
A comparison of the SK bespoke Scenario costs against the other Phase 2 Scenarios suggests 
that the current comingled approach is not easily compatible with three weekly residual 
collections and the use of pod vehicles. To make savings whilst using pod vehicles, an 
alternative pattern of service would be required: 
 

Page 119



 

48 

 

• Move to two stream recycling (vehicles would be similar in number but potential 
income from paper sales would be achieved). 

• Reduce collection frequency to 3 weeks for recycling, residual and garden (would 
reduce number of vehicles, but garden vehicles would have to visit every household). 

 
The chart below shows how the collection costs for the SK bespoke option (shown as 
scenario E) are similar to scenario D where dedicated food waste vehicles are used and a 
three-weekly residual collection is operated. 
 
It should be noted that the authority has indicated that the number of pod based vehicles is 
likely to be higher that the modelling suggests, due to greater variance in fill rates and the 
added complications of unloading etc. Thus Scenario E costs could potentially be higher than 
Scenario D. 
 
Figure 5-4 Gross collection costs of sensitivity scenarios investigated in part one and the 

South Kesteven bespoke option (Scenario E). 

 

 
 

5.4 Sensitivity Analysis Part three: Additional sensitivity - Varying food waste 
collected 

 
As part of the Stage 2 analysis, we have modelled higher food waste capture rates as part of 
moving to a three-weekly residual collection service (Scenario D). However, the analysis 
below shows the impact if higher food waste levels were also to be attained on Scenarios B 
& C. The analysis assumes there would be no impact on collection costs, only on the 
diversion from residual to food waste treatment. The analysis shows that increasing the food 
waste by ~ 5,600 tonnes (as a result of the increased yield per household modelled) results 
in an annual saving of approximately £310k. The primary cost reductions are from a 
reduction in residual process fees, which are offset in part by additional food waste haulage 
and treatment costs. There would be no cost change for Scenario D as it assumes similar 
levels of food waste collected, as part of moving to three weekly residual collections. 
  

Page 120



 

49 

 

Table 5-10 WDA costs of scenarios A, B and C using different food waste yields. 

WDA costs A - Baseline B - FW D+2 C - FW D+1 

Lower level of food waste yields £16,640,000 £15,750,000 £15,750,000 

Medium levels of food waste 

yields 
£16,640,000 £15,440,000 £15,440,000 

Potential saving £0 £310,000 £310,000 

 
5.5 Part four: Scenario 5 (varying the MRF gate fee) 

 
The fourth part of the sensitivity analysis investigates the impact of varying the dry recycling 
gate fees. Looking at the WRAP Gate Fees reports for 2010 to 2017, the data shows a very 
wide range of gate fees payable (See Figure 5-5). The lowest median gate fees were seen in 
2011 with MRFs paying a median price of £26/ tonne for material (i.e. a negative gate fee), 
which corresponds to a peak in material prices. 
 
The most recent WRAP data relating to gate fees shows that for contracts let in 2016, the 
widest range of gate fees was seen, with a difference of around £150 per tonne between the 
minimum and maximum prices, with a median gate fee of £29 per tonne. LWP currently pay 
an average of £44 per tonne (including management of rejects and non-target material). 
 
Figure 5-5 MRF fees over time (source: Wrap Gate Fees reports). 

Page 121



 

50 

 

Table 5-11 below indicates that if LWP was able to secure a MRF gate fee at either £36/t or 
£29/t then the annual cost would decrease by between ~£0.5 and £0.9 million across the 
Partnership. 
 
However, given the current impact of China reducing the quantity of recyclate materials 
imported and other market pressure on material prices, there is the potential that MRF gates 
fees could instead rise. If MRF gate fees were to rise to £52 or £59 per tonne there would be 
an increase of between ~£0.5 and £0.9million across the Partnership. More information and 
a commentary on market trends and influences is provided in Section 6.2 and Appendix 2.  
 
Table 5-11 Potential savings due to securing lower MRF gate fee across scenarios A to D. 

MRF gate fee A - Baseline B - FW D+2 C - FW D+1 
D - Ext 
Res&FW 
D+1 

Current rate (~£44/t) £2,730,000 £2,730,000 £2,730,000 £2,770,000 

@ £36/t £2,240,000 £2,240,000 £2,240,000 £2,280,000 

Saving to Current 
rate 

£490,000 £490,000 £490,000 £490,000 

@ £29/t £1,800,000 £1,800,000 £1,800,000 £1,830,000 

Saving to Current 
rate 

£930,000 £930,000 £930,000 £940,000 

 
5.6 Introducing charging for garden waste (West Lindsey Only) 

 
As part of the project we have explored the impact of West Lindsey introducing charges for 
garden waste collection. We understand the decision has already been made to introduce 
the policy but have included the result for information. Appendix 4 provided details of the 
assumptions. 
 
The table below shows the tonnage and participation estimates for the charged for service 
compared to the current free service1 once charging is introduced. It allows for the 
recognised trend that those who ‘opt in’ to use the scheme when it moves to a charged 
service tend to put out greater quantities of garden waste i.e. 60% participation equates to 
75% of the previous tonnage being collected. It should also be noted that the tonnage 
projected might not be achievable immediately and could take a few years to reach that 
level. 
 
Projected performance 

 West Lindsey - 
Current 

West Lindsey – Predicted 
charged for scheme 

Households Total 42,350 42,350 

% HH's on garden waste 95% 47% 

HH's on garden waste 40,233 19,883 

kg/hh on scheme 272 375 

Tonnage 10,958 7,456 

 

                                           
1 2016/17 data 

Page 122



 

51 

 

The impact on the collection service is a reduction in one vehicle, which equates to 
~£180,000 saving per year once vehicle and crew costs are taken into consideration. 
 
Based on a charge of £35 per bin and an uptake of ~20,000 households, the estimated 
income is ~£700,000 per annum. There will be a reduction garden waste requiring 
processing, which equates to around £70,000 pa at £20/t.  
 
There will be additional costs, such as: 

• Setting up and running the scheme i.e. accepting payments; 
• Additional residual costs assuming a proportion of garden waste is transferred 

(~£32,000); and 
• Potential increase in material processed at recycling centres. 

 
Based on these assumptions we expect the potential saving to be in the region of £0.9million 
per annum. 
 
 

5.7 Summary of sensitivity analysis conducted 
 
The findings identified from the sensitivity analysis can be summarised as: 

• Moving to a three-weekly residual frequency reduces residual collection costs through 
the reduction of vehicle numbers and staffing costs. This is not sufficient to offset the 
additional costs associated with the introduction of food waste collections. 

• For South Holland, reducing the frequency of recycling and residual to fortnightly is 
sufficient to offset the additional food waste collection costs.  

• Food waste collections add ~ 5% to 8% to the baseline recycling rate. Moving to a 
three-weekly residual collection is expected to increase recycling and food waste 
diversion and reduce overall waste. This results in a further 3% to 5% increase in 
recycling rates, with some authorities exceeding 50%. 

• The cost of treatment of food waste and dry recycling is lower than the cost of 
residual treatment, thus the diversion of these streams from residual waste reduces 
overall WDA costs. 

• The whole system costs (combined collection and apportioned WDA costs for each 
authority) indicate that the Baseline costs remain the lowest of all Options and 
Scenarios (except for South Holland), but the beneficial WDA costs help scenarios B, 
C, and D to be closer to the Baseline 

• Scenario D for South Holland, once collection and WDA costs are combined, creates 
further savings compared to the Baseline, due to the introduction of fortnightly 
collections and the result and diversion of material from the residual waste stream. 

• The analysis would suggest that the current comingled approach is not easily 
compatible with three weekly residual collections and the use of pod vehicles. To 
make savings and use pod vehicles, an alternative pattern of service would be 
required. 

• The MRF gate fee can have a significant influence on costs and there are significant 
uncertainties on material markets and prices going forward. This could increase MRF 
prices. 

 
  

Page 123



 

52 

 

 
6 Future proofing 
 
Appendix 2 explores the wider drivers for change which have the potential to impact on the 
costs, methodologies and wider aspects of waste management on a national level. Whilst in 
many cases no certainty can be determined regarding the probability of whether any, all or a 
combination of these factors will prove to represent substantial additional factors in the 
required methodology for waste management from a Lincolnshire perspective, they 
represent a comprehensive analysis of the level of additional risk which should be considered 
when assessing the outputs of the options for future delivery in terms of the ‘future proofing’ 
of the service methodologies chosen. These drivers incorporate:  
 

• National – Austerity considerations 

• The Environmental Protection Act 1990 & the Deregulation Act 2015 
• The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011 
• 25 Year Environment Plan and forthcoming Resources and Waste Strategy 
• Potential impacts from the UK’s adoption of the EU Circular Economy Package 
• The Europe-wide Strategy for Plastics in the Circular Economy 
• Potential impacts from revisions to packaging obligations 
• Potential impacts from Brexit 
• Possible impacts from alternative recycling metrics and Carbon Impacts 
• Possible impacts from Chinese import restrictions 
• How the market for secondary materials will change in the next 5+ years? 

 
Within this section, these drivers and the results of the work conducted for this project are 
used to consider a number of the specific challenges Lincolnshire is currently facing 
regarding the collection and disposal of its household waste: 
 

▪ Residual Capacity: 
o The North Hykeham Energy from Waste (EfW) plant which opened in 2014 is 

already approaching capacity.  
o Available landfill in Lincolnshire, which is all privately owned and controlled 

and thus beyond the control of the local authorities, is scheduled for closure 
(N.B. this situation is subject to ongoing negotiations).  

o Record future housing growth within the county is predicted, which will 
increase waste arisings and put further pressure on capacity at the EfW plant  

▪ Contamination of dry recycling: 
o There are significant issues with contamination in the dry recycling stream. 

▪ Cost savings: 
o A number of authorities are looking for cost savings. 

 
6.1 Residual Capacity 

 
One of the key issues for LWP is the capacity at the North Hykeham Energy from Waste 
facility, which is currently at full capacity (150,000t per year). The analysis conducted and 
presented in Figure 6-1 shows that: 

• Introducing food waste collections can potentially create approximately 20,000t of 
headroom; 

• Moving to three-weekly residual collections and further increasing food and dry 
recycling diversion could further increase headroom to ~ 35,000 t. 

 
  

Page 124



 

53 

 

 
Figure 6-1 Residual waste from collection authorities for the different Sensitivity 

Scenarios 

 
 
This potential headroom will help tackle rising waste generation and household growth in the 
region. If additional waste diversion is not achieved, the WDA costs are likely to increase, as 
any waste over the current EfW capacity will incur additional haulage and disposal costs, 
which are typically higher than food waste and dry recycling costs. 
 
All of the different Options, sensitivities and Scenarios investigated have shown an increase 
in whole system costs compared to the Baseline, and this increase varies between £2.2 
million for Option 1a Scenario D (dedicated food waste vehicles and three weekly residual 
collection) and the £7.2 million for Option 2a (dedicated food waste vehicles and twin stream 
recycling alongside fortnightly residual collection). 
 
Factoring in the impact of creating headroom and thus additional treatment capacity at the 
EfW can create cost savings, as residual treatment for waste over the EfW capacity is 
charged at £110/t, higher than the EfW rate of ~£92/t. 
 
Thus, reducing residual tonnage creates savings in two main ways: 

• Lower residual tonnage and thus lower treatment costs; and 
• Lower residual tonnage creates headroom at the EfW to allow any growth in residual 

waste to be treated at the lower rate. 
 
Alternatively, the headroom can potentially create an income stream from selling the ‘spare’ 
capacity to third parties.  
 
Since the difference in gate fee between EfW and landfill is currently ~£18/t) the increased 
annual capacity of 20,000 tonnes created at the EfW plant equates to an annual saving of 
£350,000 compared with the cost of landfill. A 35,000tpa headroom equates to a ~£620,000 
saving.  
 
These savings are not sufficient to reduce the whole system costs to below the Baseline for 
the different options modelled but does bring them closer. Creating headroom also enables 
the need for any additional long-term residual treatment capacity to be re-assed. Freeing up 
processing capacity at the EfW will assist in delaying the requirement for additional 
treatment, and will also reduce the predicted capacity required. This would provide a longer 
timescale for developing a solution, and potentially create a cost saving in the medium to 

Page 125



 

54 

 

long term, through delaying a procurement exercise and also by procuring a contract with a 
capacity that is more tailored to exact needs longer term. 
 

6.2 Contamination of dry recycling 
LWP has identified that there is an increasing contamination issue with dry recycling in the 
region and has put additional communication plans in place to help mitigate this. Initial 
information has indicated this is reducing the level of contamination presented but there are 
still significant improvements that could be made. 
 
Alternative collection options such as multi-stream and twin stream have been modelled and 
could help reduce contamination, but were not highly ranked in the options appraisal due to 
the higher collection costs involved. 
 
Consequently, a more sustained and joined up campaign led by the Partnership is likely to be 
the best course of action. If a food waste collection was to be introduced, a combined 
campaign would be a sensible and more effective approach. 
 
Greater enforcement in combination with improved communication can aid improved recycling 
performance and reduce contamination. Under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 & the 
Deregulation Act 2015, local authorities can require occupiers of premises to present their 
household waste for collection in a specified way. However, their powers to enforce this, along 
with their ability to require residents to recycle through the specification of what can be placed 
in each container and where containers should be placed, were substantially curtailed by 
Section 58 of the Deregulation Act 2015 which downgrades failure to comply with any notice 
from a criminal to a civil offence whilst tightening the definition of an offence to “causing a 
nuisance or likely to be, detrimental to any amenities of the locality”  This makes enforcement 
extremely difficult, undermining the ability of local authorities to effectively enforce their own 
collection policies.  
 
From an authority perspective, the lack of enforcement options limits any addressing of this 
issue to communications aimed at transgressing residents, with no power to take further 
action. This may lead to a continued high level of contamination and non-target material 
delivered to MRFs from kerbside collection schemes, which means that MRF infrastructure may 
have to be flexible to deal with ongoing contamination challenges. 
 
If co-mingled services are retained there are changing market influences that will need to be 
monitored and services potentially adapted to mitigate against future impacts. This will require 
co-operation between the collection authorities and the WDA who are responsible for the 
material processing contract. 
 
Further details on the potential drivers that could affect the dry recycling service in the next 
few years are provided in Appendix 2 and some key points presented below.  
 
How will the market for secondary materials change in the next 5+ years? 
The secondary materials market will continue to be focussed on: 
 

 Quality of materials and how they are collected – this will drive saleability, value, 
regulatory compliance and the development of waste as a reliable secondary material 
source. 

 Ownership of materials along the value chain will be integral to the development of a 
coherent supply chain; strategic collection contracts will be developed with quality-
based SLAs to provide a reliable feedstock for treatment and reprocessing facilities. 

Page 126



 

55 

 

 Type of materials; the expansion of mixed plastics collections and food waste will drive 
increased recycling rates in the short term – provided markets can be found for the 
plastics.  

 The adoption of carbon metrics will incentivise more focus on textiles and re-use, whilst 
the circular economy will drive Waste Electronic and Electrical Equipment (WEEE) 
collections to enable the extraction of critical raw materials in the longer term. 

 Recent trends have seen municipal composition changing dramatically, with paper 
reducing and cardboard increasing due to reduced newsprint uptake and increased 
internet shopping.  However, the reduction in paper may be slowed by the recent focus 
on plastic packaging and single use plastics which may be replaced by paper/board 
based products. 

 Plastics (petroleum based) are likely to reduce in the longer term, although this trend 
is closely linked to oil prices, an increase in plant-derived cellulose packaging and 
potential government initiatives. 

 Infrastructure; with the impact of China’s import restrictions and the potential effect of 
Brexit, it is likely that development will focus on treatment and reprocessing capacity. 
This will include MRFs and ‘mini MRFs’ to enable sorting of materials to high quality 
standards, along with enhancement of waste transfer and bulking sites. 

 Further reprocessing facilities for plastics and food waste would resolve export issues 
and enable the production of energy from waste. 

 The export market for RDF is considered to be stable for the next 5 years, but 
represents a significant UK investment opportunity. 

 
6.3 Cost savings 

Efficiency continues to be a main driver for many local authorities as budget cuts continue to 
apply pressure on local authority spend. As such, services and infrastructure are being shaped 
by austerity (three-four weekly residual collection, chargeable garden waste collections), and 
in some instances, this is leading to innovative service delivery models. 
 
Apart from South Holland moving to AWC, none of the options considered result in an overall 
cost saving to the Partnership. Extending residual collection frequencies does reduce costs but 
not sufficiently to offset the addition of a food waste collection. WDA costs reduce with 
diversion of material from residual, but overall costs remain higher than the Baseline.  
 
Longer term risks and potential costs can be mitigated in part by some of the options. As 
discussed previously, the introduction of separate food waste collections can create headroom 
at the EfW facility and thus help reduce future residual waste treatment costs. Some of the 
suggested options may help mitigate the impact and fines from any potential changes in 
legislation, such as the UK’s adoption of the EU Circular Economy Package. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 127



 

56 

 

 
7 Conclusion  
A range of options were identified and modelled in Phase 1 of this project. These were assessed 
against a range of criteria and a weighted and non-weighted approach was used to identify a 
preferred option before further sensitivity analysis was conducted. 

Key observations: 

 Across all the authorities there are very similar trends in the rankings of the options. 

 Under equal weighting for each criterion the most favourable Options are those that 
introduce food waste collections without any change to dry recycling methodology. 
This is due to increased recycling rates, improved environmental performance, the 
schemes being relatively easy to implement, requiring simple communication and 
being easy for the public to use.  

 All the Options represent an increase in overall whole system costs, and some have a 
minimal impact on material quality. 

 Moving to a multi-stream dry recycling service is generally ranked lowest due to the 
Option requiring more active input from householders and also being more difficult to 
implement, operate and maintain. It would also require the greatest level of 
communications to householders. The Option does, however, help improve 
environmental performance and material quality. 

Once the weightings provided by authorities were included, this resulted in: 

 the Baseline Option becoming a more favoured Option. This is due to greater 
weighting being placed on value for money. 

 Collecting food waste using dedicated vehicles ranked higher than the use of pod 
vehicles, due to being easier to implement by a collection authority and also easier to 
operate in the long term.  

Following feedback from the authorities and a review of the preferred Options from Phase 1, 
the following key variables were analysed in Phase 2: 
  

 Dedicated food vehicles with either a single loader or two loaders: 
o There was no significant overall cost difference between these variables: the 

use of 2 loaders reduced the number of vehicles required, whilst the use of a 
single loader increased the number of vehicles required.  

o However, overall it was thought that the single loader modelling outputs were 
more in keeping with how LWP authorities would operate the service, 
particularly with the rurality of the County limiting the potential pass rate 
achievable.  

 Dedicated food waste vehicles with residual collected on a three-weekly cycle (2 
weekly for South Holland): 

o Both WCA and WDA costs were reduced by reducing the residual collection 
frequency. 

o Overall costs were closer to the Baseline but still above it; 
o Moving to an AWC approach in South Holland reduced costs below the 

Baseline. 

 Food on pod based vehicles with residual collected on a three-weekly cycle: 
o This Scenario was modelled for South Kesteven only in order to gauge its 

impact. However, the approach did not result in any significant savings 
compared to other Options. 

 Influence of increased food waste yields on analysis 
o The analysis shows that utilising an assumption of ‘medium’ food waste 

tonnages generated by households would increase food waste collected for 
recycling by ~ 5,600 tonnes pa, resulting in a saving of around £310k pa due 
to the diversion of this waste from the residual stream. The cost reductions 

Page 128



 

57 

 

from the reduction in residual process fees are offset in part by additional 
food waste haulage and treatment costs. 

o Frontline collection costs are not expected to vary significantly due to this 
additional tonnage, as there is expected to be sufficient spare capacity on the 
collection vehicles to enable the collection of greater yields. 

 Influence that varying the MRF gate fee has on the analysis: 
o A £15/t increase or decrease in the gate fee charged by the MRF can result in 

a swing of ~£0.9million per annum due to the quantity of waste treated. 
o The prices for recyclate and MRF treatment are determined largely by the 

value of the sorted materials. This is a historically volatile market, and is likely 
to be influenced by a variety of factors in coming years, with the current 
restrictions in China’s acceptance of materials demonstrating the sensitivities 
of the international market. 

o At present managing contamination (including non-target materials) via the 
MRF contract is less expensive than the residual waste stream, due to the low 
cost of waste disposal available to the MRF operators. 

 Introducing charging for garden waste (West Lindsey) 
o Introducing charging for garden waste collections could result in £0.9million 

saving per annum for West Lindsey.   

 
Overall findings: 
 
Varying the dry recycling service to two-stream or multi-stream would assist in addressing 
the current level of contamination in the recycling collection, but has not been a favoured 
approach. Without this practical solution, improved communications will be required to help 
tackle the contamination levels in the current service. Improving contamination rates should 
help mitigate potential price rises for MRF processing due to improving the current poor-
quality material streams. 
 
Collecting food waste using dedicated vehicles was identified as a preferred option should 
food waste collections be introduced. This approach was favoured as it does not impact on 
existing services and allows for greater potential Partnership working, especially with the 
potential of blurring boundaries to aid more efficient collections and the sharing of spare 
vehicles.  
 
Introducing a food waste collection does increase overall costs, as higher collection costs are 
not completely offset by reduced disposal costs. Even in the scenario of three weekly 
residual collections, net combined collection and disposal costs do not fall sufficiently to 
represent a saving against current whole system costs. The analysis shows, however, that if 
food waste collections are introduced they should be maximised as far as possible, since 
food waste treatment costs are significantly lower than residual treatment costs, and thus 
increasing yields collected at the kerbside will maximise the diversion of waste from the 
residual stream. Increased yields are unlikely to significantly increase collections costs once a 
scheme is in place due to the available capacity in food waste collection vehicles in all 
Options/Scenarios. 
 
Options which introduce food waste collections and increase dry recycling levels provide 
benefits in the longer term. Environmental performance improves, with increased recycling 
performance for all LAs, with rates for some authorities exceeding the current 50% target. 
The other key impact for LWP is the additional capacity at the EfW facility created by 
reducing residual waste tonnages through increased diversion. The facility is already 
operating at close to full capacity and any increase in residual waste is likely to incur higher 
processing fees at landfill.  

Page 129



 

58 

 

 
Thus, creating some headroom at the facility allows any spare capacity to be used as an 
income stream in the short term and in the medium to long term provides treatment capacity 
to deal with the expected waste growth in the region for a longer time-scale than currently 
anticipated.  
 
Freeing up processing capacity at the EfW through increased diversion would thus help delay 
the requirement for additional treatment capacity and would also revise the predicted 
capacity required. This would represent a cost saving over the medium to long term through 
delaying a procurement exercise and also by procuring a contract with a capacity that is 
more tailored to exact needs longer term. Additionally, providing an extended timescale for 
developing a solution may enable the exploration of better value emerging solutions. 
 
 
 
  

Page 130



 

59 

 

 
 

Appendix 1: Modelling limitations 

In order to provide an upfront appraisal of the modelling limitations, we have detailed the 
costs not included within the modelling, the assumptions used and the income assumed to 
be gained from the captured dry recycling It should be noted that although a number of 
limitations are discussed, KAT is an industry recognised tool that is widely used in the 
planning and review of kerbside waste and recycling collection systems throughout UK local 
authorities. 
 
A3.1 Costs not included within the modelling 
KAT model options are based on whole service specific collection rounds (i.e. waste 
collection, paper collection, glass collection, co-mingled collection, etc.) and will produce 
forecasts of resources (vehicles and labour), performance and costs. However, whilst KAT is 
a useful tool that has allowed us to model kerbside waste and recycling collection Options for 
the Councils, the forecast outputs do not address all of the cost associated with potential 
service changes.  
 
The following is a list of factors that need to be considered as part of the overall picture of 
service change: 
 

 Interface with other waste collection services;  

 Bring Site services; 

 Land take requirements at the operational depot; 

 Spare vehicles; 

 Labour resource issues; 

 Disposal activities; and 

 Change to collection rounds. 

 
Interface with other waste collection services  
The KAT models do not consider the other waste collection services provided by the 
Councils, for example: bulky waste, clinical waste, etc. Where any resource for these 
services has an interface with the current kerbside collection services, for example the 
shared use of vehicles or labour, then these will not be identified in the KAT models. 
 
Bring Site services 
Similarly, the KAT model will not consider any interface with bring site collections. Where any 
vehicle involved in the kerbside collection services also carries out a service to empty bring 
site containers this has not been factored-into costs. Option 4 would need an additional 
vehicle to service bring sites and commercial recycling. 
 
Land-take requirements at the operational depot 
Any service change that results in an increase in vehicle fleet size (including spare vehicles) 
will result in a requirement for additional parking at the operational depot. There may be a 
cost associated with this if suitable space is not available and needs to be acquired. 
 
Spare vehicles 
KAT does not model spare vehicles and this will need to be factored in. This will be 
particularly important for any KAT model option that would introduce a new type of 
collection vehicle and the need to have spare capacity across a range of different types of 

Page 131



 

60 

 

refuse collection vehicles (RCV) or RRVs. Estimates of time lost by vehicles through planned 
and unplanned maintenance would be necessary and spares provided to cover for that. 
 
Labour resource issues 
The costs modelled do not include cover for annual leave, sickness and absenteeism. 
Therefore, this would need to be added to the overall cost. 
 
There may also be some additional training or maintenance related costs associated with the 
introduction of new types of vehicle: for example, one-off training costs for using the vehicle, 
including health and safety requirements, training of maintenance staff or the purchase of 
maintenance software. 
 
Disposal costs 
KAT does not contain any disposal costs, i.e. KAT only models the collection element of a 
service. We have included the potential income from dry recyclates, bulking, MRF and 
disposal cost assumptions separately, using information supplied by the County Council. 
 
Change to collection rounds 
The KAT results do not include the costs of changes to collection rounds. Additional costs 
would be incurred through the reorganisation of collection days for a number of households, 
including new collection calendars and general communications. 
 
Other costs not included 
The list below provides examples of costs that may be included within the whole service cost 
but that have not been included within the KAT models: 

 Administration costs of the subscription-based garden waste service; 

 Clinical waste vehicle; 

 Bulky waste vehicle; 

 Supervisor van(s); 

 Operations Manager’s van; 

 Adverts in press and communications; 

 PPE; 

 Training; 

 Expenses; 

 IT and printing; 

 Insurance (non-vehicle); 

 Additional mechanics for the maintenance of any specialist vehicles, for example, 
RRVs; 

 Waste and recycling collections from carried out by other rounds (e.g. a van round); 

 Bring site servicing and cleaning. 

Due to the absence of these costs, the results should not be used for budgetary purposes, 
but instead used to assess the relative and proportionate differences in costs of future 
collection options against the current baseline. Some of the additional items to be included in 
a full cost analysis may well also be relative in scale to the results of the options modelled. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 132



 

61 

 

Appendix 2: Drivers for Change 

National – Austerity considerations 
Efficiency is without doubt the main driver for local authorities as budget cuts continue to apply 
pressure on local authority spend. As such, services and infrastructure are being shaped by 
austerity (three-four weekly residual collection, chargeable garden waste collections), and in 
some instances, this is leading to innovative service delivery models. 
 
The Environmental Protection Act 1990 & the Deregulation Act 2015 
In England and Wales, Waste Collection Authorities are obliged by law to provide a domestic 
waste collection service to households. The Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) is required to 
provide or facilitate a facility(s) for the deposit of this waste. These duties are laid out in the 
Environmental Protection Act (EPA) 1990 (EPA). 
 
Councils can require occupiers of premises to present their household waste for collection in a 
specified way under the EPA. However, their powers to enforce this, along with being able to 
require residents to recycle through the specification of what can be placed in each container 
and where containers should be placed were substantially curtailed by Section 58 of the 
Deregulation Act 2015 which downgrades failure to comply with any notice from a criminal to 
a civil offence whilst tightening the definition of an offence to “causing a nuisance or likely to 
be, detrimental to any amenities of the locality”  This makes enforcement extremely difficult, 
undermining the ability of local authorities to enforce their collection policies. 
 
The Deregulation Act also makes any form of enforcement activity regarding contamination of 
recyclate effectively impotent. The practical requirements of bringing a civil case against 
individual residents has yet to be fully tested, but the disproportionate effort and expenditure 
required acts as a significant disincentive to authorities. As a result, the growing issue of 
contamination in the kerbside recycling stream will be difficult to address. From an authority 
perspective, the lack of enforcement options limits any addressing of this issue to 
communications aimed at transgressing residents with no power to take further action. This 
may lead to a continuing increase in the proportion of contamination and non-target material 
delivered to MRFs from kerbside collection schemes, which means that MRF infrastructure may 
have to be flexible to deal with contamination challenges 
 
The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011 
The Waste Framework Directive (2008/98/EC) is the overarching EU policy on waste covering 
recycling targets, a definition of waste and national waste management plans which also 
defines the “Waste Hierarchy”. The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations (2011) (amended 
by the Waste (England and Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2012) and the Environmental 
Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2010, implemented much of the directive, 
including the current 50% recycling target (to be achieved by 2020). These Regulations also 
require Waste Collection Authorities (WCAs) to separately collect paper, plastics, glass and 
metals. The collection of these materials either co-mingled or two-stream may be compliant, 
but only if it can be demonstrated that separate collection is not necessary to achieve good 
quality recyclables, or is not technically, environmentally or economically practical (known as 
TEEP). WCAs are required to carry out a ‘TEEP’ assessment to demonstrate that their collection 
system is compliant with the regulations. However, ambiguity in the detailed wording in the 
Waste Framework Directive, combined with a Judicial Review and a subsequent lack of clarity 
from Defra, means there is still much uncertainty in the market as to what this means in 
operational terms for both commercial and domestic kerbside collections.  
 
 
 

Page 133



 

62 

 

25 Year Environment Plan and Resources and Waste Strategy 
In terms of the need for a clear policy framework from central government, Therese Coffey, 
Parliamentary Secretary of State at DEFRA, has confirmed that they note the limitations of 
weight based targets, and the reliance of recycling rates on garden waste collections. Despite 
the recent publication by Michael Gove, Secretary of State for the Environment, of the 
Government’s 25 year Environment Plan, there is no additional clarity on the issue of recycling 
targets or wider waste policy. There thus remains a lack of clear direction on the future of 
waste policy in England. It appears that in the short term, local decision makers will be required 
to continue to concentrate on improving recycling performance and saving costs in a manner 
most appropriate to their imperatives. 
 
The 25 Year Plan does state that the Government will crackdown on plastics by eliminating all 
avoidable plastic waste achieving zero avoidable plastic waste by the end of 2042.  They 
identify extending the 5p plastic bag charge to small retailers, removing consumer single-use 
plastics from the government estate, supporting the water industry with the roll out of more 
public drinking fountains, and working with retailers to implement plastic free aisles in 
supermarkets as measures they will pursue.  More detail is anticipated in the Resources and 
Waste Strategy which is expected to be published in the second half of 2018.  
 
Potential impacts from EU Circular Economy Package 
The Circular Economy Package (CEP) was adopted by the European Commission in December 
2015. It includes a range of policy options around waste management but also addresses 
product lifecycles in terms of intelligent product design, smarter use of raw materials, improved 
reuse and repair, increased recycling and more resilient markets for secondary raw materials. 
It also limits the use of landfill to 10% of municipal waste (based on the EU definition of 
municipal waste) by 2030.  
 
Following consideration by EU member states in February, on 18th April 2018 MEPs in the 
European Parliament agreed the recycling targets set out in the EU’s Circular Economy 
Package. These targets can be found on the EU website2, and include: 
 

• By 2025, at least 55% of municipal waste (from households and businesses) should 
be recycled by member states. 

• The target will rise to 60% by 2030 and 65% by 2035.  
• 65% of packaging materials will have to be recycled by 2025, and 70% by 2030. 
• Separate targets are set for specific packaging materials, such as paper and 

cardboard, plastics, glass, metal and wood. 
• The proportion of municipal waste sent to landfill will be limited to a maximum of 

10% by 2035.  
• Separate collection of textiles and hazardous waste from households will be required 

by 2025.  
• Separate collection of biodegradable waste will be required by 2024, although this is 

not required where the waste is composted at home. 
 

The agreed text must now go back to the EU Council of Ministers for final formal approval, 
and once this process is complete, it will be published in the Official Journal of the EU, the 
official record of all EU legal acts. Following this formal approval and adoption, EU members 
will have two years to bring the legislation into law.  
 
The fluidity of these negotiations, combined with uncertainty regarding the methodology for 
adoption of these targets by the UK will require the policy document to retain a degree of 
flexibility until certainty on the final targets (and their applicability) is achieved. DEFRA is 

                                           
2 http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?qid=1453384548330&uri=CELEX:52015PC0595 

Page 134

https://emea01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Feur-lex.europa.eu%2Flegal-content%2FEN%2FTXT%2F%3Fqid%3D1453384548330%26uri%3DCELEX%3A52015PC0595&data=02%7C01%7CJohn.Woodruff%40ricardo.com%7C1779245b0d244c37c57f08d5b003ac24%7C0b6675bca0cc4acf954f092a57ea13ea%7C0%7C0%7C636608452248082168&sdata=JFatGM6ZuuD4F9gqECxev4X%2FflpLunvHwniSKuKQyzw%3D&reserved=0


 

63 

 

continuing its participation in negotiations regarding the Circular Economy Package, and it is 
anticipated that the Package will be adopted into formal EU law before the end of the two-
year Brexit process, and is thus expected to be among the environmental legislation brought 
into UK law via the ‘European Union (Withdrawal) Bill’. 
 
Whilst local authorities will be expected to reflect the principles of the Circular Economy, the 
primary impacts will be the increased recycling rate target, the further minimisation of 
allowable waste to landfill, and the Extended Producer Regulations (EPR). The latter, by 
making producers responsible for the full cost of recycling or disposing of products they bring 
to the market (including those costs currently incurred by local Authorities) should incentivise 
them to reduce the overall environmental impact of their products and packaging, reducing 
overall costs whilst minimising environmental impact. Proposals on how the EPR would be 
introduced in contrast to the current PRN methodology are currently the subject of 
consultation, with the ESA, LARAC and the compliance sector holding differing views. One 
possibility is that the packaging industry becomes ‘responsible’ for the cost of collecting 
household packaging waste. The packaging industry is, currently, lobbying against this 
approach, whilst Local Authorities are concerned that it may impact adversely on their statutory 
duties.  
 
A further concern regards the potential impact on collection methodologies. The Waste 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2011, as amended in 2012 requires WCAs to separately 
collect paper, plastics, glass and metals. The collection of these materials either co-mingled or 
two-stream may be compliant only if it can be demonstrated that separate collection is not 
necessary to achieve good quality recyclables, or is not technically, environmentally or 
economically practical.  Following the publication of the revised targets,  the TEEP provision 
remain within the proposals. 
 
It should also be noted that the targets appear to require the separate collection of 
biodegradable waste by 2024. Although this is not required where the waste is composted at 
home, it seems likely that this will require universal food waste collection services. 
 
However, this requirement is subject to a revised version of Article 22 of the Waste 
Framework Directive, which states 'Member States shall ensure the separate collection of 
bio-waste where technically, environmentally and economically practicable and appropriate 
to ensure the relevant quality standards for compost…’ 
 
This amendment of the ‘TEEP exemption’ provides the opportunity for Local Authorities to 
demonstrate that the introduction of dedicated food waste collections is not currently 
possible for reasons of technical, environmental, practical or economic barriers. As such, this 
report clearly demonstrates the economic barriers faced by LWP in introducing a scheme of 
this nature. 
 
It is as yet unclear when and how the government will transpose the revised Directive into 
UK law, whether any derogation will be sought and under what circumstances ‘TEEP 
exemptions’ will be assessed. However, it seems likely that a comprehensive ‘TEEP 
assessment’ exercise may be required to ensure that LWP can clearly demonstrate the 
evidence developed through the development of this project in terms of the constraints 
inhibiting the introduction of food waste collections. 
 
 
The Europe-wide Strategy for Plastics in the Circular Economy 
In January 2018, the European Commission published a Strategy for Plastics which aims to 
protect the environment for plastic pollution whilst fostering growth and innovation.   
 

Page 135



 

64 

 

Potential impacts from revisions to packaging obligations 
The Producer Responsibility Obligations (Packaging Waste) (Amendment) Regulations (2016), 
work on the principle of Collective Producer Responsibility, requiring obligated producers to 
pay a proportion of the cost of the recovery and recycling of their packaging. In the UK this 
obligation is achieved through Packaging Recovery Notes (PRNs) which are issued by 
accredited reprocessors when they have recovered and recycled a tonne of packaging material.  
 
The EPR nominally require producers to fund the full cost of recycling their products. This 
would include post-consumer waste, currently funded by LAs. The producers have suggested 
that should they be required to fund this activity, they may prefer to implement material 
specific collection schemes to minimise cost and maximise quality. Alternatively, agreeing 
funding mechanisms with local authorities would enable the continuation of the cost-
efficiencies of the current local authority led approach. Following consultation by Government, 
it appears that they consider the current Packaging Recovery Note (PRN) scheme to be working 
well, and at an acceptable cost to industry, and have no current plans for major revision. This 
would leave the current situation unchanged. However, this may be contingent on the wording 
of the CEP. 
 
Recent government statements regarding producer responsibility, incorporation of the 
consideration of taxes and charges on single-use items such as takeaway containers, the 25p 
‘coffee cup tax’ and the proposed ‘clampdown on plastic waste’ suggest that Government policy 
may be moving towards a more explicit ‘Producer Pays’ methodology. The impact of ‘return 
and reward’ schemes would have a substantive impact on both the volume and composition 
of municipal waste. Proposals currently revolve around plastic bottles, but may be extended. 
This would divert tonnage from the municipal waste stream to the commercial sector, and 
would effectively be a pre-sorted material stream. The Government has undertaken a recent 
consultation on a ‘Deposit or Reward and Return Scheme’ (DRRS) for drinks containers. 
 
The impact of a ‘single-use plastic container’ tax, as recently suggested by Government, is less 
clear. Should such a scheme be introduced, the packaging industry would be incentivised to 
identify alternative packaging options, particularly for food packaging. If the net effect is a 
change in the type of containment, this may result in stable municipal waste tonnages but a 
change to waste composition, assuming the revised containment is recyclable.  
 
The current consideration of a ‘coffee cup’ charge has added a degree of confusion to this 
debate. This issue highlights the difficulty of specifying the intent of policy change: is this 
policy intended to incentivise the use of re-useable cups, provide funding for collection and 
recycling infrastructure, or will it dis-incentivise drinking coffee ‘on the go’? 
 
Potential impacts from Brexit 
The Department for Exiting the European Union (DEXEU) has confirmed that all EU legislation 
which has not already been transposed into UK law will be transferred to UK statute, including 
current regulations governing waste, packaging, waste electrical and electronic equipment 
(WEEE) and landfill. However, DEXEU has also stated that ‘Following integration into UK law 
upon departure, all EU environmental laws will be open to being “amended, repealed or 
improved “’. The UK is thus free to decide the future of its waste policy and laws. 
 
This freedom has given rise to uncertainty over the future of environmental legislation and 
policy post-Brexit. This is due to the methodology which will be utilised to “amend, repeal or 
improve” the current Regulations, with Ministers, utilising secondary legislation to amend or 
repeal primary legislation without parliamentary scrutiny. This may limit the ability of the wider 
waste sector to influence policy decisions, and may also lead to politically motivated policies 
being introduced which impact on local authorities’ municipal waste activities.  
 

Page 136



 

65 

 

A further concern is that at present, the UK is reliant on enforcement from both the European 
Commission and the European Court of Justice (through the threat of heavy fines) to ensure 
that environmental standards and targets are met. The Government will thus need to consider 
the means by which environmental commitments are given effect in domestic law, and the 
scope and scale of the regulatory and accountability systems by which the UK is held to adhere 
to the standards set. Will this involve an enhanced role for the EA, or will a new regulatory 
department be created? Environment Secretary Michael Gove has recently announced plans 
to consult on a proposal for a new, independent body for environmental standards. The 
proposed consultation regarding this suggest this will be a new, independent body that will 
hold Government to account for upholding environmental standards post-Brexit. Further details 
have not yet been announced. 
 
A further key impact of Brexit is the issue of exporting waste and recyclate to foreign markets. 
Currently, the adverse impact on the value of the pound has increased the cost of exporting 
RDF, whilst reducing the income received for recyclate. The potential impact of tariffs, 
dependant on the trade arrangements agreed between the UK and both the EU and the wider 
world have the potential to compromise the economics and/or practicalities of exporting waste. 
 
Possible impacts from alternative recycling metrics and Carbon Impacts 
One aspect of the CE approach is the exploration of whether recycling activities should be 
more focussed on those materials whose recycling represents the maximum environmental 
benefit, rather than simply collecting the heaviest elements of the waste stream. Under this 
approach, instead of an absolute target for recycling, individual material streams would have 
their own target, which could include packaging waste. The streams would be linked to the 
best environmental option for that particular material. Metrics such as carbon or residual waste 
production would provide a fairer reflection of environmental performance, and also help to 
level the playing field between urban and rural authorities.  
 
The use of carbon metrics would allow authorities to make more holistic decisions regarding 
recycling and reuse, and to prioritise overall environmental performance and the capture of 
resources which represent the best environmental outcome. This would resolve the current 
situation where local authority recycling performance is solely based on the weight of waste 
they reuse, recycle or compost/digest as a percentage of the total weight of waste they collect. 
This system encourages councils to “chase” the heavier waste materials, regardless of the 
overall environmental benefit, seen most clearly in the expansion of garden waste collections.  
 
This could result in a major revision of the collection services offered by local authorities. 
Taking this further, with emissions from waste services contributing in the region of 35% of 
an authority’s total carbon emissions, reviewing the carbon contribution of a total waste service 
could become an appropriate measure of environmental benefit. Carbon is often used as a 
proxy for environmental impact, particularly because materials and processes that have a high 
carbon footprint often involve wider environmental impacts due to high energy consumption, 
e.g. mining, processing, transport, etc. This would require the carbon impact of waste 
collection methodologies to be incorporated, incentivising the use of low-carbon vehicles 
powered by electricity, gas or other technological solutions. 
 
Possible impacts from Chinese import restrictions 
More recently there are concerns that the announcement from China to ban plastic waste and 
unsorted paper imports (as part of a ban on important 24 types of material) could see the UK 
stockpiling waste, or having to send waste to residual disposal routes instead. Until recently, 
China had lower standards for receiving recyclable waste material, making it an easy choice 
for the UK to help reach higher recycling rates and reduce landfill. However, with a ban 
enforced at the end of 2017, on plastics such as polyethylene terephthalate (PET) drinks 

Page 137



 

66 

 

bottles and all mixed paper, including increased quality control on cardboard, pressure will be 
put on the British recycling industry. 
 
How will the market for secondary materials change in the next 5+ years? 
The secondary materials market will continue to be about: 

 Quality of materials and how they are collected – this will drive saleability, value, 
regulatory compliance and the development of waste as a reliable secondary material 
source. 

 Ownership of materials along the value chain will be integral to the development of a 
coherent supply chain; strategic collection contracts will be developed with quality-
based SLAs to provide a reliable feedstock for treatment and reprocessing facilities. 

 Type of materials; the expansion of mixed plastics collections and food waste will drive 
increased recycling rates in the short term – provided markets can be found for the 
plastics.  

 The adoption of carbon metrics will incentivise more focus on textiles and re-use, whilst 
the circular economy will drive Waste Electronic and Electrical Equipment (WEEE) 
collections to enable the extraction of critical raw materials in the longer term. 

 Recent trends have seen municipal composition changing dramatically, with paper 
reducing and cardboard increasing due to reduced newsprint uptake and increased 
internet shopping.  However, the reduction in paper may be slowed by the recent focus 
on plastic packaging and single use plastics which may be replaced by paper/board 
based products. 

 Plastics (petroleum based) are likely to reduce in the longer term, although this trend 
is closely linked to oil prices, an increase in plant-derived cellulose packaging and 
potential government initiatives. 

 Infrastructure; with the impact of China’s import restrictions and the potential effect of 
Brexit, it is likely that development will focus on treatment and reprocessing capacity. 
This will include MRFs and ‘mini MRFs’ to enable sorting of materials to high quality 
standards, along with enhancement of waste transfer and bulking sites. 

 Further reprocessing facilities for plastics and food waste will resolve export issues and 
enable the production of energy from waste. 

 The export market for RDF is considered to be stable for the next 5 years, but 
represents a significant UK investment opportunity. 

  

Page 138



 

67 

 

Appendix 3: Detailed Options appraisal  

This appendix provides details of the option appraisal scoring for each criterion. 
 
Scoring approach -RAG (Red, Amber, Green approach)  
As a result of the need to include non-quantifiable impacts within the options appraisal 
process quantitative scores for non-numeric criteria needed to be developed. As a result, a 
simple Red, Amber Green approach was created in order to score all criteria relative to the 
baseline collection system. To do this a simple scoring matric was established which is 
presented below. All options and weightings are informed by officers. 
 
RAG Scoring 

Rating Score Descriptor 

 3 The options that do well in the criteria are coded 
green and score 3. 
 

 2 Options that perform moderately are amber and 
score 2. 
 

 0 Any poor performing options are colour coded red 
and score 0.  

 

 
 

Page 139



 

Waste & Recycling Services Support to Lincolnshire Waste 

Partnership   68 

 

Criteria 1 - Impact on recycling rate 
Scoring approach: 

• increased recycling equal or above 5% scores 3 (green) 
• increased recycling between 2 and 5% scores 2 (amber) 
• increased recycling equal to or lower than 1% scores 0 (red) 

 

 
 
 
 

Authority Baseline Option 1a Option 1b Option 2a Option 2b Option 3 Option 1c Option 1d

Boston Borough council 35% 40% 40% 37% 37% 38% 40% 37%

City of Lincoln council 34% 40% 40% 38% 38% 38% 40% 40%

East Lindsey District council 40% 47% 47% 45% 45% 45% 47% 41%

North Kesteven District council 41% 48% 48% 46% 46% 46% 48% 46%

South Holland District council 23% 31% 31% 30% 30% 30% 31% 26%

South Keveston District Council 40% 48% 48% 46% 46% 46% 48% 40%

West Lindsey District council 44% 51% 51% 49% 49% 49% 51% 49%

Authority Baseline Option 1a Option 1b Option 2a Option 2b Option 3 Option 1c Option 1d

Boston Borough council N/A 5% 5% 2% 2% 3% 5% 2%

City of Lincoln council N/A 6% 6% 4% 4% 4% 6% 6%

East Lindsey District council N/A 7% 7% 6% 6% 6% 7% 1%

North Kesteven District council N/A 7% 7% 5% 5% 5% 7% 5%

South Holland District council N/A 8% 8% 7% 7% 7% 8% 3%

South Keveston District Council N/A 8% 8% 6% 6% 6% 8% 1%

West Lindsey District council N/A 7% 7% 5% 5% 5% 7% 5%

Authority Baseline Option 1a Option 1b Option 2a Option 2b Option 3 Option 1c Option 1d

Boston Borough council 0 3 3 2 2 2 3 2

City of Lincoln council 0 3 3 2 2 2 3 3

East Lindsey District council 0 3 3 3 3 3 3 0

North Kesteven District council 0 3 3 3 3 3 3 2

South Holland District council 0 3 3 3 3 3 3 2

South Keveston District Council 0 3 3 3 3 3 3 0

West Lindsey District council 0 3 3 3 3 3 3 2

R
e
y
c
ly

c
lin

g
 r

a
te

 

o
u
tp

u
ts

C
h
a
n
g
e
 o

n
 B

a
s
e
lin

e
S

c
o
ri
n
g
 o

f 
O

p
tio

n
s

P
age 140



 

69 

 

Criteria 2 - Value for Money 
Scoring approach: 

• Whole system costs equal to or lower than Baseline 3 (green) 
• Whole system costs between 1 and 13% above Baseline scores 2 (amber) 
• Whole system costs above 13% compared to Baseline scores 0 (red) 

 

 
 

Authority Baseline Option 1a Option 1b Option 2a Option 2b Option 3 Option 1c Option 1d

Boston Borough council £3,130 £3,660 £3,550 £3,820 £3,560 £3,710 £3,690 £3,400

City of Lincoln council £3,860 £4,820 £4,470 £5,010 £4,910 £4,750 £4,860 £4,820

East Lindsey District council £6,030 £7,050 £7,000 £7,170 £7,280 £6,980 £7,040 £6,290

North Kesteven District council £5,410 £6,060 £6,190 £6,210 £6,630 £6,040 £6,080 £5,910

South Holland District council £5,950 £6,820 £6,730 £7,170 £6,970 £6,060 £6,870 £6,380

South Keveston District Council £5,710 £6,490 £6,260 £6,730 £6,640 £6,410 £6,510 £5,900

West Lindsey District council £4,550 £5,350 £5,060 £5,530 £5,400 £5,090 £5,180 £5,020

Authority Baseline Option 1a Option 1b Option 2a Option 2b Option 3 Option 1c Option 1d

Boston Borough council 17% 13% 22% 14% 19% 18% 9%

City of Lincoln council 25% 16% 30% 27% 23% 26% 25%

East Lindsey District council 17% 16% 19% 21% 16% 17% 4%

North Kesteven District council 12% 14% 15% 23% 12% 12% 9%

South Holland District council 15% 13% 21% 17% 2% 15% 7%

South Keveston District Council 14% 10% 18% 16% 12% 14% 3%

West Lindsey District council 18% 11% 22% 19% 12% 14% 10%

Authority Baseline Option 1a Option 1b Option 2a Option 2b Option 3 Option 1c Option 1d

Boston Borough council 3 0 2 0 0 0 0 2

City of Lincoln council 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

East Lindsey District council 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

North Kesteven District council 3 2 0 0 0 2 2 2

South Holland District council 3 0 2 0 0 2 0 2

South Keveston District Council 3 0 2 0 0 2 0 2

West Lindsey District council 3 0 2 0 0 2 0 2

W
h
o
le

 s
y
s
te

m
 c

o
s
ts

 

(k
)

C
h
a
n
g
e
 o

n
 b

a
s
e
lin

e
S

c
o
ri
n
g
 o

f 
O

p
tio

n
s

P
age 141



 

70 

 

Criteria 3 - Environmental Impact 
A high-level carbon assessment has been conducted that takes into account the management of the recycling and food waste. Emission factors for 
closed loop and open loop recycling have been used. All recycling assumed to be closed loop except glass. In Option 3, where material is sorted on 
to the vehicles it assumes 100% goes to closed loop, which has added benefit. For all the other Options, it is assumed glass is managed 50% closed 
loop and 50% open loop.  All the options show an improvement due to the movement of food from landfill (due to over capacity of EfW) to 
anaerobic digestion (AD). The scoring for Option 1d varies across the authorities depending on the number of households food waste collections are 
provided to i.e. authorities where food waste collections are provided to a smaller number of households then carbon change is smaller. 
 

 
 

Authority Baseline Option 1a Option 1b Option 2a Option 2b Option 3 Option 1c Option 1d

Boston Borough council -3,151,436 -3,956,828 -3,956,863 -3,516,577 -3,533,555 -3,745,382 -3,956,828 -3,525,932 

City of Lincoln council -3,762,731 -5,028,964 -5,028,986 -4,490,395 -4,490,395 -4,752,362 -5,028,964 -5,028,964 

East Lindsey District council -3,805,994 -6,045,194 -6,060,876 -5,525,363 -5,525,363 -5,660,100 -6,045,194 -4,122,279 

North Kesteven District council -3,492,519 -5,452,798 -5,415,691 -4,996,589 -4,996,589 -5,298,641 -5,452,798 -5,010,472 

South Holland District council -3,488,420 -4,993,328 -4,993,328 -4,736,704 -4,736,704 -4,991,284 -4,993,328 -3,985,040 

South Keveston District Council -4,832,066 -7,286,287 -7,286,287 -6,441,229 -6,441,398 -6,846,213 -7,286,287 -5,018,669 

West Lindsey District council -3,072,773 -4,654,458 -4,654,458 -4,213,280 -4,213,280 -4,496,976 -4,654,458 -4,116,685 

Authority Baseline Option 1a Option 1b Option 2a Option 2b Option 3 Option 1c Option 1d

Boston Borough council 0% 26% 26% 12% 12% 19% 26% 12%

City of Lincoln council 0% 40% 40% 23% 23% 31% 40% 40%

East Lindsey District council 0% 71% 72% 55% 55% 59% 71% 10%

North Kesteven District council 0% 62% 61% 48% 48% 57% 62% 48%

South Holland District council 0% 48% 48% 40% 40% 48% 48% 16%

South Keveston District Council 0% 78% 78% 51% 51% 64% 78% 6%

West Lindsey District council 0% 50% 50% 36% 36% 45% 50% 33%

Authority Baseline Option 1a Option 1b Option 2a Option 2b Option 3 Option 1c Option 1d

Boston Borough council 0 3 3 2 2 2 3 2

City of Lincoln council 0 3 3 2 2 2 3 3

East Lindsey District council 0 3 3 2 2 2 3 0

North Kesteven District council 0 3 3 2 2 2 3 2

South Holland District council 0 3 3 2 2 2 3 0

South Keveston District Council 0 3 3 2 2 2 3 0

West Lindsey District council 0 3 3 2 2 2 3 0

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l i
m

p
a
c
t 

k
g
 C

O
2

C
h
a
n
g
e
 o

n
 B

a
s
e
lin

e
S

c
o
ri
n
g
 o

f 
O

p
tio

n
s

P
age 142



 

Waste & Recycling Services Support to Lincolnshire Waste Partnership   71 

 

 
Criteria 4 - Ease to use and public satisfaction 
 

4 
Ease to use and public 
satisfaction 

Score Commentary 

Baseline Current service  3 Current service easy for householders to use 

Option 1a 
All as current with separate 
food waste collection in a 
dedicated vehicle 

3 
Minimises change for residents, maintains 
current co-mingled approach.  

Option 1b 

Food waste collected weekly 
co-collected with residual 
and dry recycling in RCV 
food waste pods to all hh 

3 
Minimises change for residents, maintains 
current co-mingled approach.  

Option 2a 

Fortnightly two stream (card 
and paper separate) with 
weekly separately collected 
food waste in dedicated 
vehicles 

2 
Requires residents to separate recyclables as 
opposed to current service. 

Option 2b 

Fortnightly two stream (card 
and paper separate) with 
separate weekly food co-
collected in podded vehicles 

2 
Requires residents to separate recyclables as 
opposed to current service. 

Option 3 
Weekly multi stream 
collections utilising Resource 
recovery vehicles 

0 

Requires residents to move from current 
wheelie bins to containers which facilitate 
kerbside sort. Some separation of recyclables 
may be required as opposed to current service. 
Weekly collection will be more convenient for 
residents. 

Option 1c 
Option 1c with varied 
contamination 

3 

Minimises change for residents, maintains 
current co-mingled approach. However, may 
cause dissatisfaction for non-included 
households. 

Option 1d 
Baseline service with food 
waste rolled out to limited 
households 

3 
Additional communication may make system 
easier for householders to use. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 143



 

72 

 

 
Criteria 5 - Material Quality 
 

5 Material Quality Score Commentary 

Baseline Current service  

0 
 No drive for communications to address 
current contamination rates 

Option 1a 

All as current with separate 
food waste collection in a 
dedicated vehicle 

0 

Associated communications may increase 
participation and remind householders of 
service but no particular focus on recyclate 
quality. 

Option 1b 

Food waste collected weekly 
co-collected with residual and 
dry recycling in RCV food 
waste pods to all hh 

0 

Associated communications may increase 
participation and remind householders of 
service but no particular focus on recyclate 
quality. 

Option 2a 

Fortnightly two stream (card 
and paper separate) with 
weekly separately collected 
food waste in dedicated 
vehicles 

2 

Change to recyclate collection methodology, 
particularly separation of paper/card, and 
associated communications, will help address 
contamination issues and increase 
participation.   

Option 2b 

Fortnightly two stream (card 
and paper separate) with 
separate weekly food co-
collected in podded vehicles 

2 

Change to recyclate collection methodology, 
particularly separation of paper/card, and 
associated communications, will address 
contamination issues and increase 
participation.   

Option 3 

Weekly multi stream 
collections utilising Resource 
recovery vehicles 

3 

Change to recyclate collection methodology, 
particularly move away from wheelie bins to 
operative led sorting at the kerbside, and 
associated communications, will address 
contamination issues.   

Option 1c 
Option 1c with varied 
contamination 

2 

In order to reduce contamination additional 
communications and staff training would be 
required.  The assumed drop in contamination 
would improve quality. 

Option 1d 

Baseline service with food 
waste rolled out to limited 
households 

0 

Associated communications may increase 
participation and remind householders of 
service but no particular focus on recyclate 
quality. 

 
  

Page 144



 

73 

 

 
Criteria 6 - Ease of implementation 
 

6 Ease of implementation Score Commentary 

Baseline Current service  

3 No change required 

Option 1a 

All as current with 
separate food waste 
collection in a dedicated 
vehicle 

3 

Investment required in food waste containers. 
Operationally, relatively simple to introduce. 
Investment required in additional vehicles, 
current fleet unchanged 

Option 1b 

Food waste collected 
weekly co-collected with 
residual and dry recycling 
in RCV food waste pods to 
all hh 

2 

Investment required in food waste containers. 
Co-collection approach will require replacement 
of current residual and recycling fleet, requiring 
capital investment and operational 
reorganisation.    

Option 2a 

Fortnightly two stream 
(card and paper separate) 
with weekly separately 
collected food waste in 
dedicated vehicles 

2 

Investment required in food waste containers. 
Two stream approach will require replacement of 
current recycling fleet and introduction of a food 
waste fleet, requiring capital investment and 
operational reorganisation. Additional container 
required for each household. Options of co-
collection to be considered.   

Option 2b 

Fortnightly two stream 
(card and paper separate) 
with separate weekly food 
co-collected in podded 
vehicles 

0 

Investment required in food waste containers. 
Two stream plus pod approach will require 
replacement of current fleet, requiring capital 
investment and operational reorganisation. 
Additional container required for each household. 
Options of co-collection to be considered.   

Option 3 

Weekly multi stream 
collections utilising 
Resource recovery 
vehicles 

0 

Investment required in food waste containers. 
Multi-stream approach will require replacement of 
current recycling fleet, requiring capital 
investment and operational reorganisation. Day 
changes may be required due to lower pass rate. 
Significant change from current containers 
required for each household. 

Option 1c 
Option 1c with varied 
contamination 

3 

Investment required in food waste containers. 
Operationally, relatively simple to introduce. 
Investment required in additional vehicles, 
current fleet unchanged 

Option 1d 

Baseline service with food 
waste rolled out to limited 
households 

3 

Investment required in food waste containers. 
Operationally, relatively simple to introduce. 
Investment required in additional vehicles, 
current fleet unchanged 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 145



 

74 

 

Criteria 7 - Practicality of operating and sustaining service 
 

7 
Practicality of operating 
and sustaining service Score Commentary 

Baseline Current service  

3 No change required 

Option 1a 

All as current with 
separate food waste 
collection in a dedicated 
vehicle 

3 

Current round structure maintained. New food 
waste vehicles straightforward to operate and 
maintain. Food waste containers will need 
replacement on demand. Methodology for 
distributing food waste liners required 

Option 1b 

Food waste collected 
weekly co-collected with 
residual and dry recycling 
in RCV food waste pods to 
all hh 

2 

New pod vehicles will require additional 
maintenance. Food waste containers will need 
replacement on demand. Methodology for 
distributing food waste liners required 

Option 2a 

Fortnightly two stream 
(card and paper separate) 
with weekly separately 
collected food waste in 
dedicated vehicles 

2 

New two-stream dry recycling vehicles will require 
additional maintenance. Food waste and 
paper/card containers will need replacement on 
demand. Methodology for distributing food waste 
liners required 

Option 2b 

Fortnightly two stream 
(card and paper separate) 
with separate weekly food 
co-collected in podded 
vehicles 

0 

New two-stream & pod recycling vehicles will 
require additional maintenance. Food waste and 
paper/card containers will need replacement on 
demand. Methodology for distributing food waste 
liners required 

Option 3 

Weekly multi stream 
collections utilising 
Resource recovery 
vehicles 

0 

Current round structure may require revision. New 
Resource Recovery vehicles likely to require 
additional maintenance relative to standard 
RCVs. Multi-stream containers will need 
replacement on demand. Methodology for 
distributing food waste liners required 

Option 1c 
Option 1c with varied 
contamination 

3 

Current round structure maintained. New vehicles 
straightforward to operate and maintain. Food 
waste containers will need replacement on 
demand. Methodology for distributing food waste 
liners required 

Option 1d 

Baseline service with food 
waste rolled out to limited 
households 

3 

Current round structure maintained. New vehicles 
straightforward to operate and maintain. Food 
waste containers will need replacement on 
demand. Methodology for distributing food waste 
liners required 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 146



 

75 

 

Criteria 8 - Communication 
 

8 Communication Score Commentary 

Baseline Current service  

3 No communications required 

Option 1a 

All as current with separate food 
waste collection in a dedicated 
vehicle 

3 
Simple campaign to communicate 
additional service and introduce new 
containers. 

Option 1b 

Food waste collected weekly co-
collected with residual and dry 
recycling in RCV food waste 
pods to all hh 

3 
Simple campaign to communicate 
additional service and introduce new 
containers. 

Option 2a 

Fortnightly two stream (card and 
paper separate) with weekly 
separately collected food waste 
in dedicated vehicles 

2 

Campaign needs to communicate 
additional service, introduce new 
containers for food and paper/card and 
explain requirement to separate paper/card 
into new containers. 

Option 2b 

Fortnightly two stream (card and 
paper separate) with separate 
weekly food co-collected in 
podded vehicles 

2 

Campaign needs to communicate 
additional service, introduce new 
containers for food and paper/card and 
explain requirement to separate paper/card 
into new containers. 

Option 3 

Weekly multi stream collections 
utilising Resource recovery 
vehicles 

0 

Campaign needs to communicate 
additional food waste service, introduce 
new containers for food and other dry 
recyclables and revised collection 
frequency. 

Option 1c 
Option 1c with varied 
contamination 

3 
Simple campaign to communicate 
additional service and introduce new 
containers. 

Option 1d 
Baseline service with food waste 
rolled out to limited households 

3 
Simple campaign to communicate 
additional service and introduce new 
containers. 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 147



 

76 

 

 

Appendix 4 Sensitivity Assumptions 

Three weekly residual collections 
 
Sensitivity a: 3 weekly residual collection via either 180 or 240 litre wheeled bins 
(All except South Holland) 
 
The move to three and four weekly residual waste collections has been trialled in a number 
of authorities, across England, Scotland and Wales. At present it is believed that in the order 
of thirteen authorities have rolled out three weekly collections, or are in the process of doing 
so, to all households (Bury MBC, Oldham, Rochdale, Falkirk, Blaenau Gwent, Gwynedd, 
Powys, Argyll & Bute, Clackmannanshire, East Renfrewshire, East Ayrshire and the Isle of 
Anglesey all have a scheme in place. Daventry Councillors agreed in July 2016 that they will 
move to three-weekly). Following the trial described below, five Somerset councils, Mendip, 
Sedgemoor, South Somerset, Taunton Deane and West Somerset have confirmed they will 
move from fortnightly to three-weekly collections. The primary aim of these schemes is to 
reduce costs, which has been achieved by a combination of the reduced number of 
collections, improved recycling and composting performance and reduced residual waste 
tonnages. The change is expected to be rolled out in 2020 following negotiations with Kier. 
 
The following provides some information on a number of the trials, collated from news 
articles and local authority papers. 
 
Somerset Waste Partnership Trial  
This was launched as part of the ‘Recycle More’ Trials (September 2014).  As part of trials, 
the collection of residual waste was moved to every three weeks alongside weekly recycling 
and food collections. The trial was provided to 1,231 households for 12 weeks. Analysis of 
the trial found the following results: 

• Residual waste declined by 27%, while food and recycling increased by 45% and 27% 
respectively; 

• Participation rates in recycling schemes increased by 3%; 

• Recyclate within the residual waste varied from 51% in non-recycling households to 
28% in mid-recycling households; 

• 80% thought the trial was ‘better’ or ‘much better’ than the previous collection, with 
only 7% saying ‘worse’ or ‘much worse’; 

• 90% said that their residual bin was the ‘right size’ or ‘too big’; 

• Average satisfaction levels approximately increased with the number of occupants, with 
households with 5 occupants reporting a 100% satisfaction level; and 

• 46% of those who left comments asked for the trial to be continued. 

 
East Devon  
In September 2015, East Devon Council trialled collecting general (residual) waste bins once 
every 3 weeks in two areas, the Colony in Exmouth and Feniton, covering around 1,800 
households. Residents of the trial areas were given plenty of notice (from June 2015) prior 
to the start of the trial in September 2015 and district council officers also put on events in 
public areas around the two trial areas to help educate residents on how to reduce, re-use 
and recycle their waste. Letters and leaflets were distributed to households in the trial areas 
and there was also a comprehensive media campaign. 
 

Page 148



 

77 

 

The council continued to provide recycling collections on a weekly basis and also increased 
food waste recycling collections from fortnightly to weekly. Residents involved in the trial 
were also able to recycle a wider range of materials such as cardboard egg boxes and toilet 
roll tubes as well as mixed plastics pots, tubs and trays, which were not previously accepted 
in the co-mingled stream. Each household also received an additional 70 litre re-usable sack 
to increase the volume of recycling they could put out each week. 
 
The trial has been hailed as a “great success” by Councillors, as recycling rates have 
improved dramatically alongside a marked reduction in waste being sent to landfill. 
Additionally, there has been no increase in fly-tipping. 
 
The results of the trial showed an increase in dry recycling rates from 39% to 56%, and a 
decrease in residual waste by 19%. Food waste collections saw a significant increase, 
however analysis of the residual waste stream collected from the trial areas indicated that 
there was still a large proportion that consisted of food. 
 
Rochdale  
Rochdale trialled moving from a fortnightly service for residual waste collection to a three-
weekly service that sits alongside a three-weekly collection of recyclable waste in separate 
blue and green wheeled bins (green for plastics, cans, tins, foil and glass, and blue for paper 
and card) and a weekly collection service for food and garden waste. According to the 
council, recycling rates rose from around 31% in January 2015 to 49% in January 2016. 
Rochdale have since rolled out a three-weekly collection across the borough. 
 
WRAP research 
As part of this project, WRAP have provided some initial observations that have been used to 
better define the assumptions for the options modelling. The following information provided 
is based on initial observations, as detailed evidence is presently not available on the true 
impact of extending residual collection frequencies, as the revised schemes have been 
introduced relatively recently: 
 

• Overall reduction in total household waste arisings of ~4%; 

• Reductions in kerbside collected residual waste typically ~10 – 25%; 

• Evidence from Wales suggests that the reduction in residual waste has been more 
important to the increase in the recycling percentage than the actual increase in 
recycling itself (although dry recycling increases typically 2 – 15%); 

• Evidence for increases in food waste recycling levels is inconclusive, as there are 
insufficient datasets. However, all schemes examined were generating above the 
median level of food waste per household utilised in the WRAP Ready Reckoner and 
were approaching the upper level. 

 

From WRAP research, we were able to identify the benefits as outlined below: 

• Increases in recycling rates – 10% in Bury, 9% in Gwynedd   

• Decreases in the volume of residual waste collected – 9% in Powys, 17% in Bury  

• Increases in the amount of food waste collected – 3% in Gwynedd, 45% in Somerset 

• Significant annual cost savings - £400k in Gwynedd, £480k in Powys.  

  

General observations from existing schemes: 
• The number of vehicles, crews and potentially round sizes will reduce, depending on 

rurality (urban authorities benefit more); 

Page 149



 

78 

 

• Recycling costs may increase due to additional tonnages (costs dependant on 
contractual arrangements); 

• Reductions in residual arisings are sufficient to represent Quartile change; 

• Overall financial gains will also result from avoided residual disposal costs; 

• There may be a decrease in available productive time for refuse crews to collect, due 
to increased vehicle fill rates; 

• Both participation in and capture rate of recycling will increase; 

• Average % yield change not so important (as it will depend on the starting point); 

• The scale of any savings will be dependent on the service currently in place, with 
comprehensive but under-performing services likely to achieve the greatest savings. 

 

Modelled assumptions for three weekly collections 
Based on the initial research, the limited data available regarding the impact of extended 
residual waste collection frequencies and WRAP’s initial observations, the following set of 
assumptions are proposed: 
 
Waste reduction 
The modelling will assume a 4% reduction in overall kerbside waste collected (refuse, 
recycling and organic). This reduction will be applied proportionally across all tonnages using 
the current composition; the composition of the waste with regard to food waste and dry 
recycling will then be adjusted as described below. This will be applied across each authority. 
 
Residual reduction 
The table below shows the residual waste yields for all WCAs for the different Scenarios. The 
reductions are due to the previously described assumptions and primarily caused by 
increased diversion of food waste, a small increase in dry recycling and for Scenario D (1a 
with 3-weekly residual frequency), an overall reduction in waste quantities. 
 
Table A3-1 Estimated residual waste yields (kg/hh/yr) collected across all local 
authorities. 

Authority 

Residual  (kg/hh/yr) 

Current 
Baseline (A) 

Scenario B 
& C (1a) 

Scenario D 1a 
(three weekly 
residual) 

Boston Borough Council 528  482  431  

City of Lincoln Council (current AWC 
only) 

486  432  386  

East Lindsey District Council 410  355  314  

North Kesteven District Council 521  453  406  

South Holland District Council 537  474  397  

South Kesteven District Council 415  351  307  

West Lindsey District Council 447  383  338  

 
Food waste yields 
It is assumed that moving to a three-weekly residual collection will push people towards 
using the food waste scheme more, increasing both yields and participation. 
 
Set out will be modelled to rise by 5%, to 65%, and the yields are assumed to move from 
the lower range limit to the average yields (when calculated using WRAP’s food waste ‘ready 
reckoner’), as shown in the following table.  

Page 150



 

79 

 

 
Table A3-1 Proposed food waste yields 

Local authority Lower limit Average % Increase 

Boston 0.88 1.28 45% 

East Lindsey 1.05 1.45 38% 

Lincoln 1.02 1.42 39% 

North Kesteven 1.30 1.70 31% 

South Holland 1.20 1.45 21% 

South Kesteven 1.23 1.63 32% 

West Lindsey 1.23 1.63 32% 

 
 
 
 
Dry recycling yields  
Evidence from Wales suggests dry recycling does increase but the reduction in residual waste 
has been more significant. The data from Wales suggest dry recycling increases typically 
between 2% – 15%. As such we propose to increase yields by 5% across all materials and 
collection methods. The following table shows the revised yields for the current service 
scenario and the potential alternative service types (N.B. contamination and non-target rates 
have been applied as follows:  Current system - 30-35%; Two-stream - comingled as per 
current and 10% for fibre; Multi-stream - 6%).   

 
Table A3-2 Dry recycling yields  

Authority 

Current 
system 

and 
yields 

Current 
system with 

3 weekly 
collections 

Two-stream 
yields with 3 

weekly 
collections 

Multi-stream 
yields with 3 

weekly 
collections 

Boston Borough 
Council 

251 264 227 227 

City of Lincoln 
Council 

197 207 166 166 

East Lindsey District 
Council 

160 168 138 138 

North Kesteven 
District Council 

199 209 176 176 

South Kesteven 
District Council 

197 207 174 174 

West Lindsey 
District Council 

195 205 168 168 

 
 
Moving to fortnightly residual and wheeled bin (from sack) 
Sensitivity b South Holland only Fortnightly via 180 litre wheeled bin; 
 
WRAP’s ‘Analysis of recycling performance and waste arisings in the UK 2012/13’3 explored 
the impact of moving from weekly to fortnightly residual collections. The methodology 

                                           
3http://www.wrap.org.uk/sites/files/wrap/priv_download/Analysis_of_recycling_performance_and_waste_arisings%20in%20the
%20UK%202012%2013.pdf 

Page 151



 

80 

 

contrasted the capacity of storage/collection available to householders, based on a 240 litre 
container; a fortnightly collection thus assumes a reduction of the weekly capacity to 120 
litres. 
 
The situation in South Holland differs from this analysis, in that the current baseline situation 
is a sack-based collection, with no restriction on the number of sacks / volume of waste 
collected from each property per week. Based on current residual waste arisings as shown in 
the following table, it would appear that the unrestricted nature of the service, and its 
weekly nature, leads to a high volume of waste being presented.  
 
Table A3-3 Current residual waste arisings 

District Residual Waste  (kg/hh/yr) 

Boston Borough Council 505 

City of Lincoln Council 472 

East Lindsey District Council 394 

North Kesteven District Council 447 

South Holland District Council 498 

South Kesteven District Council 403 

West Lindsey District Council 432 

Average (excluding  South Holland) 442 

  
No quantitative analysis is available for sack-based systems, due to the difficulty in 
accurately measuring the reduction in volume of containment available to residents. 
Evidence from authorities who have moved from weekly to fortnightly collections suggests 
that the weight of residual waste may fall by as much as 16%. However, in similar projects 
WRAP have suggested that a fall of 9% is modelled, to avoid over-estimation of the benefits 
of service change. This would reduce South Holland’s residual waste arisings to 453 
kg/hh/yr, which would be in line with the partnership average. The Sensitivity analysis will 
thus assume a fall of 9% in residual waste arisings. The collection of food waste and 
additional dry recycling would also then further reduce the quantity of residual waste 
collected. 
 
The WRAP report calculated that authorities with higher effective weekly residual 
containment capacity were associated with lower recycling rates. By comparing services with 
240 litres effective weekly residual containment capacity against services with an effective 
weekly capacity of 120 litres a week (ie a 240 litre bin emptied fortnightly), they predicted a 
difference in recycling rate of 6.3±2.9 percentage points, with a high level of certainty.  
 
The Sensitivity analysis will thus assume an increase of 7% in the dry recycling rate.  
 

South Holland Food waste yields 
It is assumed that moving to a fortnightly residual collection will push people towards using 
the food waste scheme more, increasing both yields and participation. 
 
Participation will be modelled to rise by 5%, to 65%, and the yields are assumed to move 
from the lower range limit of 1.2 kg/hh/wk to the average yield of 1.45 kg/hh/wk  
 

Page 152



 

Waste & Recycling Services Support to Lincolnshire Waste 

Partnership   81 

 

 

Introducing a chargeable garden service 
Sensitivity d West Lindsey only. As per preferred option. Fortnightly chargeable via 240 litre wheeled bin 
 
Table A3-4 below identifies the participation in garden waste collection services across the Partnership. It identifies the participation in the 
chargeable schemes4 and the associated tonnage collected for each authority.  
 
The average participation across the authorities who have introduced a chargeable service is 47%, and this participation rate will be utilised for the 
Sensitivity analysis. (Note: the average participation excludes South Holland, whose scheme is a trial which has only been introduced recently). The 
average tonnage collected per participating household is 404 kg/hh/yr and WRAP research found that values of ~335kg/hh/yr were typical. To not 
over estimates the tonnages collected we propose to use 375 kg/hh/yr. 
 
Table A3-4 Garden Waste Tonnages and Participation rates 

 Boston 
East 

Lindsey 
City of 
Lincoln 

North 
Kesteven 

South 
Holland 

South 
Kesteven 

West 
Lindsey 

Average (excluding West Lindsey 
& South Holland) 

WRAP rurality 
grouping  

5 5 1 6 5 6 5   

Households Total 28,760 67,000 38,730 48,752 39,400 62,688 42,350   

HH's on garden 
waste 

11,700 28,000 16,500 28,998 3,155 31,467 40,350   

% HH's on garden 
waste 

41% 42% 43% 59% 8% 50% 95% 47% (Ex South Holland) 

Tonnage 4,750 13,618 6,066 11,991 1,215 10,889 10,958 9,463 

kg/hh total 165 203 157 246 31 174 259 189 

kg/hh on scheme 406 486 368 414 385 346 272 404 

Charge for first bin £30 £40 £33 £30 £49 £30 N/A £33 

 

                                           
4 2016/17 data 

P
age 153



 

Waste & Recycling Services Support to Lincolnshire Waste Partnership   82 

 

 
Predicted performance 
 
Table A3-5 below identifies the change in tonnage collected due to the introduction of 
charges for garden waste collection. The value is the tonnage collected compared to the 
current free service5 once charging is introduced. This relates to the participation rate of 
47% to be used for the analysis and the average yield from other schemes in the 
partnership. It allows for the recognised trend that those who ‘opt in’ to use the scheme 
when it moves to a charged service tend to put out greater quantities of garden waste i.e. 
60% participation equates to 75% of the previous tonnage being collected. It should also be 
noted that the tonnage projected might not be achievable immediately and could take a few 
years to reach that level. 
 
Table A3-5 Projected performance 

 West Lindsey - 
Current 

West Lindsey – Predicted 
charged for scheme 

Households Total 42,350 42,350 

% HH's on garden waste 95% 47% 

HH's on garden waste 40,233 19,883 

kg/hh on scheme 272 375 

Tonnage 10,958 7,456 

 
Garden waste to residual 
It is assumed that a percentage of the garden waste not collected once the move to 
charging has been introduced (i.e. the difference between current garden waste tonnage 
and the tonnage of garden waste collected through the chargeable scheme) will be 
transferred to the residual bin. Based on previous projects, it is assumed that authorities 
where 240 litre residual bins are used, there is likely to be a greater transfer of garden waste 
to residual (due to the greater capacity in the bins) than those using smaller residual bins 
(again due to capacity restraints putting off householders from adding garden waste to the 
residual bin).  
 
To allow for this, authorities with 240ltr residual bins such as West Lindsey are assumed to 
experience a 10% transfer of garden waste to residual, which equates to ~350 tonnes. 
 
% of non-collected garden waste that goes to HWRCs 
If a chargeable garden scheme is introduced it is assumed that a quantity of the garden 
waste no longer collected at the kerbside will instead be delivered to the HWRC sites. The 
modelling thus assumes that 30% of the garden waste NOT collected goes to HWRC sites 
(1,050 tonnes). As identified above, 10% of the non-collected waste goes to residual bins 
(350 tonnes), with the remaining 60% (2,101 tonnes) either not created or home 
composted. 
 
The figure below shows how garden waste will be transferred to other collection and 
treatment methods once charging is introduced. 
 
 

 
 

                                           
5 2016/17 data 

Page 154



 

83 

 

Figure A3-1 Garden waste transfer diagram 

 

 
 
It should be noted that the introduction of charging for garden waste will impact on the 
recycling rate, as fewer members of the public put out garden waste for collection and find 
ways of avoiding the charge through activities such as home composting. Additionally, more 
garden waste will be deposited directly at the HWRCs as more members of the public will 
deliver the materials directly. This will be discussed in the report. 
 
Sensitivity of collecting higher levels of food waste.  
 
Within this sensitivity we will assess the implication of collecting higher quantities of food 
waste.  We shall assume the food waste tonnage collected is in line with the average values 
generated by the food waste reckoner and shown in the following table.  
 
Table A3-6 Proposed food waste yields 

Local authority Lower limit Average % Increase 

Boston 0.88 1.28 45% 

East Lindsey 1.05 1.45 38% 

Lincoln 1.02 1.42 39% 

North Kesteven 1.30 1.70 31% 

South Holland 1.20 1.45 21% 

South Kesteven 1.23 1.63 32% 

West Lindsey 1.23 1.63 32% 

 
We will not conduct any further collection modelling but just assess the costs of treatment, 
including the impact on residual.  
 
 
 
 

Current garden waste (100%)

Collected once charging 
introdcued (73%) Not collected (27%)

10% to 
residual bin

30% to 
HWRC

60% home 
composted/ 

lost to 
recording 

system

Page 155



 

Waste & Recycling Services Support to Lincolnshire Waste Partnership   84 

 

Appendices 5-11: Individual WCA reports 

See previously issued individual reports. 
 
 
 

Appendices 12: Benchmarking report 

See previously issued report. 

Page 156



 

 

 

Page 157



This page is intentionally left blank



Scoping support 

Meeting details

Service information

The most up to date information on all kerbside schemes and benchmarking data (dry, organic, food and 
residual) is available from the local authority collections database http://laportal.wrap.org.uk/ 
Please take a copy of the borough data sheet to your meeting and check if there are any changes to be made.

Local authority: Lincolnshire Waste Partnership  

Contact: Ady Selby Position: Strategic Manager – Services; West 
Lindsey District Council

Email: ady.selby@west-lindsey.gov.uk Telephone no: 01427 675154
                          07810 658296

Situation analysis

What are the council’s objectives? What does the authority need to do to achieve its objectives?

Date:

WRAP: Mike Gardner

Authority attendees:

Household waste sent for recycling and composting (%) W:\Programme Delivery\Waste Resource Management\RCY\128 
Consistency Fund\RCY128-007 Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership\Project Deliverables

Residual household waste kg/household W:\Programme Delivery\Waste Resource Management\RCY\128 
Consistency Fund\RCY128-007 Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership\Project Deliverables

Current service profile W:\Programme Delivery\Waste Resource Management\RCY\128 
Consistency Fund\RCY128-007 Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership\Project Deliverables

Page 159

http://laportal.wrap.org.uk/
file:///W:/Programme%20Delivery/Waste%20Resource%20Management/RCY/128%20Consistency%20Fund/RCY128-007%20Lincolnshire%20Waste%20Partnership/Project%20Deliverables
file:///W:/Programme%20Delivery/Waste%20Resource%20Management/RCY/128%20Consistency%20Fund/RCY128-007%20Lincolnshire%20Waste%20Partnership/Project%20Deliverables
file:///W:/Programme%20Delivery/Waste%20Resource%20Management/RCY/128%20Consistency%20Fund/RCY128-007%20Lincolnshire%20Waste%20Partnership/Project%20Deliverables
file:///W:/Programme%20Delivery/Waste%20Resource%20Management/RCY/128%20Consistency%20Fund/RCY128-007%20Lincolnshire%20Waste%20Partnership/Project%20Deliverables
file:///W:/Programme%20Delivery/Waste%20Resource%20Management/RCY/128%20Consistency%20Fund/RCY128-007%20Lincolnshire%20Waste%20Partnership/Project%20Deliverables
file:///W:/Programme%20Delivery/Waste%20Resource%20Management/RCY/128%20Consistency%20Fund/RCY128-007%20Lincolnshire%20Waste%20Partnership/Project%20Deliverables
file:///W:/Programme%20Delivery/Waste%20Resource%20Management/RCY/128%20Consistency%20Fund/RCY128-007%20Lincolnshire%20Waste%20Partnership/Project%20Deliverables
file:///W:/Programme%20Delivery/Waste%20Resource%20Management/RCY/128%20Consistency%20Fund/RCY128-007%20Lincolnshire%20Waste%20Partnership/Project%20Deliverables
file:///W:/Programme%20Delivery/Waste%20Resource%20Management/RCY/128%20Consistency%20Fund/RCY128-007%20Lincolnshire%20Waste%20Partnership/Project%20Deliverables


Scoping support 

The LWP faces the following major issues:
• Contamination in the dry recycling stream (N.B. all LWP WCAs collected fortnightly comingled with 

the exception of South Holland who collect comingled weekly);
• Available capacity at the WDA’s EfW plant
• A new contract is required for the disposal of dry recyclate
• Falling recycling rates
• Uncertainty of landfill supply long term

The average contamination rate for dry recyclables collected by the LWP was reported as 31.7% for the 
RCY128-007 project.  Whilst it is understood that recently rates have reduced somewhat, the need to 
address continued high contamination rates is viewed as critical by LWP officers.  

The North Hykeham EfW plant which opened in 2014 is already approaching capacity. Whilst alternative 
residual disposal is available in the form of landfill (in Lincolnshire and further afield), this is an expensive 
option and will be subject to negotiation. Record future housing growth within the county is predicted, 
which will increase waste arisings and put further pressure on capacity at the EfW plant. 

The assessment of MDR collection methodology is part of wider work being undertaken by the Lincolnshire 
Waste Partnership Officer Working Group and supported by Chief Executives around how to move forward 
with the waste agenda in Lincolnshire.

What are the local authority drivers if different from objectives? (targets, views of members, views of senior 
officers)

 The ongoing requirement to deliver efficiency savings and to make future costs predictable.
 A recycling disposal contract which ends in 2020, soft market testing is underway to understand the 

best range of materials to deliver to market
 High levels of growth within Lincolnshire are predicted. Whilst modelling already undertaken shows 

that alternative collections methodologies would be more expensive to deliver, future scenarios 
have not yet been scoped.

 Current contractors have indicated small paper may no longer be a target material in future
 Ongoing compliance with TEEP

What are the council’s critical service issues? 

1. Re contamination:-With high levels of contamination and a comingled collection system, the LWP is 
significantly exposed to future MRF gate fee increases. 

2. Re:-Residual treatment capacity: The LWP received WRAP support in 2017/18 under the Framework for 
greater consistency programme (RCY128-007).  One of the key objectives of the support was to identify 
the contribution that diverting waste from the residual stream could make to extending capacity at the 
EfW plant given current levels of growth.  A range of collection profiles (or options) were modelled 
which included the addition of weekly separate food waste and reduced residual collections. With the 
exception of South Holland (who collect residual weekly), none of the modelled options were costed at 
less than the baseline services. 

3. Re: Growth-Future levels of housing growth predicted within Lincolnshire indicate a significant impact 
on front line waste services. 

However, Lincolnshire is experiencing significant housing growth and the RCY128-007 study concluded that:

Page 160



Scoping support 

• Introducing food waste collections can potentially create approximately 20,000 tonnes p.a. of 
headroom at the EfW plant.

• Moving to three weekly or further increasing food and dry recycling collections could raise this to ~ 
35,000 tonnes p.a.

• Value could be gained from some level of two stream collections
• Since the difference in gate fee between EfW and landfill is currently ~£18/tonne, the increased 

annual capacity of 20,000 tonnes created at the EfW plant equates to an annual saving of £350,000 
compared with the cost of landfill. A 35,000tpa headroom equates to a ~£620,000 saving.

• These savings are not sufficient to reduce the whole system costs to below the Baseline for the 
different options modelled but does bring them closer. 

• Freeing up processing capacity at the EfW through increased diversion would thus help delay the 
requirement for additional treatment capacity and would also revise the predicted capacity 
required. This would represent a cost saving over the medium to long term through delaying a 
procurement exercise and also by procuring a contract with a capacity that is more tailored to exact 
needs longer term. Additionally, providing an extended timescale for developing a solution may 
enable the exploration of better value emerging solutions.

Given that the modelling carried out under RCY128-007 was based on 2016/17 data, it is not known what 
impact the predicted future housing growth (and associated increase in household waste) would have on 
the modelled options.  The LWP therefore needs to:

 better understand the potential benefits of a separate food waste collection over an extended 
period of time taking into account future housing growth; and

 better understand the impact of two stream collections
 identify the ‘extended timescale’ associated with increased diversion that potentially would be 

available to develop a more sustainable long-term solution for the treatment of the county’s 
household waste (i.e. how much additional time would the separate collection of food waste ‘buy’ 
before additional residual disposal / treatment is required?). 

Any planned or recent changes (include any WRAP support)?
Lincolnshire County Council and South Kesteven District Council are to conduct a small scale (c4500hh) food 
waste collection pilot utilising RCVs with food waste pods. The pilot will commence in June 2018.

Communications

What’s the service budget? Are their communications delivered in-house? Are there any major campaigns 
planned?  Which of your services do you feel would benefit most from a communications push? What 
branding are they using? (Recycle Now, borough own)

Recommendations for support – local or global?

Aim and objectives of support

1. To provide the LWP with support to develop an effective strategy / action plan to address the issues 
of contamination in the dry recycling stream and understand the impact of this on residual waste 
disposal

2. Utilising the findings from the RCY128-007 project, assist the LWP to identify the ‘extended 
timescale’ that would be available as a result of increased diversion from the residual stream 
(resulting from the separate collection of food waste  and/or paper/card) in order that the LWP can 
develop a sustainable long-term solution for the treatment of the county’s household waste.     

Page 161



Scoping support 

Elements of support, e.g. modelling, service review, training, comms etc

1. Re Contamination: Whilst alternative collection options that could help reduce contamination were 
modelled under RCY128-007 (e.g. multi-stream and twin stream), these were discounted following 
evaluation. Consequently, a more sustained and joined up campaign led by the Partnership is 
considered to be the best course of action to address contamination in the dry recycling stream in 
the short to medium term. The provision of WRAP guidance and advice has been requested to assist 
in the development by the LWP of a contamination strategy / action plan, tailored to each Council. 

2. Re Residual capacity: Further modelling work (utilising relevant inputs and outputs from the 
RCY128-007 project) will enable the impact of projected future waste growth on the Stage 2 
modelled collection option to be quantified. 

Possible outputs: e.g. report, workshop, communications plan

1. Re Contamination: Provision of guidance and supporting materials to assist the LWP develop a 
contamination strategy / action plan.  Review of proposals and action plan (e.g. acting as a ‘critical 
friend’) , tailored to each Council.

2. Re Residual capacity: Short report detailing the findings of the proposed further modelling work.  

Who is to provide support? (Adviser, other team members, consultant)

1. Re Contamination: Utilise ‘in-house’ resources
2. Re Residual capacity: FRA065 Framework contractor

Page 162



Scoping support 

Outline timetable for support

Activity Responsibility When by

What will be the impact of WRAP’s support? For example, more waste recycled / diverted from landfill, 
increased food yields, efficiency savings

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank



LINCOLNSHIRE WASTE PARTNERSHIP 12 July 2018

SUBJECT :   
   

OFFICER WORKING GROUP – WORK 
PROGRAMME PROJECT PROGRESS REPORT 
JUNE 2018

REPORT BY: CHRISTIAN ALLEN (BOSTON BOROUGH 
COUNCIL)

CONTACT NO: 01205 314350

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Following the meeting of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) held on the 8th 
March 2018, the Lincolnshire Waste Officers Working Group (OWG) convened a 
Special Meeting which was held on 30th April 2018. This Special Meeting was 
attended by the Chairman and Vice Chairman of the LWP together with a delegation 
from the Lincolnshire Chief Executives Group - Richard Wills, Ian Fytche and Angela 
Andrews. 

The purpose of the Special Meeting was to determine the work programme that the 
Officer Working Group would need to deliver over the coming months to meet the 
objectives of the draft Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy for Lincolnshire, 
currently out for consultation. In setting the work programme delegates were also 
cognisant of the key challenges, recognised both nationally and regionally, including 
declining recycling rates, increasing quantities of waste being produced by 
households, population and housing growth in the county, unacceptable levels of 
contamination in our recycling stream, an Energy from Waste facility at near capacity 
and the imminent expiry of the countywide Mixed Dry Recyclables (MDR) contract 
disposal arrangements. 

Delegates also agreed a refreshed commitment to effective communication across the 
LWP as key to success and that communication should and would be improved 
across all stakeholder groups that make up the LWP, ensuring clarity of purpose 
going forward.

Members of LWP may wish to note that in accord with this commitment, a briefing 
paper was delivered to the Lincolnshire Chief Executives Group meeting on Friday 
22nd June 2018 to appraise them of the proposed OWG work plan contained in this 

Page 165

Agenda Item 10



report, for information, and that there was no dissent.

This paper is seeking commitment and approval from the LWP to the OWG planned 
delivery of 5 projects and to the prioritisation assigned to each. 

DISCUSSIONS

In this section of the report, each project proposal is listed in priority order below with 
the proposed delivery timescale and a brief narrative on progress made to date. Each 
project has a more detailed ‘scoping document’ which is appended to this paper.

Projects Update:

1. Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) Action Plan 
(September 2018 – Scoping Document Appendix 1)

(JMWMS Objectives: All)
The Officer Working Group will commence drafting an action plan to identify 
the tasks, timescales and resources required to deliver the objectives identified 
in the draft JMWMS.  The intention is that a developed action plan will 
accompany the revised JMWMS submitted to the LWP in September with a 
recommendation inviting approval of both documents.

2. Strategic Review of Kerbside Mixed Dry Recycling Collection and 
Disposal Arrangements (September 2018 – Scoping Document Appendix 
2)

(JMWMS Objectives: 1,2,4,5,7,8 and 10)
Work is underway to evaluate existing data pertaining to current volumes of 
specific waste streams and the impact if ‘harmonising’ these streams, on the 
diversion of materials. The information will be used to forecast impact on whole 
system costs of material diversion providing a baseline upon which we can 
factor in population and housing growth estimates for future years. 

The Waste Strategy Group at LCC are currently undertaking soft market testing 
work to assess the MRF market appetite for a Lincolnshire MDR mix and 
seeking solutions to increasing the value of our recycling mix as the current 
contract with MidUK is due to finish in April 2020. Re-procurement of this 
contract is fundamental to meeting the objectives in the Strategy. 

3. Food Waste Trial (July 2018 – Scoping Document Appendix 3)

(JMWMS Objectives: 1,2,3,4,5,7,8 and 10)
The food waste collection trial started in the SKDC area on 4th June. Reports 
on progress with this trial will be submitted to the LWP, starting with the first 
progress report in July, with information and data from the trial gathered to 

Page 166



inform potential, future service developments across the partnership. 

4. Strategic Review of Optimum Option for Waste Collection and Disposal 
Arrangements in Lincolnshire (March 2019 – Scoping Document 
Appendix 4)

(JMWMS Objectives: 7,8,9 and 10)
This project is seeking to establish the ideal configuration of waste collection 
and disposal arrangements for Lincolnshire that can be delivered within or less 
than the current budget envelope. The tasks necessary to complete this work 
together with the anticipated timescales and an assessment of the resources 
needed has been scoped.  This work stream will be progressed as a medium 
term priority. 

5. Assessment of High Energy Business Users in Lincolnshire (September 
2018 – Scoping Document Appendix 5)

(JMWMS Objectives: 7,8 and 10)
It was considered by the OWG that this information is already available 
pertaining to the Greater Lincoln area as part of consultancy commissioned 
through Element Energy. To review the report and if necessary seek to refresh 
the information as appropriate to deliver the outcomes of this project. 

OPTIONS

The work streams identified in this briefing have been scoped and developed 
collectively and directly by Officers from the Working Group, through specially 
convened, fortnightly meetings. No additional work projects are being proposed or 
resourced at this time by the OWG.

In order to deliver these projects and sustain on-going commitments a ‘resource plan’ 
is currently being developed as part of this work that will set out in detail and inform 
the resources - personnel, finance, consultancy and project administration, necessary 
to bring these projects to successful conclusion.

Subject to approval, further updates will be provided, either verbally or via reports, to 
the LWP (and other stakeholders), until all the above projects are concluded.

RECOMMENDATIONS 

To seek approval and confirm commitment from the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership 
to;

a) Delivery of the 5 projects outlined in this report. 
b) Subject to approval of recommendation a), confirm agreement to the 

prioritisation and timescales attached to each project.

Page 167



APPENDICES

Please find the following appendices attached to this report:

1 Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) Action Plan (September 2018 
– Scoping Document Appendix 1)

2 Strategic Review of Kerbside Mixed Dry Recycling Collection and Disposal 
Arrangements (September 2018 – Scoping Document Appendix 2)

3 Food Waste Trial (July 2018 – Scoping Document Appendix 3)

4 Strategic Review of Optimum Option for Waste Collection and Disposal 
Arrangements in Lincolnshire (March 2019 – Scoping Document Appendix 
4)

5 Assessment of High Energy Business Users in Lincolnshire (September 2018 
– Scoping Document Appendix 5)

Page 168



APPENDIX 1

Lincolnshire Waste Partnership – Officer Working Group 

Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) Action Plan

Lead Officer: Matthew Michell, Lincolnshire County Council

Scope:

To prepare an initial Action Plan listing tasks to address the objectives set out in the 
JMWMS.  This Action Plan will accompany the JMWMS (revised in the light of feedback 
received from the Consultation process) to an additional Lincolnshire Waste Partnership 
(LWP) meeting in September at which it is hoped that the LWP will approve both documents 
to be submitted to each partner authority with a recommendation for formal adoption.

Work to be undertaken:

A proposed list of actions will be agreed by the Officer Working Group and submitted to the 
LWP meeting on 12th July for their consideration.  The list will include, for each action/task:

 Which JMWMS objectives the action/task will contribute to;
 The name of a lead officer for the action; and
 A date for completion of the action (or of specified sub-tasks where appropriate).

The Action Plan will include (as shown in the initial draft attached below):

1. Work streams identified through input from the Chief Executives Group.
 Strategic Review of Kerbside Mixed Dry Recycling Collection and Disposal;
 Food Waste Trial;
 "Blank Sheet of Paper" review exercise; and
 Assessment of High Energy Business Users in Lincolnshire.

2. Actions to address any JMWMS objectives which are not addressed by the above.

A revised version, taking into account feedback from the LWP, will then be submitted to the 
LWP in September.

Governance:

Arrangements to be established to keep stakeholders informed and engaged such as 
CEX/Leaders Group, LWP, WDA and WCA’s. 

Timeline:

Initial draft Action Plan to be submitted to 12th July LWP meeting.  Final version to be 
submitted to the LWP alongside the proposed JMWMS in September.

Page 169



Initial draft Action Plan showing main work streams

Action Objectives Supported Lead Officer Key Dates
Strategic Review of Kerbside Mixed Dry 
Recycling Collection and Disposal

1,2,4,5,7,8 and 10 Christian Allen
Boston BC

 12th July – Initial Feedback to LWP
 Sep 18 – Initial review completed and 

reported to LWP
Food Waste Trial 1,2,3,4,5,7,8 and 10 Sean Kent

Lincolnshire CC
 12th Jul 18 – Initial Feedback to LWP
 22nd Nov 18 – Detailed Feedback to LWP

"Blank Sheet of Paper" review exercise 7,8,9 and 10 Ian Yates
South Kesteven DC

 Early 2019 – Feedback to LWP & Chief 
Executives Group

Assessment of High Energy Business Users in 
Lincolnshire

7,8 and 10 LCC Lead – tbc  Early 2019 – Feedback to LWP & Chief 
Executives GroupP

age 170



APPENDIX 2

Lincolnshire Waste Partnership – Officer Working Group

Strategic Review of Kerbside Mixed Dry Recycling Collection and Disposal Arrangements

Lead Officer: Christian Allen

Scope:

To investigate the feasibility of ‘harmonising’ the countywide kerbside MDR mix to find the 
most effective balance between reducing residual waste, increasing recycling rates, 
reducing contamination and maximising the value of our recyclate, taking into account 
household/population growth forecasts.    

Work streams to be developed:

1. Evaluation of the current volumes/weights of waste going to the EfW facility and to 
MRF’s and assessing the impact or difference on the factors above should kerbside 
collection waste streams be adjusted and/or harmonised. 

2. Outline infrastructure and capital costs of implementing these adjustments, to 
WCA’s and WDA

3. Assessment of the MRF/Recycling market for MDR, through soft market testing and 
direct market engagement, to identify potential suppliers to handle the MDR mix 
proposed and if so at what cost compared to current arrangements?

4. Assessment of the public information and education campaign required to support 
effective implementation of a revised/harmonised MDR mix.

5. Feasibility of building a MRF, outline cost estimates.
6. Feasibility of adding a dirty MRF to the EfW, outline cost estimates.
7. Proposals for dealing with other recyclables at the kerbside such as textiles, 

batteries, household electrical items, batteries etc
8. To tackle contamination in our current recycling stream, between now and when the 

MDR contract is re-let in 2020, develop an effective, simple public communication 
campaign.

Governance:

Ensuring that the work programme remains aligned with the JMWMS vision and objectives. 
Arrangements to be established to keep stakeholders informed and engaged such as 
CEX/Leaders Group, LWP, WDA and WCA’s. 

Timeline:

Delivery plan needs to be populated to bring all work streams to fruition and into a report 
for submission to LWP in September.

Page 171



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3 

Lincolnshire Waste Partnership – Officer Working Group 

Food Waste Trial 

Lead Officer: Sean Kent, Lincolnshire County Council 

Scope: 

A wide range of operational waste issues are being considered as part of the development 
of the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy. To assist in increasing the capacity at 
the Energy from Waste facility, one of these proposals is the potential for a countywide food 
waste collection and recycling service.  

It has therefore been decided to undertake a food waste trial in selective locations within 
South Kesteven District Council (SKDC), to cover urban, rural and semi-rural areas, totalling 
some 4733 properties. 

Work being undertaken: 

This trial is being undertaken on behalf of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) and 
began on the 4th June 2018 to run for a year. SKDC are delivering the presented food waste 
to the Grantham Waste Transfer Station, from where it will be transported for processing at 
an Anaerobic Digestion facility in Hemswell. The County Council is covering all costs and this 
trial is complemented by a joint County Council/SKDC communications plan. 

The objectives of the trial are to:  

 Maximise participation and understand households’ motivations for the trial. 

 Measure the amount of food waste collected and determining if there is any 
reduction in the recycling contamination or quantity of residual waste presented. 

 Determine the most effective messages and communications channels. 

The results of the trial will help to: 

 Inform decision making about future collection and disposal options by assessing 
the available options during the trial to ensure momentum is maintained, 
including the recent WRAP work. 

 Determine the service’s impact on households’ waste and recycling habits, 
especially volumes of food in other waste streams. 

 Assess the impacts of cleaning up the MDR contamination. The trial is being 
closely monitored throughout to ascertain if significant tonnages are collected 
and contamination levels reduced. 

Governance: 

LCC and SKDC Executive Councillors with support from their Officers to the Leaders and CXs. 
Reporting to the LWP members and Officers through regular meetings. 

Timeline: 

Progress reports to the LWP in July and September with regular update papers to the CXs 
and CXs/Leaders meetings. 

Page 173



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 4

Lincolnshire Waste Partnership – Officer Working Group 

Strategic Review of Optimum Option for Waste Collection and Disposal Arrangements in 
Lincolnshire

Lead Officer: Ian Yates, South Kesteven District Council

Scope:

To identify the most efficient and effective collection and disposal methods for managing 
the County’s municipal waste.  This will be a “theoretical” exercise ensuring existing 
arrangements are NOT taken into account.  All collection and disposal methods will be 
considered but governance arrangements will be outside scope.

The Approach

Designing Services

In designing services we often go straight to what we think would be the best solution, after 
all we are the “experts” and we know what works best in our own areas, only to find out 
later that it wasn’t the best solution overall.  Studies have said that for every £1 you spend 
in designing the right service you can save £100 in unpicking and fixing it.

The “Design Council” has a unique methodology that assist those that design services to 
avoid those potential pitfalls. 

The 4 stages are:-

Discover – What the problem is

Define – The areas to focus

Develop – Potential solutions

Deliver – Solutions that work

Governance:

Ensuring that the work programme remains aligned with the JMWMS vision and objectives. 
Arrangements to be established to keep stakeholders informed and engaged such as 
CEX/Leaders Group, LWP, WDA and WCA’s. 

Timeline:

The proposal is to establish a number of interactive workshops to work through using the 
same methodology the areas identified, and to report back to the LWP and Chief Executives 
early in 2019.

Page 175



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 5

Assessment of High Energy Business Users in Lincolnshire

Lead Officer: (to be confirmed), Lincolnshire County Council

Scope:

To identify high users of energy within Lincolnshire, both current and anticipated through 
Local Plans and other plans, so consideration can be given to investigate the opportunities 
for appropriate waste infrastructure and deliver a co-ordinated effective and efficient waste 
collection/disposal service, including for future growth. This will also assist in the 
consideration of the financial aspects through the local energy produced and ensuring that 
the infrastructure is environmentally friendly by reducing carbon mileage.

Work to be undertaken:

  The initial tasks which have been identified are:

 A review of the previous report by Element Energy on the data gathered in the 
consideration of energy mapping within the Greater Lincoln area.

 Evaluating the LEP work around utility infrastructure with our expected waste 
infrastructure work. The LEP has a BEIS grant to produce an energy strategy for 
growth and it is undertaking studies to inform that work. This will include an analysis 
of how areas that have successfully implemented local power and heat networks 
achieved their objectives –what worked, what didn't, what they would do 
differently. There is an opportunity to link these together, to ensure that the 
infrastructure is built close together and near to the grid for easy connection, to 
optimise any energy which is produced. 

This work is expected to be undertaken outside of the Officer Working Group with wider 
assistance from various County and District Council teams, including:

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP.
 Waste Management.
 Environmental Management.
 Economic Development.

Governance:

Arrangements will be established to keep CEX/Leaders, LWP, WDA and WCA’s regularly 
informed.  A relationship to the Housing Infrastructure Group will also be created.

Timeline:

Regular progress reports are expected to the CXs/Leaders, Housing Infrastructure Group and 
to the LWP in November.

Page 177



Page 178



LINCOLNSHIRE WASTE PARTNERSHIP 12 July 2018

SUBJECT :      FOOD WASTE TRIAL UPDATE

REPORT BY:     SEAN KENT (LINCOLNSHIRE COUNTY 
COUNCIL)

CONTACT NO: 01522 554833

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

This year long trial is being undertaken by South Kesteven District Council and 
began on the 4th June 2018. The food waste is being collected and delivered to the 
Grantham Waste Transfer Station for disposal into watertight containers and 
transported for processing at an Anaerobic Digestion facility in Hemswell. For the 
first three weeks the following food waste has been presented:

Date
June

Possible 
properties

No food 
waste 
presented

% of food 
waste not 
presented

Food 
weight 
in kgs

Average 
weight 
per 
property

4th 661 110 16.64% 1240 2.25 kgs
5th 968 137 14.15% 1900 2.29kgs
6th 917 187 20.39% 1888 2.57kgs
7th 768 168 21.87% 1088 1.81kgs
8th 946 158 16.70% 1540 1.95kgs
    7656  
11th 661 91 13.76% 1020 1.79kgs
12th 968 159 16.42% 1469 1.82kgs
13th 917 133 14.50% 1160 1.48kgs
14th 768 87 11.33% 870 1.05kgs
15th 946 119 12.58% 1220 1.47kgs
    5739  
18th 661 108 16.33% 1060 1.92kgs
19th 968 150 15.49% 1520 1.86kgs
20th 917 144 15.70% 1220 1.58kgs

Page 179

Agenda Item 11



21st 768 118 15.36% 1000 1.5kgs
22nd 946 117 12.37% 1080 1.3kgs
    5880  

Therefore over the past three weeks there has been over 19 tonnes of presented 
food waste collected, with over four out of five properties taking part. Projecting this 
over the year would mean an estimated total of 335 tonnes, if the amount of food 
waste collected continued at the same rate. 

There has already been media coverage to thank the identified residents taking 
part in the trial and to ask those who have not taken part to get involved, even if 
they think they do not produce food waste to be part of the trial.

Recommendation

That the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership notes the initial positive response to the 
trial.

Page 180


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the meeting held on 8 March 2018
	8 Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy - Consultation Responses
	Appendix B Consultation Feedback - DRAFT
	Boston Borough Council - Formal response
	City of Lincoln Council - Formal response
	Lincolnshire County Council  - Formal response
	North Kesteven District Council - Formal response
	South Holland District Council - Formal response
	South Kesteven District Council - Formal response
	West Lindsey District Council - Formal response

	9 Waste and Recycling Action Programme (WRAP) Report into Greater Consistency in Household Waste Recycling for Lincolnshire
	APPENDIX 1 WRAP LWP REPORT FINAL
	APPENDIX 2 LWP JULY 2018-Extra modelling scope FINAL

	10 Officer Working Group - Work Programme Project Progress Report June 2018
	Appendix 1 - Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) Action Plan
	Appendix 2 Strategic Review of Kerbside Mixed Dry Recycling Collection and Disposal Arrangements v.3
	Appendix 3 FWT scoping paper
	Appendix 4 Strategic Review of Optimum Option for Waste Collection and Disposal Arrangements in Lincolnshire
	Appendix 5 Assessment of High Energy Business Users

	11 Food Waste Trial Update

